

Volume 8 · Issue 4 · July 2022 e-ISSN: 2149-3189

The European Research Journal



Copyright © 2022 by Prusa Medical Publishing Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj



The European Research Journal

Aim and Scope

The European Research Journal (EuRJ) is an international, independent, double-blind peer reviewed, Open Access and online publishing journal, which aims to publish papers on all the related areas of basic and clinical medicine.

Editorial Board of the European Research Journal complies with the criteria of the International Council of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE), the World Association of Medical Editors (WAME), and Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE).

The journal publishes a variety of manuscripts including original research, case reports, invited review articles, technical reports, how-to-do it, interesting images and letters to the editor. The European Research Journal has signed the declaration of the Budapest Open Access Initiative. All articles are detected for similarity or plagiarism. Publication language is English. The journal does not charge any article submission or processing charges.

EuRJ recommends that all of our authors obtain their own ORCID identifier which will be included on their article.

The journal is published bimonthly (January, March, May, July, September, and November).

Abstracting and Indexing

The journal is abstracted and indexed with the following: ULAKBIM TR Index (ULAKBİM TR DİZİN), NLM Catalog (NLM ID: 101685727), Google Scholar (h-index: 7), Index Copernicus (ICV 2020: 100), EMBASE, ProQuest Central, ROAD, SciLit, MIAR (ICDS 2021: 3.8), J-Gate, SHERPA/RoMEO, BASE, EZB, CrossRef, JournalTOCs, WorldCat, TURK MEDLINE, Turkish Citation Index, EuroPub, OpenAIRE, ResearhGate, SOBIAD, Publons, (Clarivate Web of Science).

Publisher

The European Research Journal (EuRJ) Prusa Medical Publishing Konak Mh. Kudret Sk. Şenyurt İş Mrk. Blok No:6 İç kapı no: 3 Nilüfer/BURSA-TURKEY

www.dergipark.org.tr/eurj/



e-ISSN: 2149-3189

The European Research Journal, hosted by Turkish JournalPark ACADEMIC, is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.



EDITORIAL BOARD

EDITOR-IN-CHIEF

Senol YAVUZ, MD,

Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Bursa, Turkey,

MANAGING EDITORS

Nizameddin KOCA, MD,

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Bursa, Turkey

Soner CANDER, MD

Professor, Uludag University Medical School, Department of Endocrinology & Metabolism Bursa, Turkey

FOUNDING EDITOR

Rustem ASKIN, MD,

Professor of Psychiatry İstanbul Ticaret University, Department of Psychology İstanbul, Turkey

EDITORIAL ASSISTANT

Ugur BOLUKBAS

EDITORS

Omer SENORMANCI, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Psychiatry, Bursa, Turkey

Mahmut Kalem, MD,

Associate Professor, Ankara University Medical School, Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Ankara, Turkey

Meliha KASAPOGLU AKSOY, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Physical Therapy & Rehabilitation, Bursa, Turkey

Burcu DİNÇGEZ, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Bursa, Turkey

Arda ISIK, MD

Associate Professor, Medeniyet University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, Istanbul, Turkey

Melih CEKINMEZ, MD

Professor, University of Health Sciences, Adana City Training and Research Hospital, Department of Neurosurgery, Adana, Turkey

Kadir Kaan OZSIN, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Bursa, Turkey

Nurullah DOGAN, MD,

Associate Professor, Doruk Medical Center, Department of Radiology, Bursa, Turkey

Alper KARAKUS, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiology, Bursa, Turkey

Onur KAYGUSUZ, MD.,

Associate Professor, Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Urology, Bursa, Turkey

Koray AYAR, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Rheumatology, Bursa, Turkey

Muzaffer DEMIR, MD

Professor, Trakya University School of Medicine, Department of Hematology, Edirne, Turkey

Gokhan OCAKOGLU, Ph.D.,

Associate Professor, Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Biostatistics, Bursa, Turkey

INTERNATIONAL EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS

Ahmet KIZILAY, MD

Professor, Inönü University School of Medicine, Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Malatya, Turkey

Aron Frederik POPOV, MD

Professor, University of Frankfurt, Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Frankfurt, Germany

Cristina FLORESCU, MD

Associate Professor, University of Craiova, Department of Medicine & Pharmacy, Romania

Elif EKINCI, MD

MBBS, FRACP, PhD University of Melbourne Department of Medicine, Melbourne, Australia

Essam M MAHFOUZ, MD

Professor, University of Mansoura School of Medicine Department of Cardiology, Mansoura, Egypt

Francesco CARELLI, MD

Professor, University of Milan School of Medicine, Department of Family Medicine, Milan, Italy

Gary TSE, MD, PhD

Assistant Professor, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Department of Medicine and Therapeutics, Hong Kong, China

Kendra J. GRUBB, MD, MHA, FACC

Assistant Professor, Emory University School of Medicine, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Atlanta, GA, USA

Nader D NADER, MD

Professor, University of Buffalo School of Medicine Department of Anesthesiology, NY, USA

Sait Ait BENALI, MD

Professor, Cadi Ayyad University School of Medicine, Department of Neurosurgery, Marrakech, Morocco

Sedat ALTIN, MD

Professor, University of Health Sciences, Yedikule Training & Research Hospital, Department of Chest Diseases, Istanbul, Turkey

Semih HALEZEROGLU, MD, FETCS

Professor, Acibadem University School of Medicine, Department of Thoracic Surgery, Istanbul, Turkey

Veysel TAHAN, MD, FACP, FACG, FESBGH

Assistant Professor, University of Missouri, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Columbia, Missouri, USA

Yenal DUNDAR, MD

Consultant Psychiatrist Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service, QLD, Australia

Table of Contents

Original Articles

In situ transverse osteotomy and locked mini plate for the correction of metacarpal rotational deformity Levent ADIYEKE, Birkan KİBAR	428-433
Selective C5 nerve root block versus combined interscalene block for clavicle surgery <i>Eralp ÇEVİKKALP, Furkan YAPİCİ</i>	434-441
Comparison of quantitative lung computed tomographic findings between idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis patients diagnosed by biopsy and by multidisciplinary discussion without biopsy <i>Atila GÖKÇEK</i>	442-449
Determinants of clinical course and mortality in COVID-19 patients with hematological disorders: real life data from a single center Burak DEVECİ, Levent DÖŞEMECİ, Ayşe ASLAN, Gökhan ASAL, Bilge ÜSTÜN, Meltem YILDIRMER AKAR, Tayfur TOPTAS, Mine YAVUZ TAŞLIPINAR, Rabin SABA	450-461
Does serum prostate specific antigen levels correlate with the prostatic inflammation in elderly patients without clinically proven prostate cancer? Aykut ÇOLAKEROL, Mustafa Zafer TEMİZ, Çetin BORAN, Yavuz BASTUG, Engin KANDİRALİ	462-467
Evaluation of central neuropathic pain and its relationship with quality of life in patients with stroke: a cross-sectional study <i>Uğur ERTEM, Jale İRDESEL</i>	468-474
The relationship between the time factor and in-hospital mortality in the hospitalized patients <i>Veysi ERYİĞİT, Melih YÜKSEL, Mehmet Emre ERİMŞAH, Ulaş KARAASLAN</i>	475-481
The effect of personality traits and parental attitudes on treatment in children and adolescents: a 6-month follow-up study <i>Müjen İLNEM</i>	482-490
Short-term treatment results of endometrial hyperplasia without atypia Zeliha ATAK, Sakine RAHIMLI OCAKOGLU, Ayşe ERDOĞAN, Gökhan OCAKOĞLU	491-496
Diagnostic importance of hepatocyte nuclear factor 1 beta (HNF1β) in testicular tumors and its sensitivity for the detection of yolk sac tumors: an immunohistochemical analysis <i>Remzi ARSLAN</i>	497-505
Opinions of cardiologists on class II recommendations in current European Society of Cardiology 2018-2020 guidelines: YELLOW BOX <i>Mehmet KIŞ, Tuncay GÜZEL, Berkay EKİCİ, Mehdi ZOGHİ</i>	506-520
Onin aring tweather and any apple the anidative studen in glutamate in duced UT 22	501 500

Quipazine treatment exacerbates oxidative stress in glutamate-induced HT-22 neuronal cells521-528Kenan YILDIZHAN, Ayşegül ÖZTÜRK

Right and left coronary artery angiography with single Judkins left catheter via right radial
artery529-535Sencer ÇAMCI, Hasan ARİ, Selma ARI, Berat UĞUZ, Gökhan ÖZMEN, Mustafa KINIK, Ahmet
TUTUNCU, Burcu ÇAVLAN, Mehmet MELEK, Tahsin BOZAT529-535Effect of metaclopramide on urinary bladder smooth muscle contraction-relaxation
mechanism
Zübeyde ERCAN, Gökhan ZORLU, Özgür BULMUŞ, İhsan SERHATLIOĞLU, Abdullah YAŞAR,
Emine KACAR536-540ReviewCardiovascular diseases and diabetes mellitus
Senol YAVUZ, Ahmet Kağan AS, Mesut ENGİN, Nizamettin KOCA, Soner CANDER541-549

Case Report

Neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast: a case report and review of the literature550-553Kemal EYVAZ, Arsenal Sezgin ALİKANOĞLU, Evrim HAMAMCI ÖZAK, Murat Kazim KAZAN,Tuğrul ÇAKIR

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.879908

In situ transverse osteotomy and locked mini plate for the correction of metacarpal rotational deformity

Levent Adıyeke¹^o, Birkan Kibar²^o

¹Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, Haydarpaşa Numune Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey; ²Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology Hand Surgery, Haydarpaşa Numune Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: We aimed to investigate the radiological and clinical results of transverse osteotomy and fixation applications in rotation deformities due to metacarpal malunion.

Methods: A total of 18 fingers from 18 patients were enrolled in the study (14 males and 4 females). The average age of the patients was 32.8 ± 14.4 years (range: 18-58 years). The average follow-up duration was 19.7 ± 7.9 months (range: 7-36 months). All patients had a scissoring deformity which affected their daily activities or caused cosmetic problems.

Results: In all patients, the scissoring and overlapping deformities improved and in all osteotomies union was achieved. A total range of motion for the DIP, PIP, MP and wrist joints was achieved in all patients. The average DASH score was 5.2 ± 5.6 (range: 0-21.7), and the average VAS score was 0.8 ± 0.9 (range: 0-3). The average grip strength was 40.5 ± 10.2 kg (range: 19-55 kg) and 94% of the healthy side. There was no statistically significant difference in grip strength compared to the healthy side (p = 0.23). Fourteen excellent and 4 good scores were obtained based on Büchler criteria.

Conclusions: In situ transverse osteotomy and the locked miniplate method is effective and feasible in the treatment of metacarpal malunions with finger rotational deformities, given their ease of use, allowance of early movement, high union rates, and good results.

Keywords: Finger, rotational deformity, osteotomy, transverse, malunion

Rotation deformity may occur in the fingers due to incorrectly united phalanx and metacarpal fractures, especially spiral and oblique fractures [1]. This can result in the scissoring finding of the fingers, pain and stiffness due to joint line rotation, impaired soft tissue balance, and reduced grip strength [2]. It is necessary to correct the functional and aesthetic problems caused by the deformity with surgical treatment. It is difficult to view the original fracture line in late cases, so an osteotomy is required [3]. A transverse, step-cut, or modified step-cut osteotomy can be performed on the affected bone or metacarpus [3-5]. Osteosynthesis options include intraosseous wires, Kirschner (K) wires, plates, and screws [6].

Treatment of visual and physical defects in metacarpal rotation deformity increases the comfort of life of the patient. We employed a transverse metacarpal osteotomy and a locked miniplate on the affected metacarpal to treat finger rotation deformities caused by metacarpal malunions. In this study evaluated the clinical and radiological results of transverse osteotomy and fixation applications in rotation defor-

Received: February 14, 2021; Accepted: May 4, 2021; Published Online: January 25, 2022



How to cite this article: Adyeke L, Kibar B. In situ transverse osteotomy and locked mini plate for the correction of metacarpal rotational deformity. *Eur Res J* 2022;8(4):428-433. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.879908

Address for correspondence: Levent Adıyeke, MD., Haydarpaşa Numune Training and Research Hospital, Department of Orthopaedics and
 Traumatology, Tibbiye Street, Selimiye District, No:23, 34668, İstanbul, Turkey. E-mail: leventadiyeke@gmail.com, Tel (Mobil): +90 505 759 24 89, Tel (Office): +90 216 542 32 32

[©]Copyright © 2022 by Prusa Medical Publishing Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj mities due to metacarpal malunion. Compared to studies in the literature evaluating osteotomy only in metacarpal malunions, the number of our cases is higher in this study.

METHODS

Adult patients who received an in-situ transverse metacarpal osteotomy and a locked miniplate to treat a finger rotation deformity caused by metacarpal malunions between 2015 and 2019 were evaluated retrospectively. Patients for whom at least one year of follow-up data were available were spoken to by phone, and those who responded to the last control call were considered for the study. The medical reports of these patients were reviewed, and those with incomplete metacarp callus maturation, additional injuries in the ipsilateral extremity, previously undergone surgery on the same hand, presence metacarpal angulation and shortness were excluded. This study was approved by the institutional review board of Haydarpaşa Numune Training and Research Hospital (HNEAH-KAEK2020/KK/192), verbal and written informed consent was obtained from all patients.

Except for three patients who could not be reached, 18 fingers of 18 patients (14 males and 4 females) who met the criteria were enrolled in the study. The mean age of the patients was 32.8 ± 14.4 years (range: 18-58 years). All patients had a scissoring deformity which affected their daily activities or caused cosmetic problems, thus surgical treatment was employed. In addition, five patients complained of pain. The cause of the rotation deformity in all patients was a malunited metacarpal fracture; 14 patients had been treated with a closed reduction and plaster splint, while 4 patients had received no treatment. The average interval between the injury and surgery was 11.2 ± 7.3 months (range: 4-30 months). The fracture pattern could not be assessed clearly for all patients because the original fracture line could not be completely distinguished. None of the patients had vascular, nerve and tendon injuries before surgery. The fracture line was closed in all patients and there were no pathological fractures. Bone maturation was complete in all patients during injury.

A transverse osteotomy and a locked miniplate were used to treat the metacarpals of the patients. All

patients received 1 g of cefazolin sodium prophylactically 1 hour before surgery and then operated under general anesthesia or axillary block.

Surgical Technique

The patients were placed on the operating table in the supine position and then a 250 mmHg pressure pneumatic tourniquet was applied. A longitudinal incision was made over the metacarpal. The skin and subcutaneous tissue were passed and cutaneous nerves preserved. The extensor tendon was retracted to one side while preserving the paratenon. The carpometacarpal joint was identified using a needle. A straight line was drawn parallel to bone with a marker pen and the axis of the bone was determined. The plate was applied to the bone from dorsal side of the metacarpal bone, with one screw from the most proximal hole used as a single cortex. A transverse line was drawn distal to the 3rd or 4th screw hole to determine the osteotomy line and the plate was removed. A transverse osteotomy was performed perpendicular to the bone (from the previously marked transverse line) using an oscillating saw. The plate was fixed to the proximal fragment with three or four screws. The distal fragment was sufficiently rotated, the longitudinal line was checked, and two of the distal screw holes were temporarily fixed with two K-wires as double cortices. The wrist was extended, and the correction of the deformity was checked based on the tenodesis effect of the flexor tendons, in which the proximal interphalangeal phalanx (PIP) joint was flexed to 90° and the affected finger was observed to be parallel to the other fingers. Sufficient improvement was achieved with only a minor rotation. If the correction was appropriate, screws were applied to the distal fragment; if not, the temporary K-wire was removed, and the correction was made again. The correction was checked using a tenodesis test after placing each screw in the distal fragment. Intraoperative fluoroscopy was employed to confirm the plate placement, screw length, and osteotomy line.

No grafts or extra lag screws were used in any patient, and 2.0-mm fixed angle locked miniplates were used for all patients. Only locking screws were used, with three or four screws (at least six cortices) applied to both sides of the osteotomy line. No splint was applied to any patient after the operation. The correction was checked by making fist to patient immediately postoperative. On the first day after the operation, active hand and wrist joint movements were started. Extremity elevation and cold compress were used for edema control at the first week. Daily activities such as writing with a pencil, button-up, eating and using cutlery were allowed for the first three weeks. After three weeks, the patients referred the physical therapy department of our hospital, and a hand rehabilitation program was initiated for 1 hour/day and 5 days/week, including Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation (TENS) and soft tissue stretching exercises. Physical exercise program were initiated when radiographs confirmed osteotomy healing. The sutures were removed at postoperative second week. In the final follow-up, the range of motion (ROM) for the DIP, PIP and MP joints was measured using a finger goniometer and compared with the healthy side. Using posteroanterior, oblique, and lateral radiographs, union was defined as cortical trabeculation, the formation of a bridging callus, and no sensitivity upon palpation of the osteotomy line. The absence of a bridging callus after six months was evaluated as non-union [7]. In addition, the Disabilities of the Arm, Shoulder, and Hand (DASH) questionnaire and the visual analogue

Table 1.	Criteria and	l grading o	f results	[2]
----------	--------------	-------------	-----------	-----

Criteria	
1	Complete correction of preoperative deformity
2	Full bony union
3	Patients experiencing no pain
4	Patients has returned to work
5	Patients satisfaction rating good or above
6	No trophic or sensory problems
7	No tendon adhesions
8	ROM to within 10 degrees of full range in each joint
9	Flexion brings finger tip to within 1 cm of palm
Grading	
Excellent	\geq 8 criteria satisfied
Good	7 criteria satisfied
Fair	5 or 6 criteria satisfied
Poor	< 5 criteria satisfied

scale (VAS) were used for functional evaluation and pain assessment [8, 9]. A Saehan hydraulic hand dynamometer was used to measure the patient's grip strength while sitting with shoulder adduction, an elbow flexion of 90°, and the forearm and wrist in a neutral position. Periodical measurements were made three times and the average was calculated. The grip strength were compared with the healthy side. Büchler criteria were used to evaluate the results (Table 1) [2].

Statistical Analysis

The normality of the parameter distributions was evaluated using the Shapiro–Wilk test, while the Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare parameters between the two groups. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

The average interval between surgery and contact via phone was 19.7 ± 7.9 months (range: 7-36 months). The average interval between fracture and surgery time was 7.3 months (range: 3-15). In 11 patients the dominant side was affected. The right side was affected in nine patients and the left side in nine patients. The cause of the injury was a fall for 10 patients, injury during sports activities for three patients, a work accident for two patients, a motor vehicle accident for one patient, punch injury for one patient, and an attack for one patient. The index metacarp was affected in four patients, the middle metacarp in three patients, the ring metacarp in five patients, and the small metacarp in six patients.

In all patients, the scissoring and overlapping deformities improved and in all osteotomies union was achieved. Fig.1. A complete ROM for the distal interphalangeal, proximal interphalangeal, metacarpophalangeal and wrist joints were achieved in all patients. The mean DASH score was 5.2 ± 5.6 (range: 0-21.7), and the mean VAS score was 0.8 ± 0.9 (range: 0-3). The average grip strength was 40.5 ± 10.2 kg (range: 19-55 kg) and 94% of the healthy side. Mean surgery time was 50.5 ± 13.7 minutes (range: 30-75 minutes). When compared with the healthy side, no statistical significant difference was found in terms of grip strength (p = 0.23). In total, 14 excellent and 4 good scores were obtained based on Büchler criteria.



Fig. 1: A-B: Malrotation of the small finger caused scissoring during finger flexion, C-D: postoperative 2. week clinical images after the rotational deformity was corrected, E-F: preoperative and, G-H: postoperative 6. week radiographs of the same patient.

There were no complications such as plate/screw irritation, implant displacement, hardware loosening or loss of correction, and no implant was removed from any patient. In addition, no patient experienced infection, digital nerve injury, or hypertrophic scarring. No secondary surgery was required in any patient. One patient experienced sudeck atrophy syndrome that improved using physical therapy and conservative therapy.

DISCUSSION

While metacarpal and phalangeal fractures are treated conservatively, interphalangeal joints are splinted in extension and the MP joint in flexion. In doing so, any rotation deformity that occurs is not obvious. A scissoring deformity becomes apparent when movement is started and the finger is flexed, and this causes functional and aesthetic problems. If diagnosed late, the fracture will unite and surgical treatment becomes necessary [3].

There is no consensus on the location, type, and fixation method for an osteotomy. There are two osteotomy locations for a finger with rotation deformity; the first is at the site of the malunion and the second is at the metacarpal of the affected ray. Weckesser was the first to report on the treatment of finger rotational deformities in 1965. He described the transverse osteotomy of the metacarpal base for both phalanx and metacarpal malunions and fixation with K-wires, emphasizing the importance of early movement [10].

Gross *et al.* [11] performed basal metacarpal osteotomies on 80 fingers of 40 cadavers, showing that a correction of 18-19° was possible in the index, long, and ring fingers, and a correction of 20-30° was possible in small fingers. It was reported that the deep transverse metacarpal ligament was the limiting factor for rotation. The release of this ligament can cause loss of the transverse palmar arch and instability of the MP joint [11].

Pichora *et al.* [12] performed a step-cut osteotomy on the malunion area of 23 fingers of 18 patients with rotational deformity, of which seven involved the metacarpal and 16 the proximal phalanx. They reported good results and fast union. In the literature review of Lei *et al.* [13], metacarpal corrective osteotomies were performed on nine phalanges and six metacarpals, and complete recovery was achieved in 13 of the 15 patients (87%), while bony union was obtained in all patients.

Menon et al. [14] performed a metacarpal osteotomy on 12 fingers with metacarpal and phalangeal malunion-induced rotational deformities and all preoperative deformities were corrected. The metacarpalbased osteotomy described by Bindra et al. [3] is simple, allows early movement and has few complications. However, this technique is not suitable for fingers with rotational deformities of more than 20° [3]. Jawa et al. [4] performed a step-cut osteotomy at the metacarpal shaft level for 12 fingers with rotational deformities and fixed them with lag screws. Seven of these were metacarpal and five were phalanx malunions. They recommended this method due to the advantage of precise intraoperative control, including selecting the osteotomy site, offering a large surface area with bony healing, and making possible rigid fixation with early digital motion [4].

Limitations

The retrospective nature of our study and the absence of a control group are weaknesses of the present study. We preferred in situ osteotomy because exposure of the malunited area allows for more accurate evaluation, intervention in flexor and extensor tendon adhesion, and the potential for further correction. We preferred transverse osteotomy because it is less complicated. We preferred plate fixation for early rehabilitation; we applied at least three screws on both sides of the osteotomy line and did not apply postoperative splints. We achieved a full ROM in the DIP, PIP and MP joints and achieved union in all patients.

CONCLUSION

We believe that in-situ transverse osteotomy and the locked miniplate method is effective and feasible in the treatment of metacarpal malunions with finger rotational deformities, given their ease of use, allowance of early movement, high union rates, and good results.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: BK; Study Design: LA; Supervision: LA, BK; Funding: N/A; Materials: LA, BK; Data Collection and/or Processing LA, BK; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: LA; Literature Review: LA; Manuscript Preparation: LA, BK and Critical Review: LA.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Bloem JJ, Kon M, de Graaf FH. Rotational deformity of the index finger caused by reversed finger sucking. Ann Plast Surg 1988;21:597-600.

2. Büchler U, Gupta A, Ruf S. Corrective osteotomy for posttraumatic malunion of the phalanges in the hand. J Hand Surg Br 1996;21:33-42.

3. Bindra RR, Burke FD. Metacarpal osteotomy for correction of acquired phalangeal rotational deformity. J Hand Surg Am 2009;34:1895-99.

4. Jawa A, Zucchini M, Lauri G, Jupiter J. Modified step-cut osteotomy for metacarpal and phalangeal rotational deformity. J Hand Surg Am 2009;34:335-40. 5. Manktelow RT, Mahoney JL. Step osteotomy: a precise rotation osteotomy to correct scissoring deformities of the fingers. Plast Reconstr Surg 1981;68:571-6.

6. Gollamudi S, Jones WA. Corrective osteotomy of malunited fractures of phalanges and metacarpals. J Hand Surg Br 2000;25:439-41.

7. Kibar B. Hemi-hamate osteochondral autograft for acute dorsal proximal interphalangeal fracture-dislocations. Eur J Trauma Emerg Surg 2021;47:825-9.

8. Hudak PL, Amadio PC, Bombardier C. Development of an upper extremity outcome measure: the DASH (disabilities of the arm, shoulder and hand) [corrected]. The Upper Extremity Collaborative Group (UECG). Am J Ind Med 1996;29:602-8.

9. Kibar B, Malkoç FE. Reconstruction of chronic thumb metacarpophalangeal radial collateral ligament injuries with free tendon grrafts. Jt Dis Relat Surg 2020;31:62-7.

10. Weckesser EC. Rotational osteotomy of the metacarpal for overlapping fingers. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1965;47:751-6.

11. Gross MS, Gelberman RH. Metacarpal rotational osteotomy. J Hand Surg Am 1985;10:105-8.

12. Pichora DR, Meyer R, Masear VR. Rotational step-cut osteotomy for treatment of metacarpal and phalangeal malunion. J Hand Surg Am 1991;16:551-5.

13. Van der Lei B, de Jonge J, Robinson PH, Klasen HJ. Correction osteotomies of phalanges and metacarpals for rotational and angular malunion: a long-term follow-up and a review of the literature. J Trauma 1993;35:902-8.

14. Menon J. Correction of rotary malunion of the fingers by metacarpal osteotomy. Orthopedics 1990;13:197-200.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.881498

Anesthesiology and Reanimation

Selective C5 nerve root block versus combined interscalene block for clavicle surgery

Eralp Çevikkalp¹^o, Furkan Yapıcı²^o

¹Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Private Medicabil Hospital, Bursa, Turkey; ²Department of Orthopaedic and Travmatology, Erzincan Binali Yıldırım University Faculty of Medicine, Erzincan, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: The pain sensation of the clavicle is innervated by two separate plexuses. Regional anesthesia techniques for this area are challenging and complicated. Interscalene block, superficial cervical block, or a combination of these two is commonly used for regional anesthesia in clavicle surgery. The aim of this study was to investigate the efficacy of C5 nerve root block for clavicle surgery.

Methods: Patients were divided into two groups: Group C5B (patients who received C5 nerve root block + superficial cervical plexus block) and Group ISB (patients who received interscalene block + superficial cervical plexus block). Motor block was assessed by the Medical Research Council Scale for Muscle Strength, while the sensory block of the areas corresponding to the nerve trace was assessed using the pinprick and cold testing. Furthermore, ultrasound was employed to evaluate phrenic nerve paralysis.

Results: There was no difference between the groups in terms of mean age. The mean age of Group ISB was higher; however, the comparison of comorbidities revealed no significant difference between the groups. This statistically significant difference was clinically insignificant. Group C5B had lower 6-hour pain at rest, lower 0, 2, 4-hour pain on movement, and less postoperative analgesic consumption. Moreover, the time to first analgesic requirement was significantly longer in Group C5B. The motor examination of the peripheral nerves showed a significant difference in Group C5B.

Conclusions: We are of the opinion that C5 nerve root block can be used instead of interscalene block since it does not produce a motor block in hand movements and preserves diaphragmatic functions. C5 nerve root block may therefore be considered an alternative to conventional interscalene block for clavicle surgery.

Keywords: C5 root block, clavicle surgery, selective nerve root block, interscalene block, ultrasound, superficial cervical block

Clavicle fractures are one of the most common fracture types with an incidence of 22.4 per 100,000 people [1]. Clavicle fractures most commonly result from sports injuries and falls [1]. While the most frequent fracture location is the midshaft of the clavicle, medial fractures are the least common type of clavicle fractures [2]. nates from the C4-C5 nerve root. The cervical plexus is formed by the anterior rami of cervical spinal nerves C2-4. It is situated between the musculus longus capitis and musculus scalenus medius and lies underneath the prevertebral fascia. Perforating this fascia and passing through the interfascial region between the musculus sternocleidomastoideus (SCM) and the prevertebral muscles, it is divided into 4 branches at the

Sclerotomally, the sensation of the clavicle origi-

Received: February 17, 2021; Accepted: June 26, 2021; Published Online: February 1, 2022



How to cite this article: Çevikkalp E, Yapıcı F. Selective C5 nerve root block versus combined interscalene block for clavicle surgery. Eur Res J 2022;8(4):434-441. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.881498

Address for correspondence: Eralp Çevikkalp, MD., Bursa Private Medicabil Hospital, Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, 1/A Mudanya Yolu Küre Sok, Fethiye mah., 16140 Nilüfer, Bursa, Turkey. E-mail: eralpcevikkalp@hotmail.com, Tel: +90 505 455 48 75

> [©]Copyright [©] 2022 by Prusa Medical Publishing Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

midpoint of the SCM: n. auricularis magnus, n. occipitalis minor, n. transversus colli, and n. supraclavicularis. N. supraclavicularis is a sensory nerve originating from the C3-4 roots of the cervical plexus and provides sensation over the proximal clavicle, anteromedial shoulder, and proximal wall of the chest [3]. The subclavian nerve that arborizes from the upper trunk of the brachial plexus provides sensation over the clavicle region [3].

In clavicle surgery, anesthetic management is often maintained by general anesthesia. Regional anesthesia techniques for the clavicle, which receives sensation from two separate plexuses, are often complicated. Interscalene block, superficial cervical block, or a combination of these two is commonly used for regional anesthesia in clavicle surgery [4, 5].

There are publications reporting the use of selective cervical root blocks as an anesthetic technique for clavicle surgery to avoid the potential serious side effects of interscalene block on the distal clavicle and midshaft fractures [6].

The aim of this study was to retrospectively compare the intraoperative and postoperative efficacy (in terms of pain, movement, and diaphragm paralysis) of the selective C5 nerve root block plus superficial cervical plexus nerve block with interscalene block plus superficial cervical plexus nerve block for anesthesia in clavicle surgery.

METHODS

The approval for the study was obtained from the Clinical Research Ethics Committee of Erzincan Binali Yildirim University, Faculty of Medicine, with the number of 33216249-903.99-E.18831. The study was conducted by retrospectively evaluating patients who underwent open reduction internal fixation surgery for clavicle fractures at Ercis State Hospital between 1 December 2016 and 31 December 2018. The study included a total of 31 patients over 16 years of age with ASA scores of I-II. Patients who did not give written consent, had peripheral nerve disease, respiratory failure, brachial plexus injury, and did not accept to undergo surgery with peripheral block were excluded from the study.

For premedication, patients received 0.01 mg/kg intravenous midazolam in the operation room as a standard protocol. All patients who were placed on the operating table were monitored with standard monitoring methods including ECG, noninvasive blood pressure, peripheral oxygen saturation, end-tidal CO₂ pressure (ETCO₂), temperature (tympanic), and bispectral index (BIS, Aspect 1000TM, Aspect Medical Systems, Inc., Natick, MA, USA). The patients were divided into 2 groups: Group C5B and Group ISB. Group C5B included patients who received C5 nerve root block + superficial cervical plexus block (SCPB), while Group ISB included patients who received interscalene block + SCPB. Both peripheral block techniques were explained to patients. After establishing vascular access in all patients, the fluid infusion was administered by calculating the fluid deficit. The fluid requirement of patients was met with crystalloid by calculating fasting (with the 4/2/1 rule), maintenance (with the 4/2/1 rule), and insensible loss (4 mL/kg/h). A BIS probe was placed on the forehead of patients. An ultrasound-guided peripheral nerve block was performed in both groups for intraoperative analgesia and postoperative analgesia. To assess the location of the block and prevent intraneural injection, the block needle was connected to a nerve stimulator (Braun Stiumplex HNS11, Melsungen, Germany) delivering stimulation at a current of 1 mA with a frequency of 2Hz and 0.1 ms interval period. When the contraction of the musculus deltoideus indicated the correct location, the current was reduced to 0.3 mA. In both groups, 10 ml of 0.25% bupivacaine was administered under the SCM muscle at the C6 thyroid cartilage level



Fig. 1. Ultrasound-guided superficial cervical plexus block. LA = local anesthetic, C6 = C6 cervical nerve root.

using a linear USG probe, with the patient's head positioned straight upward at 30 degrees opposite to the block side to perform a superficial cervical plexus block (Fig. 1).

In Group C5B, the subclavian artery and the surrounding brachial plexus were identified in the supraclavicular region. The probe was moved cranially to distinguish the prominent posterior process of the C7, prominent anterior process of the C6, and doubleedged tubercles of the C5. After identifying the C5 root, the block needle was guided using an in-plane technique and 4 ml of 0.25% bupivacaine was administered (Fig. 2). In Group ISB, the patient's head was positioned straight upward opposite to the block side. The sternocleidomastoid muscle was scanned laterally at the C6 cricoid cartilage level to visualize the carotid artery, internal jugular vein, anterior and middle interscalene muscles at the end of the SCM, and interscalene groove between them. After visualizing the typical "stoplight sign" of the C5-6-7 roots in the interscalene groove, 15 ml of 0.25% bupivacaine was administered.

Following the block, the sensory block of patients was assessed with pinprick and cold testing in the C5-T1 dermatomes. Those who could not abduct their shoulders and achieved sensory block were considered to have adequate anesthesia, thus surgical procedure was initiated. All patients received midazolam at a level to respond to verbal stimuli during surgery.

Age and body mass index values of patients were recorded. Patients postoperatively underwent a digital examination for the motor examination of the radial, ulnar, and median nerves. Motor block was assessed by the Medical Research Council (MRC) Scale for Muscle Strength [7], while the sensory block of the areas corresponding to the nerve trace was assessed using the pinprick and cold testing (0: no block, 1: analgesia (no sensation of warmth, feel sensation of touch), 2: complete sensory block (no sensation of warmth, no sensation of touch). The Numeric Pain Rating Scale (NPRS) (0=no pain, 10=unbearable pain) was used to assess the 0, 2, 6, 24-hour pain of patients at rest and on movement. In the early postoperative rehabilitation phase, patients performed shoulder abduction up to 90 degrees. Postoperative analgesia was provided by intravenous 1mg\kg tramadol when the NPRS was >4. In the postoperative period, patients routinely received 50 mg intravenous dexketoprofen twice a day. The time to first analgesic requirement, analgesic consumption, duration of motor block (the time until the patients moved their shoulders for the first time) were recorded.

We also evaluated phrenic nerve paralysis after the block. We ruled out phrenic nerve paralysis with the M-mode ultrasound measurement of diaphragmatic movement using a convex probe during normal and deep breathing. Following the technique described by Boussuges et al., we started the evaluation in the 2-dimensional mode, placed the probe in the subcostal area between the midclavicular and anterior axillary lines, and directed the beam cranially to reach the posterior third of the hemidiaphragm on the block side. After switching to the M-mode, we identified the echoic line of the diaphragm and measured the inspiratory amplitudes from the base to the apex of the inspiration slope [8]. These measurements were performed when the patient arrived in the holding area, 15 minutes after the performance of the block, and immediately after surgery.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using the SPSS version 25.0 software (SPSS Inc., IBM, NY, USA). Numerical variables were presented as mean and standard deviation, while categorical variables were given as frequency and percentage. The t-test or



Fig. 2. Ultrasound-guided C5 nerve root block. AT = Anterior tubercle, PT = posterior tubercle, C5 = C5 cervical nerve root, C6 = C6 cervical nerve root, C7 = C7 cervical nerve root, CA = Carotis arteria, IJV = internal jugular vein.

Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare the means based on the results of the Kolmogorov-Smirnov normality test. The chi-square test was used to compare frequencies. A p - value of < 0.005 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

The comparison of the groups for homogeneity showed no statistically significant difference in terms of gender, male to female ratio, and body mass index. The mean age of Group C5B was lower than that of the Group ISB (p < 0.001) (Table 1). There was no statistically significant difference between the two groups in terms of operative time and anesthesia duration (p > 0.05).

There was no statistically significant difference between the groups in terms of postoperative 0, 2, and 24-hour pain scores at rest. There was a statistically significant difference between the groups in terms of 6-hour pain scores. Group C5B had lower pain at rest compared to Group ISB.

There was statistically significant difference between the groups in terms of 0, 2, and 6-hour postoperative pain scores on movement (p < 0.001, p = 0.012, p = 0.001). Group C5B had lower pain on movement compared to Group ISB.

The sensory examination of the radial nerve revealed a significant difference between the two groups. No sensory block was observed in Group C5B. The evaluation of the radial nerve motor muscle strength showed a statistically significant difference between the two groups in favor of Group C5B (p < 0.001). The sensory examination of the median nerve revealed a significant difference between the two groups. No sensory block was observed in Group C5B. The evaluation of the median nerve motor muscle as a significant difference between the two groups. No sensory block was observed in Group C5B. The evaluation of the median nerve motor muscle as a significant difference between the two groups. No sensory block was observed in Group C5B. The evaluation of the median nerve motor muscle as a significant difference between the two groups. No sensory block was observed in Group C5B.

	Group C5B	Group ISB	<i>p</i> value
	(n = 16)	(n = 15)	
Gender, n (%)			
Female	1 (6)	1 (6)	0.919
Male	15 (94)	14 (94)	
BMI (kg/m ²)	24.10 ± 1.77	$24.85{\pm}~1.25$	0.184
Age (years)	24.1 ± 6.7	46.8 ± 21.2	< 0.001*
Operative time (min)	75.19 ± 6.32	76.33 ± 5.36	0.590
Anesthesia duration (min)	186.0 ± 26.8	199.2 ± 7.1	0.077
Analgesic duration (min)	418.63 ± 12.08	392.40 ± 7.93	< 0.000*
Analgesic consumption	31.25 ± 34.79	73.33 ± 30.91	< 0.001*
NPRS static (at rest)			
0 hour	0.25 ± 044	0.26 ± 0.45	0.919
2 hours	1.25 ± 0.44	1.26 ± 0.45	0.919
6 hours	3.81 ± 0.65	4.46 ± 0.51	0.004*
24 hours	2.25 ± 0.93	2.66 ± 0.89	0.215
NPRS dynamic (on movement)			
0 hour	2.5 ± 0.51	3.06 ± 0.59	< 0.001*
2 hours	3.31 ± 0.60	3.93 ± 0.45	0.012*
6 hours	4.62 ± 0.61	5.33 ± 0.48	0.001*
24 hours	3 ± 0.81	3.33 ± 0.72	0.23

Table 1. Baseline characteristics and comparison of groups

Data are shown as mean \pm standard deviation. BMI = body mass index, NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale **p* values according to t-test or Mann-Whitney U test

	Group C5B (n = 16)	Group ISB (n = 15)	<i>p</i> value
Radial Nerve Sensory Block			
No block	16	1	
Analgesia	0	13	< 0.001**
Complete sensory block	0	1	
Median Nerve Sensory Block			
No block	16	7	
Analgesia	0	6	0.003**
Complete sensorial block	0	2	
Ulnar Nerve Sensory Block			
No block	16	6	
Analgesia	0	9	< 0.001**
Complete sensorial block	0	0	
Radial Nerve Motor Block			
0/5			
1/5	0	0	
2/5	0	0	
3/5	16	0	< 0.001**
4/5	0	15	
5/5	0	0	
Median Nerve Motor Block			
0/5			
1/5	0	0	
2/5	0	1	
3/5	0	13	< 0.001**
4/5	6	0	
5/5	10	1	
Ulnar Nerve Motor Block			
0/5			
1/5	0	0	
2/5	0	0	
3/5	0	2	< 0.001**
4/5	0	10	
5/5	16	3	

Table 2. The effect of the block on hand movements

BMI = body mass index, VAS = visual analog scale

*p values according to Chi-Square test

cle strength showed a statistically significant difference between the two groups in favor of Group C5B (p = 0.003). The sensory examination of the ulnar nerve revealed a significant difference between the two groups. No sensory block was observed in Group C5B. The evaluation of the ulnar nerve motor muscle strength showed a statistically significant difference between the two groups in favor of Group C5B (p < 0.001) (Table 2).

Furthermore, the comparison of the groups for time to first postoperative analgesic requirement and analgesic consumption showed that Group C5B had a significantly longer time to first analgesic requirement compared to Group ISB and less postoperative analgesic consumption (p < 0.001). Diaphragm paralysis was not observed in Group C5B. All patients in Group ISB had diaphragm paralysis. None of the patients developed intraoperative intraneural injection or local anesthetic toxicity. Moreover, none of the patients developed postoperative neurological complications associated with the block. Patients did not require additional opioid analgesic or sedation intraoperatively.

DISCUSSION

The innervation of the clavicular nerve is complex and has not been fully elucidated. A group of nerves originates from the cervical plexus, while a group of nerves originates from the brachial plexus. Combinations of interscalene block are commonly used as regional anesthesia techniques. In this study comparing interscalene block with C5 nerve root block, there was no difference between the groups in terms of mean age. The mean age of Group ISB was higher; however, the comparison of comorbidities revealed no significant difference between the groups. This statistically significant difference was clinically insignificant. Group C5B had lower 6-hour pain at rest, lower 0, 2, 4-hour pain on movement, and less postoperative analgesic consumption. Moreover, the time to first analgesic requirement was significantly longer in Group C5B. The motor examination of the peripheral nerves showed a significant difference in Group C5B.

It has been shown that the use of superficial cervical block alone can be effective in relieving acute pain in midshaft clavicle fractures [9]. In clavicle fractures, superficial cervical block and interscalene block are combined to relieve postoperative pain and to provide intraoperative anesthesia [4, 5]. The postoperative analgesic efficacy of interscalene block has been demonstrated in distal clavicle and shoulder surgeries [10].

Interscalene block blocks the C5-8 nerve roots, making patients experience weakness in hand movements. In this case, it may be difficult to evaluate early postoperative neurological damage that may result from surgery. A study by Dobbie et al. [10] showed that interscalene block performed at the level C5-6 nerve root did not cause a motor block in hand movements. A study by Deng et al. [11] comparing conventional interscalene block with interscalene block performed at the level of the C5 nerve root showed similar postoperative analgesia. A study by Shin et al. [12] showed that interscalene block with the C5 approach provided equivalent motor postoperative analgesia to the conventional approach with a minimal motor block. In our study, no motor block was observed in the radial, median, and ulnar nerves of Group C5B postoperatively. Group C5B had a difference in postoperative 6-hour pain scores at rest, but it was clinically insignificant. We are of the opinion that the reason for higher pain on movement in Group ISB is the excessive load on the distal clavicle due to the absence of a motor block.

Patients at risk of undergoing general anesthesia can be operated using the regional anesthesia techniques with the combination of interscalene block and superficial cervical block. Valdepitte et al. provided successful intraoperative anesthetic management in a case where they performed combined interscalene and superficial cervical block on a 15-week pregnant woman [13]. Interscalene block causes phrenic nerve paralysis. C5 nerve root block can be performed in cases where general anesthesia poses a risk and interscalene block is contraindicated due to phrenic nerve paralysis. There is a publication by Shanthanna [14] showing that a patient with severe emphysema and respiratory failure was successfully operated with a selective C5 nerve root block and superficial cervical block. Kline et al. [15] used 2 separate perineural catheters to perform a selective C5 nerve root block and superficial cervical block on their patient who refused to undergo general anesthesia and demonstrated its efficacy for pain relief. Salvatores et al. [16] successfully performed clavicle midshaft fracture surgery with C5 nerve root block and superficial cervical block on a high-risk patient with morbid obesity, heart failure, diabetes, and COPD. In our study, diaphragmatic functions on the block side were preserved in Group C5B.

It is known that postoperative opioid consumption is significantly less in patients undergoing ISB for clavicle surgery compared to general anesthesia [5]. It has been shown that patients undergoing C5 block for shoulder surgery with arthroscopic distal clavicle resection had less opioid consumption compared to the ISB group [17]. Our study also demonstrated that postoperative opioid consumption was less in the C5B group.

The most commonly used regional anesthesia technique as an alternative to general anesthesia for clavicle surgery is combinations of interscalene block. We are of the opinion that C5 nerve root block can be used instead of interscalene block since it does not produce a motor block in hand movements and preserves diaphragmatic functions. C5 nerve root block may therefore be considered an alternative to conventional interscalene block for clavicle surgery. There is a need for larger-scale prospective randomized controlled studies to determine the difference in functional outcomes of these two anesthesia techniques.

CONCLUSION

We are of the opinion that C5 nerve root block can be used instead of interscalene block since it does not produce a motor block in hand movements and preserves diaphragmatic functions. C5 nerve root block may therefore be considered an alternative to conventional interscalene block for clavicle surgery.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: EÇ, FY; Study Design: EÇ; Supervision: FY; Funding: EÇ, FY; Materials: EÇ, FY; Data Collection and/or Processing: EÇ, FY; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: EÇ, FY; Literature Review: EÇ; Manuscript Preparation: EÇ, FY and Critical Review: EÇ.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during

the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. DeFroda SF, Lemme N, Kleiner J, Gil J, Owens BD. Incidence and mechanism of injury of clavicle fractures in the NEISS database: athletic and non athletic injuries. J Clin Orthop Trauma 2019;10:954-8.

2. Huttunen TT, Kannus P, Lepola V, Pihlajamäki H, Mattila VM. Surgical treatment of clavicular fractures in Finland - A register based study between 1987 and 2010. Injury 2013;44:1899-903.

3. Moore K, Dalley AF, Agur AM. Clinically Oriented Anatomy, 7th ed. Balimore, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2014:pp.722-996.

4. Fugelli CG, Westlye ET, Ersdal H, Strand K, Bjørshol C. Combined interscalene brachial plexus and superficial cervical plexus nerve block for midshaft clavicle surgery: a case series. AANA J 2019;87:374-8.

5. Banerjee S, Acharya R, Sriramka B. Ultrasound-guided interscalene brachial plexus block with superficial cervical plexus block compared with general anesthesia in patients undergoing clavicular surgery: a comparative analysis. Anesth Essays Res 2019;13:149-54.

6. Shanthanna H. Ultrasound guided selective cervical nerve root block and superficial cervical plexus block for surgeries on the clavicle. Indian J Anaesth 2014;58:327-9.

7. Peter JD, Christopher JB, Donald M, Clark M, Anthony JW, James BD, et al. History of standard scoring, notation, and summation of neuromuscular signs. A current survey and recommendation. J Peripher Nerv Syst 2005;10:158-73.

8. Boussuges A, Gole Y, Blanc P. Diaphragmatic motion studied by m-mode ultrasonography: methods, reproducibility, and normal values. Chest 2009;135:391-400.

9. Herring AA, Stone MB, Frenkel O, Chipman A, Nagdev AD. The ultrasound-guided superficial cervical plexus block for anesthesia and analgesia in emergency care settings. Am J Emerg Med 2012;30:1263-7.

10. Dobie KH, Shi Y, Shotwell MS, Sandberg WS. New technique targeting the C5 nerve root proximal to the traditional interscalenesonoanatomical approach is analgesic for outpatient arthroscopic shoulder surgery. J Clin Anesth 2016;34:79-84.

11. Deng Y, Li Y, Yao Y, Feng DD, Xu M. [C5-6 nerve root block technique for postoperative analgesia of shoulder arthroscope: a randomized controlled trial]. Beijing DaXueXueBao Yi Xue Ban 2019;51:177-81. [Article in Chinese]

12. Shin HJ, Na HS, Oh AY, Hwang J-W, Kim B-G, Park H-P, et al. A prospective, randomized and controlled study of interscalene brachial plexus block for arthroscopic shoulder surgery: a comparison of C5 and conventional approach, a CONSORT-compliant article. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016;95:e4921.

13. Vandepitte C, Latmore M, O'Murchu E, Hadzic A, Van de

Velde M, Nijs S. Combined interscalene-superficial cervical plexus blocks for surgical repair of a clavicular fracture in a 15-week pregnant woman. Int J ObstetAnesth 2014;23:194-5.

14. Shanthanna H. Ultrasound guided selective cervical nerve root block and superficial cervical plexus block for surgeries on the clavicle. Indian J Anaesth 2014;58:327-9.

15. Kline JP. Ultrasound-guided placement of combined superficial cervical plexus and selective C5 nerve root catheters: a novel approach to treating distal clavicle surgical pain. AANA J 2013;81:19-22.

16. Salvadores de Arzuaga CI, NayaSieiro JM, Salmeron Zafra O, González Posada MA, Marquez Martínez E. Selective low-volume nerve block for the open surgical fixation of a midshaft clavicle fracture in a conscious high-risk patient: a case report. AA Case Rep 2017;8:304-6.

17. Zhou Y, Yudi H, Tang Y, Cui Y, Tian W. Application of ultrasound-guided selective cervical nerve root block for patients undergoing arthroscopic surgery in perioperative period. J Clin Anesthesiol 2017;33:1167-70.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.1083732

Radiology

Comparison of quantitative lung computed tomographic findings between idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis patients diagnosed by biopsy and by multidisciplinary discussion without biopsy

Atila Gökçek[®]

Department of Radiology, Ankara Atatürk Sanatoryum Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey;

ABSTRACT

Objectives: We aimed to investigate the objective quantitative differences between the parenchymal computed tomography (CT) findings of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) patients diagnosed by surgical lung biopsy and by multidisciplinary discussion without biopsy.

Methods: We performed parenchymal texture analyses in lung CT images of 116 IPF patients, 42 diagnosed by surgical lung biopsy, and 74 by multidisciplinary discussion without biopsy. The relative volumes of the ground-glass, reticular, honeycomb, hyperlucent, and normal parenchymal patterns were measured in six predefined sections of each lung by an automatic texture analysis software (CALIPER: Computer-Aided Lung Informatics for Pathology Evaluation and Rating). The results were compared between the two patient groups. **Results:** When the relative volumes of the parenchymal patterns were compared between the biopsied and non-biopsied groups in a total lung-based manner, the mean percentage of only the ground-glass pattern was significantly higher in the biopsied group. When compared between the corresponding lung sections, the percentages of the ground-glass pattern were higher in the biopsied group than those in the non-biopsied group at the bilateral central sections of the upper, middle, and lower lung zones. At the bilateral peripheral sections of the middle and lower lung zones, the sectional reticular pattern percentages were lower in the biopsied group than those in the non-biopsied group.

Conclusions: CALIPER's quantitative CT measurements revealed that the sectional relative volumes of the ground-glass and reticular patterns, but not of the honeycomb, normal, and hyperlucent parenchyma, were significantly different between some of the corresponding lung sections of the biopsied and non-biopsied IPF patients. This information may help a better understanding of the role of the CT findings in biopsy decisions and avoiding some of the unnecessary biopsies in suspected IPF patients.

Keywords: idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, quantitative computed tomography, texture analysis, surgical lung biopsy, usual interstitial pneumonia

diopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) is the most common and most fatal pulmonary fibrotic disease. The American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society/Japanese Respiratory Society/Latin American Thoracic Association (ATS/ERS/JRS/ALAT) guideline recommends a multidisciplinary discussion when IPF is suspected [1]. Surgical lung biopsy is suggested to make a definitive diagnosis in patients without the

Received: March 7, 2022; Accepted: April 21, 2022; Published Online: June 7, 2022



How to cite this article: Gökçek A. Comparison of quantitative lung computed tomographic findings between idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis patients diagnosed by biopsy and by multidisciplinary discussion without biopsy. Eur Res J 2022;8(4):442-449. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.1083732

N:2149-3189 Address for correspondence: Atila Gökçek, MD., Ankara Atatürk Sanatoryum Training and Research Hospital, Department of Radiology, Sanatoryum Cad., No: 271, Keçiören, Ankara, Turkey E-mail: dragsanatoryum@gmail.com

Copyright © 2022 by Prusa Medical Publishing Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj usual interstitial pneumonia (UIP) pattern on high resolution computed tomography (HRCT). It was reported that biopsy may be needed in up to one-third of patients for an accurate diagnosis, and the morbidity and mortality associated with biopsies are as high as 3-4% [2].

HRCT is essential in diagnosis and in biopsy decision. Unfortunately, there is interobserver variability in the identification and interpretation of HRCT features of UIP. Besides, conditions that mimic honeycombing, such as bronchiectasis and emphysema, can cause interobserver disagreement about the presence of honeycombing [3]. Furthermore, some commonly used adjectives in guidelines such as 'mild' and 'predominant' (e.g. 'mild ground-glass opacity (GGO)' and 'predominant GGO') are prone to subjectivity and may increase interobserver variability. Quantification of CT findings decreases interobserver variations.

ATS/ERS/JRS/ALAT guideline has pointed out some research questions and future directions about the potential value of the quantification of parenchymal patterns in IPF diagnosis [1].

Quantitative CT (qCT) has been increasingly used for lung diseases due to its objective and reproducible results. Thanks to advances in hardware and software technologies, computers gained the ability to 'recognize' and quantify parenchymal patterns. CALIPER (Computer-Aided Lung Informatics for Pathology Evaluation and Rating) is a software algorithm created at the Biomedical Imaging Resource of the Mayo Clinic and has the ability to detect and quantify parenchymal patterns [4, 5].

In this study, we aimed to determine the differences that can be 'seen by the objective eye of the CALIPER', between the CT findings of biopsied and non-biopsied IPF patients.

METHODS

We performed a retrospective qCT analysis of lung parenchyma in 116 IPF patients, 42 diagnosed by surgical lung biopsies (biopsied group) and 74 by multidisciplinary discussion without biopsy (non-biopsied group), in our hospital between 2013-2020. Biopsy decisions and non-biopsy IPF diagnoses were made by our hospital's Institutional Council of Interstitial Lung Diseases (consisted of a radiologist, a pathologist, and at least three respiratory clinicians).

We included only those patients who had volumetric, non-contrast CT scans, performed in our own institution within the 3-month period before the time of diagnosis by using the same acquisition technique (by



Fig. 1. Axial CT slice (a) and its color overlay (b) representing the mapping of lung texture detection. Five different parenchymal patterns (normal parenchyma, ground glass pattern, hyperlucent parenchyma, reticular pattern, and honeycombing) were automatically detected by the computer. The computer assigned five different colors for these five different parenchymal patterns, as listed below the image (b). The lung parenchyma was then colored regionally by the computer in accordance to the dominant parenchymal pattern in that region. using Philips Ingenuity 128 slice CT scanner, with a tube voltage of 120 kV, a pitch of 1, a rotation time of 0.4 second, and a reconstruction thickness of 1 mm with filter B).

For quantification, we used Lung Texture Analysis software (Imbio, Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA) based on CALIPER technology developed by the Mayo Clinic (Rochester, Minnesota, USA) (This is an 'investigational use only' software in the USA). This software associated a certain group of neighboring voxels to one of the five basic parenchymal patterns (normal, hyperlucent, ground-glass, reticular, and honeycombing) (Fig. 1), and measured the absolute and relative volumes of each pattern in six predefined lung sections (obtained by dividing each lung's upper, middle, and lower thirds into central 'core' and peripheral 'rind' areas that comprise about half of the lung parenchyma) [5]. The relative volume of a parenchymal pattern was calculated as the percentage of the volume of that pattern in the concerned parenchymal volume. We obtained the sectional relative volumes of five different parenchymal patterns as a tabular data of percentages, in addition to a graphical report illustrating these percentages for each patient (Fig. 2).

This study was approved by our Institutional Review Board and written informed consent was waived because of its retrospective nature.

Statistical Analysis

SPSS Statistics software (version 26) was used to perform two-tailed Student's t-tests.

RESULTS

There were 42 patients in the biopsied and 74 in the non-biopsied group. The mean age was 60.9 ± 8.9 years (55.3 ± 7.3 years in the biopsied group and 64.0 ± 8.9 years in the non-biopsied group). There were 92 male and 24 female patients (in the biopsied group 28 male and 14 females, in the non-biopsied group 64 male and 10 females).

The mean volume percentages of the parenchymal patterns measured by CALIPER in the biopsied and in the non-biopsied patient groups and the results of the comparisons between these two groups are listed in Table 1.



When we compared the volume percentages of the

Fig. 2. An example of the graphical report of the quantitative CT analysis of IPF patients. Five different parenchymal patterns were masked by different colors on a mid-coronal CT slice, and the relative volume of each pattern was represented with the same color on circular glyphs. (RU = Right Upper, RM = Right Middle, RL = Right Lower, LU = Left Upper, LM = Left Middle, LL = Left Lower). The 'lung core' and the 'lung rind' glyphs represent the central and peripheral half volumes of the lungs, respectively.

Table 1. Mean relativ	e volumes (%) of parenchyn	nal patterns	in biopsied an	nd non-biopsied	groups				
	Normal p:	arenchyma	Hyper	rlucent	Ground	l glass	Retic	ular	Hone	ycomb
Lung Section	Biopsied	Non-biopsied	Biopsied	Non-biopsied	Biopsied	Non-biopsied	Biopsied	Non-biopsied	Biopsied	Non-biopsied
RL upper-central	77.0 ± 29.7	84.8 ± 20.0	0.4 ± 1.0	0.8 ± 2.7	15.7 ± 26.9 >	6.2 ± 13.1	5.2 ± 9.8	6.4 ± 11.8	1.7 ± 2.9	1.8 ± 4.1
LL upper-central	81.1 ± 26.9	87.7 ± 18.6	0.5 ± 1.3	1.6 ± 8.0	14.1 ± 26.5 >	4.4 ± 11.9	2.6 ± 4.5	4.6 ± 9.7	1.7 ± 3.0	1.6 ± 5.4
RL middle-central	73.8 ± 27.6	80.0 ± 19.2	0.5 ± 1.3	0.7 ± 1.6	19.1 ± 28.2 >	9.0 ± 12.8	5.2 ± 7.6	8.8 ± 11.9	1.4 ± 2.5	1.5 ± 3.0
LL middle-central	69.5 ± 28.2	79.8 ± 21.1	0.35 ± 0.6	0.6 ± 2.8	24.3 ± 28.7 >	11.5 ± 16.6	4.6 ± 6.6	6.9 ± 9.6	1.2 ± 2.6	1.2 ± 3.0
RL lower-central	47.9 ± 28.3	55.9 ± 30.4	1.25 ± 7.2	0.9 ± 5.7	30.4 ± 29.6 >	14.6 ± 18.5	17.8 ± 20.3	25.6 ± 24.7	2.7 ± 4.7	3.0 ± 5.5
LL lower-central	48.7 ± 35.0	57.8 ± 31.2	0.35 ± 1.4	0.9 ± 3.6	32.0 ± 34.6 >	16.3 ± 20.1	16.9 ± 21.3	22.1 ± 23.3	2.1 ± 4.0	2.8 ± 5.4
RL upper-peripheral	66.9 ± 29.3	70.3 ± 25.4	2.55 ± 3.8	2.9 ± 4.4	17.4 ± 24.5	10.8 ± 15.1	11.6 ± 16.1	14.0 ± 16.2	1.6 ± 2.1	2.1 ± 3.3
LL upper-peripheral	71.5 ± 26.5	76.8 ± 21.4	3.15 ± 5.5	3.5 ± 5.5	15.8 ± 24.5	7.7 ± 13.0	8.1 ± 11.2	10.2 ± 13.6	1.4 ± 1.9	1.7 ± 3.0
RL middle-peripheral	57.3 ± 26.8	57.0 ± 23.5	2.15 ± 2.9	1.8 ± 2.5	26.0 ± 26.7	16.8 ± 16.2	13.2±14.1 <	22.5 ± 16.7	1.4 ± 2.3	2.0 ± 4.0
LL middle-peripheral	51.4 ± 29.0	56.5 ± 28.9	1.3 ± 2.0	1.2 ± 2.1	32.0 ± 29.1 >	19.2 ± 19.4	$14.0 \pm 15.6 <$	21.5 ± 19.4	1.3 ± 2.1	1.7 ± 2.8
RL lower-peripheral	41.0 ± 23.2	41.0 ± 22.6	2.5 ± 5.4	1.7 ± 4.0	34.6 ± 26.0	26.5 ± 19.6	$20.4 \pm 17.5 <$	28.8 ± 18.8	1.5 ± 2.4	2.0 ± 4.0
LL lower-peripheral	41.0 ± 27.9	40.9 ± 25.7	1.8 ± 3.1	1.8 ± 4.9	37.0 ± 29.3	28.5 ± 21.7	$18.9 \pm 19.0 <$	26.8 ± 19.7	1.2 ± 2.0	2.0 ± 3.7
RL total	63.3 ± 25.5	68.1 ± 20.2	1.6 ± 3.1	1.5 ± 2.8	$22.8 \pm 25.3 >$	13.1 ± 12.9	10.7 ± 10.8	15.4 ± 13.8	1.6 ± 2.3	1.9 ± 3.2
LL total	63.1 ± 25.3	69.7 ± 20.0	1.4 ± 2.1	1.8 ± 3.3	$24.4 \pm 25.4 >$	13.4 ± 13.2	9.7 ± 10.7	13.3 ± 12.8	1.4 ± 2.0	1.8 ± 2.9
Total lung	64.0 ± 24.3	69.9 ± 19.0	1.4 ± 2.4	1.7 ± 2.9	23.3 ± 24.2 >	13.3 ± 12.8	9.8 ± 10.5	13.2 ± 12.6	1.5 ± 2.1	1.8 ± 2.8
RL = right lung, LL = left1 The boxed values with blue ground glass pattern percer lower in the biopsied patien	ung. The mean re backgrounds, w tages were signi ts than in the non	slative volumes are vith a greater (>) or ficantly higher in t t-biopsied ones only	given as the me r lesser (<) sign the biopsied pat y in the periphe:	eans of the relativ in between, are t ients than in the ral sections of the	e volume percentage those that are signifi non-biopsied ones r : middle and lower lu	ss ± standard deviat cantly different in nainly in the centra ang zones	ions. the biopsied and noi al lung sections. The	n-biopsied groups v s reticular pattern p	with a $p < 0.0$ percentages we	5. Note that the re significantly

I non-biopsied groups	
and	
biopsied	
in.	
patterns	
enchymal	
of par	
%	
e volumes	
ean relativ	
Ž	
÷.	

The European Research Journal • Volume 8 • Issue 4 • July 2022

13

parenchymal patterns in the biopsied group with those in the non-biopsied group, in a total lung-based manner, only the ground-glass pattern showed a significant difference (it was higher in the biopsied [23.3%] than in the non-biopsied group [13.3%]) (p < 0.01).

When we compared the sectional volume percentages of the parenchymal patterns between the corresponding lung sections of the biopsied and non-biopsied groups for each of the twelve lung sections (six in each lung), we found that the mean percentages of the ground-glass pattern were significantly higher in seven of the lung sections of the biopsied group than those in the corresponding sections of the non-biopsied one (six of these sections were symmetric including the bilateral central sections of the upper, middle, and lower lung zones, and an additional one was asymmetric, the middle-peripheral section of the left lung) (Table 2).

On the other hand, the reticular pattern percentages were significantly lower in the middle and lower peripheral sections of both lungs of the biopsied group than those in the corresponding sections of the nonbiopsied group (Table 3).

The relative volumes of the honeycomb, hyperlucent, and normal lung patterns showed no significant difference between the corresponding lung sections of the two patient groups.

DISCUSSION

In our study, CALIPER has detected that, compared to the non-biopsied patients the biopsied patients have significantly higher percentages of the ground-glass volume in the central sections, and lower percentages of the reticular pattern in the peripheral sections of the lungs.

IPF is the most common fibrotic disease of the lung. It is more common in older ages and in males [6, 7]. There was an elder-male dominance in our patient population and this was compatible with the literature.

According to the ATS/ERS/JRS/ALAT guideline, in patients with a definite UIP pattern on lung CT, in the absence of a detectable etiology, surgical lung biopsy is not necessary for an IPF diagnosis. However, biopsy should be considered in patients with CT findings of 'probable UIP' or 'indeterminate for UIP', especially when an alternative diagnosis is not achievable [1, 8, 9]. Radiologically, the main difference between 'definite UIP' and 'probable UIP' is the presence or absence of honeycombing, respectively, and this difference may change a decision from 'no need to biopsy' into 'biopsy'. However, visual evaluation of CT images is subjective and prone to interobserver discrepancies. Sometimes it may be difficult to differentiate honeycombing from bronchiectasis and

	Right	Lung	Left	Lung
	Peripheral	Central	Central	Peripheral
Upper	B: 17.4 ± 24.5	B: 15.7 ± 26.9	B: 14.1 ± 26.5	B: 15.8 ± 24.5
	NB: 10.8 ± 15.1	NB: 6.2 ± 13.1	NB: 4.4 ± 11.9	NB: 7.7 ± 13.0
	p = 0.13	<i>p</i> = 0.04	<i>p</i> = 0.03	p = 0.60
Middle	$B: 26.0 \pm 26.7$	B: 19.1 ± 28.2	B: 24.3 ± 28.7	B: 32.0 ± 29.1
	NB: 16.8 ± 16.2	NB: 9.0 ± 12.8	NB: 11.5 ± 16.6	NB: 19.2 ± 19.4
	p = 0.50	<i>p</i> = 0.04	<i>p</i> = 0.01	<i>p</i> = 0.02
Lower	B: 34.6 ± 26.0	B: 30.4 ± 29.6	B: 32.0 ± 34.6	B: 37.0 ± 29.3
	NB: 26.5 ± 19.6	NB: 14.6 ± 18.5	NB: 16.3 ± 20.1	NB: 28.5 ± 21.7
	p = 0.07	<i>p</i> = 0.004	<i>p</i> = 0.01	p = 0.12

 Table 2. Comparison of relative volumes of ground-glass pattern (%) in corresponding lung sections of biopsied and non-biopsied IPF groups

B = Biopsied IPF group, NB = Non-biopsied IPF group. Values are means \pm standard deviations.

Each table cell represents one of the twelve lung sections and positioned on this table in accordance to the position of the corresponding lung section on a postero-anterior chest x-ray. The table cells with blue background represent those lung sections in which a significantly higher percentage of the ground-glass pattern were measured in the biopsied group than in the non-biopsied group with a p < 0.05.

	Right	Lung	Left Lung			
	Peripheral	Central	Central	Peripheral		
Upper	B: 11.6 ± 16.1	B: 5.2 ± 9.8	B: 2.6 ± 4.5	B: 8.1 ± 11.2		
	NB: 14.0 ± 16.2	NB: 6.4 ± 11.8 NB: 4.6 ± 9.7		NB: 10.2 ± 13.6		
	p = 0.47	p = 0.60	p = 0.17	p = 0.42		
Middle	B: 13.2 ± 14.1	B: 5.2 ± 7.6	B: 4.6 ± 6.6	B: 14.0 ± 15.6		
	NB: 22.5 ± 16.7	NB: 8.8 ± 11.9	NB: 6.9 ± 9.6	NB: 21.5 ± 19.4		
	<i>p</i> = 0.004	p = 0.06	p = 0.14	<i>p</i> = 0.04		
Lower	B: 20.4 ± 17.5	B: 17.8 ± 20.3	B: 16.9 ± 21.3	B: 18.9 ± 19.0		
	NB: 28.8 ± 18.8	NB: 25.6 ± 24.7	NB: 22.1 ± 23.3	NB: 26.8 ± 19.7		
	<i>p</i> = 0.02	p = 0.09	p = 0.26	<i>p</i> = 0.04		

 Table 3. Comparison of Relative Volumes of Reticular Pattern (%) in Corresponding Lung

 Sections of Biopsied and Non-Biopsied IPF Groups

B = Biopsied IPF group, NB = Non-biopsied IPF group. Values are means \pm standard deviations.

Each table cell represents one of the twelve lung sections and positioned on this table in accordance to the position of the corresponding lung section on a postero-anterior chest x-ray. The table cells with blue background represent those lung sections in which a significantly lower percentage of the reticular pattern were measured in the biopsied group than in the non-biopsied group with a p < 0.05.

emphysema and this may cause interobserver disagreement about the presence of honeycombing [3].

In the ATS/ERS/JRS/ALAT guideline, it is emphasized that 'mild' ground-glass opacities can be seen in 'probable UIP' and, if ground-glass is a 'prominent' feature on CT, then this is suggestive of an alternative diagnosis other than UIP [1]. These 'mild' and 'prominent' adjectives seem to be a little subjective and may cause interobserver discrepancies, especially when there is a lack of experience. Guideline authors pointed out the potential role of quantification of parenchymal patterns and directed future researchers to conduct quantitative studies with automated methods.

Quantitative CT techniques can help us to decrease subjectivity. CALIPER, a computer technology pioneered at the Mayo Clinic, has the ability to detect five parenchymal patterns (normal, ground-glass, reticular, honeycomb, and emphysema). It was reported that interstitial findings measured by CALIPER were predictive of survival, helpful in evaluating the response to pirfenidone, and correlated with the findings of pulmonary function tests in IPF patients [10-12]. CALIPER was shown to produce classification results comparable to expert radiologic judgment [4].

Jacob *et al.* [13] reported that a large proportion of the areas visually labeled as reticular pattern were

characterized as ground-glass opacities by CALIPER]. Therefore, in their study, the ground-glass pattern was reported to be the abnormal parenchymal pattern with the highest volume percentage measured by CALIPER in 283 IPF patients, whereas the reticular pattern had the highest percentage measured by visual scoring. In our study, CALIPER's findings were similar and the percentages of ground-glass were higher than those of the reticular pattern in both biopsied and non-biopsied IPF groups.

We used CALIPER's measurements to compare the relative volumes of parenchymal patterns between the biopsied and non-biopsied IPF groups, in a total lung-based manner and then in a section-based manner. To our knowledge, this is the first study doing such a comparison.

When compared in a total lung-based manner, we found that only the ground-glass pattern percentages were significantly different between the two patient groups and it was higher in the biopsied group (p < 0.01).

Section-based comparisons revealed that the ground-glass volume percentages were higher in the central sections of the lungs in the biopsied patients than those in the corresponding central sections of the non-biopsied ones (Table 2). Since the ground-glass pattern seen in IPF usually happens in areas of peripheral reticulation or honeycombing, it may be thought that the presence of ground-glass in the central lung sections possibly acted in favor of the biopsy decisions in our biopsied patient group.

Reticular pattern percentages were not significantly different in the two groups when compared cumulatively. However, section-based comparisons revealed significantly lower reticular pattern percentages in bilateral middle and lower peripheral lung sections of the biopsied group than those in the corresponding sections of the non-biopsied group (Table 3). In IPF patients, the reticular parenchymal pattern is expected to be observed prominently in bilateral lower peripheral areas of the lungs, and therefore, the relatively lower reticular pattern percentages at the bilateral middle and lower peripheral regions in our biopsied patient group, compared to those in the non-biopsied, may be interpreted as a factor that possibly acted in favor of the biopsy decisions in our biopsied patients.

Interestingly, the relative volumes of the honeycomb pattern were not significantly different in the two groups, neither in total lung-based nor in sectionbased comparisons, contrary to what might be expected. Since the presence of honeycombing, especially when it is in a bilateral and bibasilar distribution, is in favor of a 'no need to biopsy' decision, we expected that the honeycomb pattern might have a higher percentage in the non-biopsied group. However, CALIPER found similar percentages in the two groups. Jacob et al. reported that a substantial proportion of the areas visually labeled as honeycombing were characterized as reticular and/or ground-glass patterns by CALIPER [13]. This was the same in our study and in both of our patient groups CALIPER 'recognized' only some portions of the honeycomb pattern and the percentages of these portions happened to be similar in our two patient groups.

The percentages of normal and hyperlucent parenchyma were not significantly different in the two patient groups, neither cumulatively nor sectionally.

Limitations

Our study has limitations: i) We think that other texture analysis algorithms may have different measurement results from those of CALIPER's. Hence, our findings cannot be generalized to all qCT methods. ii) CALIPER characterizes some portions of the parenchymal patterns different from those of visual labeling. For this reason, our measurement findings cannot be directly translated into routine radiological practice that is mainly dependent on visual labeling. iii) We focused only on the qCT findings of our patients and did not collect and compare the detailed clinical and laboratory findings of the two groups. Therefore, we cannot claim about the independent role of the qCT findings on biopsy decisions.

We think that qCT is a promising tool in the diagnosis and follow-up of interstitial lung diseases, and we hope to inspire future studies that analyze qCT findings in large series to develop quantitative methods that can help to avoid at least some of the unnecessary surgical lung biopsies.

CONCLUSION

Comparison of the CALIPER's measurements between the corresponding lung sections of the biopsied and the non-biopsied IPF patients revealed that the biopsied patients have significantly higher percentages of the ground-glass volume in the central sections of the upper, middle, and lower lung zones, and lower percentages of the reticular pattern in the peripheral sections of the middle and lower lung zones, compared to the non-biopsied patients. Regarding the relative volumes of the honeycomb, hyperlucent and normal parenchyma patterns, CALIPER detected no significant difference between the biopsied and non-biopsied patients. We think that quantification may facilitate a better understanding of the role of CT findings in biopsy decisions and may help to avoid from at least some of the unnecessary biopsies in suspected IPF patients.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: AG; Study Design: AG; Supervision: AG; Funding: AG; Materials: AG; Data Collection and/or Processing: AG; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: AG; Literature Review: AG; Manuscript Preparation: AG and Critical Review: AG.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Raghu G, Remy-Jardin M, Myers JL, Richeldi L, Ryerson CJ, Lederer DJ, et al. Diagnosis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. An official ATS/ERS/JRS/ALAT clinical practice guideline. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2018;198:e44-e68.

2. Kaarteenaho R. The current position of surgical lung biopsy in the diagnosis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Respir Res 2013;14:43-52.

3. Watadani T, Sakai F, Johkoh T, Noma S, Akira M, Fujimoto K, et al. Interobserver variability in the CT assessment of honeycombing in the lungs. Radiology 2013;266:936-44.

4. Zavaletta VA, Bartholmai BJ, Robb RA. High resolution multidetector CT-aided tissue analysis and quantification of lung fibrosis. Acad Radiol 2007;14:772-87.

5. Bartholmai BJ, Raghunath S, Karwoski RA, Moua T, Rajagopalan S, Maldonado F, et al. Quantitative computed tomography imaging of interstitial lung diseases. J Thorac Imaging 2013;28:298-307.

6. Han MK, Murray S, Fell CD, Flaherty KR, Toews GB, Myers J, et al. Sex differences in physiological progression of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Eur Respir J 2008;31:1183-8.

7. Kalafatis D, Gao J, Pesonen I, Carlson L, Sköld CM, Ferrara

G. Gender differences at presentation of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis in Sweden. BMC Pulm Med 2019;19:222-9.

8. Furini F, Carnevale A, Casoni GL, Guerrini G, Cavagna L, Govoni M, et al. The role of the multidisciplinary evaluation of interstitial lung diseases: systematic literature review of the current evidence and future perspectives. Front Med (Lausanne) 2019;6:246-62.

9. Travis WD, Costabel U, Hansell DM, King TEJ, Lynch DA, Nicholson AG, et al. An official American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society statement: update of the international multidisciplinary classification of the idiopathic interstitial pneumonias. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2013;188:733-48.

10. Maldonado F, Moua T, Rajagopalan S, Karwoski RA, Raghunath S, Decker PA, et al. Automated quantification of radiological patterns predicts survival in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Eur Respir J 2014;43:204-12.

11. Iwasawa T, Ogura T, Sakai F, Kanauchi T, Komagata T, Baba T, et al. CT analysis of the effect of pirfenidone in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Eur J Radiol 2014;83:32-8.

12. Raghunath S, Moua T, Segovis C, Maldonado F, Ryu J, Decker P, et al. Correlation of quantitative lung tissue characterization as assessed by CALIPER with pulmonary function and 6-minute walk test [abstract]. Chest 2011;140 (4_MeetingAbstracts):1040A.

13. Jacob J, Bartholmai BJ, Egashira R, Brun AL, Rajagopalan S, Karwoski R, et al. Automated quantitative computed tomography versus visual computed tomography scoring in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. J Thorac Imaging 2016;31:304-11.



DOI: 10.18621/eurj.1000067

Hematology

Determinants of clinical course and mortality in COVID-19 patients with hematological disorders: real life data from a single center

Burak Deveci¹^o, Levent Döşemeci²^o, Ayşe Aslan³^o, Gökhan Asal⁴^o, Bilge Üstün²^o, Meltem Yıldırımer Akar²^o, Tayfur Toptaş⁵^o, Mine Yavuz Taşlıpınar⁶^o, Rabin Saba^{7,8}^o

¹Department of Hematology, Istanbul Gelisim University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Istanbul, Turkey; ²Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Medstar Antalya Hospital, Antalya, Turkey; ³Department of Internal Medicine, Medstar Antalya Hospital, Antalya, Turkey; ⁴Department of Chest Diseases, Medstar Antalya Hospital, Antalya, Turkey; ⁵Department of Hematology, Marmara University School of Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey; ⁶Department of Clinical Biochemistry, Medstar Antalya Hospital, Antalya, Turkey; ⁷Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Medstar Antalya Hospital, Antalya, Turkey; ⁸Department of Microbiology, Antalya Bilim University, Faculty of Dentistry, Antalya, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Patients with hematological disorders are often immunosuppressive due to underlying diseases, immunosuppressive therapies or cytotoxic chemotherapeutics. In the case of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), they are at high risk of poor prognosis. Therefore, the present study aimed to evaluate the determinants of clinical course and mortality in COVID-19 patients with hematological disorders.

Methods: Sixty-two hospitalized patients older than 18 years with documented COVID-19 and hematological disorders were included in the study. The clinical and laboratory data of the patients were recorded. Age, gender, overall follow-up time, duration of hospitalization, neutropenia, D-dimer levels, disease status, presence of underlying diseases, prior autologous and allogeneic stem cell transplant, immunosuppressive drug use, chemotherapy within 28 days, pneumonia, secondary bacterial infection, intubation, survival and mortality of the patients were evaluated.

Results: Twenty-eight (45.2%) of 62 patients died due to COVID-19 and its complications. It was observed that presence of pneumonia, secondary bacterial infection, intubation, neutropenia developed after the diagnosis of COVID-19, and elevated D-dimer levels were associated with significant mortality. A D-dimer level of > 1.2 μ g/dL was found to be associated with 5.02 fold increase in the risk of death, with 60.7% sensitivity and 76.5% specificity. Presence of rheumatologic diseases also affected survival negatively.

Conclusions: D-dimer levels have high predictive value for mortality. Considering the identified risk factors, it can be concluded that broad spectrum antibiotics can be administered earlier for prevention of high mortality rates in COVID-19 patients with underlying hematological disorders. These observations can give confidence to clinicians that delivery of effective anticancer regimens should continue during this difficult pandemic. **Keywords:** COVID-19, hematological disorders, mortality

Novel coronavirus (severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2, SARS Cov-2) disease (coronavirus disease 2019, COVID-19) has been the most important global health problem since the end of

Received: September 29, 2021; Accepted: November 3, 2021; Published Online: April 18, 2022



How to cite this article: Deveci B, Döşemeci L, Aslan A, Asal G, Üstün B, Yıldırımer Akar M, et al. Determinants of clinical course and mortality in COVID-19 patients with hematological disorders: real life data from a single center. Eur Res J 2022;8(4):450-461. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.1000067

Address for correspondence: Burak Deveci, MD., Assistant Professor, Medstar Antalya Hospital, Department of Hematology and Stem Cell
 Transplantation Unit, Yildiz M., Cakirlar Cad., No: 19, Muratpasa Antalya, Turkey. E-mail: deveci.burak@gmail.com, GSM: +90 505 260 00 55, Fax: +90 486 518 50 47.

[©]Copyright © 2022 by Prusa Medical Publishing Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj 2019 [1]. According to the current World Health Organization (WHO) data, approximately 150 million people have been infected with the virus to date, and more than 3 million have died due to COVID-19 and/or its complications [2]. Characteristics of COVID-19 symptoms in hematological patients share similarities with the general population with fever, dry cough, fatigue and diarrhea being the most common initial signs/symptoms of infection [3]. Some special patient groups such as diabetics, older patients and especially immunosuppressive patients have poor outcome [4]. Patients with hematological disorders are often immunosuppressive due to underlying diseases, immunosuppressive therapies or cytotoxic chemotherapeutics [5]. Therefore, assessment and determination of the best therapeutic needs of the immunosuppressed patient with COVID-19 is critical. However, there are few published data on the consequences of COVID-19 in hematological patients so far [5-9]. Based on available information, patients with hematological malignancies and bone marrow transplants are at high risk of poor prognosis in case of COVID-19 [10]. Furthermore, patients with hematological malignancies have worse outcomes than patients with solid tumors [11]. During COVID-19 outbreak, it is of extreme importance to understand that cancer patients should be considered as a special population due to their higher risk of acquiring secondary infections and faster decline rate. Therefore patients with hematological disorders, both benign and malignant need special attention during this crisis time [12]. Mortality reports have shown a higher mortality rate in cancer patients with COVID-19 compared to the general population [13]. COVID-19 is a respiratory infection with a significant impact on the hematopoietic system and heleading several mostasis to cardiovascular complications. A better understanding of COVID-19 in particular hematological disorders will help to choose appropriate treatment strategies in the future [14]. COVID-19 infection is associated with a coagulopathy characterized by an increase in procoagulant factors such as fibrinogen, together with a strong increase of D-dimers that have been associated with a higher mortality [15, 16]. Accordingly, the present study aimed to evaluate the determinants of clinical course and mortality in COVID-19 patients with hematological disorders.

METHODS

Patients

Patients with documented COVID-19 and hematological disorders older than 18 years were included in the study. Diagnostic analysis, survival data, predictors of death and laboratory results of those patients were evaluated. Only hospitalized patients were accepted. The endpoint of the study was hospital discharge with clinical recovery or death. The clinical and laboratory data of the patients were recorded. D-dimer levels were recorded at the time of admission. Written informed consent was obtained from all patients. This study was conducted in accordance with the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki and reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Memorial Hospitals Group after obtaining permission of the Turkish Ministry of Health Ethics Committee.

Laboratory Assay

D-dimer was determined on Cobas C501 automatic biochemistry analyzer (Roche Diagnostics, Tokyo, Japan) via immunoturbidimetric assay. The laboratory reference range was 0-0.5 μ g/mL. The Ddimer result was expressed in μ g/mL FEU (Fibrinogen Equivalent Unit). All measurements were performed within 2 hours after blood sampling. Confirmed COVID-19 infection was defined as a positive result on a SARS-CoV-2 reverse-transcriptase–polymerasechain-reaction (RT-PCR) assay of a nasopharyngeal swab specimen.

Statistical Analysis

Data analyses were performed using the IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 27.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) software. Normality of the univariate data was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk and Shapiro-Francia tests, while Levene's test was used to assess the homogeneity of variances. For the comparison of two independent groups of quantitative data, independent samples t-test was used together with Bootstrap results, and Mann-Whitney U test. For the comparison between categorical variables, Pearsons chi-square and Fisher's exact tests were used with the Monte Carlo Simulation technique. Odds ratio was used to demonstrate the relative risk of death in patients with a risk factor compared to those without. Receiver Operating Curve (ROC) analysis was used to show the relationship between sensitivity and specificity for every possible cut-off value calculated according to the variables of the groups and the actual classification. Kaplan-Meier (product limit method) -Log-Rank (Mantel-Cox) analysis was used to examine the effects of the factors on mortality and lifespan. Quantitative variables are expressed as mean (standard deviation) and median (25^{th} Percentile [Q1]/75th percentile [Q3]) in the tables, while categorical variables are shown as number (percentage, %). Variables were analyzed at a 95% confidence level and a *p* value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

Sixty-two hospitalized patients with documented COVID-19 and hematological disorders older than 18 years were enrolled in the study. Nineteen patients had acute myeloid leukemia (AML) and 17 patients had non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL) with a mortality rate of 57.9% and 29.4%, respectively. Of 62 patients, 28 (45.2%) died due to COVID-19 and its complications (Table 1). Patients had an average age of 60.9 years and the average duration of hospitalization was 14 days. When clinical and demographic data were evaluated, it was found that age, gender, overall follow-up time, duration of hospitalization, presence of neutropenia at the diagnosis of COVID-19, underlying diseases and disease status were not associated with mortality; however, the presence of pneumonia, secondary bacterial infection, intubation, neutropenia developed after the diagnosis of COVID-19, and D-dimer levels

were associated with a statistically significant mortality (p < 0.05) (Fig. 1). A D-dimer level over 1.2 µg/dL is the percentile 75 value of the alive group; therefore it is accepted as a cut off value in this patient group to predict the risk of death. A D-dimer level greater than 1.2 µg/dL was found to be associated with a 5.02 fold increase in the risk of death with 60.7% sensitivity and 76.5% specificity (Table 2). Similarly presence of pneumonia, secondary bacterial infection, intubation, neutropenia after the diagnosis of COVID-19, a Ddimer levels > 1.2 µg/dL had a negative effect on the survival of the patients. Presence of rheumatologic diseases also affected survival negatively (p < 0.05) (Table 3).

DISCUSSION

The relationship between COVID-19 and pre-existing diseases is poorly described and based on small retrospective studies [17]. The current pandemic coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2, is known to cause severe infection in patients with comorbidities, particularly cancer or immunosuppression [18]. Patients suffering from cancer are vulnerable to the effects of COVID-19, and they have been postulated to be at increased risk of mortality [19]. In addition, male sex, older age, hypertension, diabetes, and obesity have been shown to be associated with higher COVID-19 mortality [20]. In general population, data from different countries suggest a case-fatality of 2.3% in patients with COVID-19, with more than 50% of the fatalities occurring in patients 50 years of age or older [21]. In our

Fabl	e 1	. N	Iorta	ality	<i>rates</i>	of tl	he stud	y pat	ients	accord	ling t	o th	e type	e of	hemato	logica	l d	isord	lei
------	-----	-----	-------	-------	--------------	-------	---------	-------	-------	--------	--------	------	--------	------	--------	--------	-----	-------	-----

Diagnosis	n (%)	Alive	Dead	Mortality (%)
Acute myeloid leukemia	19 (27.4)	8	11	57.9
Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma	17 (27.4)	12	5	29.4
Multiple myeloma	8 (12.9)	6	2	25.0
Chronic lymphocytic leukemia	4 (6.5)	2	2	50.0
Chronic myeloid leukemia	3 (4.8)	2	1	33.3
Myelodisplastic syndrome	3 (4.8)	2	1	33.3
Hodgkin's lymphoma	3 (4.8)	1	2	66.6
Idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura	2 (3.2)	0	2	100.0
Chronic myelomonocytic leukemia	2 (3.2)	1	1	50.0
Myelofibrosis	1 (1.6)	0	1	100



Fig. 1. Significant predictors of mortality. (A) Rheumatologic disease, (B) Pneumonia, (C) Secondary bacterial infection, (D) Intubation and (E) D-Dimer level.

	Total	Alive	Dead	<i>p</i> value	OR (95% CI) or AUC (SE)
	(n = 62)	(n = 34)	(n = 28)		
Age, years, mean (SD)	60.9 (14.6)	58.0 (15.3)	64.3 (13.1)	0.106	-
Age, n (%)					
< 65	33 (53.2)	21 (61.8)	12 (42.9)	0.201	-
≥ 65	29 (46.8)	13 (38.2)	16 (57.1)		
Sex					
Female	28 (45.2)	13 (38.2)	15 (53.6)	0.306	-
Male	34 (54.8)	21 (61.8)	13 (46.4)		
Overall follow-up time, median (Q1/Q3)	478 (159/1477)	697 (148 / 1513)	404 (160/888.5)	0.563	
Duration of hospitalization for COVID-19, days, median (Q1/Q3)	14 (9/22)	14 (10/21)	15 (7/22.5)	0.959	-
Neutropenia at COVID-19 diagnosis, n (%)					
Absent	45 (72.6)	28 (82.4)	17 (60.7)	0.086	-
Present	17 (27.4)	6 (17.6)	11 (39.3)		
Neutropenia after COVID- 19 diagnosis, n (%)					
Absent	36 (58.1)	25 (73.5)	11 (39.3)	0.010	4.3 (1.5-12.6) OR
Present	26 (41.9)	9 (26.5)	17 (60.7)		
Disease status, n (%)					
Active	34 (54.8)	17 (50.0)	17 (60.7)	0.450	-
Remission	28 (45.2)	17 (50.0)	11 (39.3)		
Diabetes, n (%)					
Absent	50 (80.6)	29 (85.3)	21 (75.0)	0.349	-
Present	12 (19.4)	5 (14.7)	7 (25.0)		
Hypertension, n (%)					
Absent	35 (56.5)	21 (61.8)	14 (50.0)	0.443	-
Present	27 (43.5)	13 (38.2)	14 (50.0)		
Coronary disease, n (%)					
Absent	48 (77.4)	29 (85.3)	19 (67.9)	0.132	-
Present	14 (22.6)	5 (14.7)	9 (32.1)		
Rheumatologic disease, n (%)					
Absent	60 (96.8)	34 (100.0)	26 (92.9)	0.200	-
Present	2 (3.2)	0 (0.0)	2 (7.1)		
Chronic obstrucive lung disease/asthma, n (%)					
Absent	59 (95.2)	34 (100.0)	25 (89.3)	0.087	-
Present	3 (4.8)	0 (0.0)	3 (10.7)		
Prior autologus stem cell transplant, n (%)					

Table 2. Comparison of alive and dead patients in terms of clinical and demographic data

	Total	Alive	Dead	<i>p</i> value	OR (95% CI) or AUC (SE)
	(n = 62)	(n = 34)	(n = 28)		
Absent	53 (85.5)	28 (82.4)	25 (89.3)	0.494	-
Present	9 (14.5)	6 (17.6)	3 (10.7)		
Prior allogeneic stem cell transplant, n (%)					
Absent	54 (87.1)	30 (88.2)	24 (85.7)	0.999	-
Present	8 (12.9)	4 (11.8)	4 (14.3)		
Immunosuppressive drug use, n (%)					
Absent	51 (82.3)	31 (91.2)	20 (71.4)	0.092	-
Present	11 (17.7)	3 (8.8)	8 (28.6)		
Chemotherapy within 28 days, n (%)					
Absent	29 (46.8)	14 (41.2)	15 (53.6)	0.444	-
Present	33 (53.2)	20 (58.8)	13 (46.4)		
Pneumonia, n (%)					
Absent	17 (27.4)	16 (47.1)	1 (3.6)	< 0.001	24 (2.9-197.3) ^{OR}
Present	45 (72.6)	18 (52.9)	27 (96.4)		
Secondary bacterial infection, n (%)					
Absent	15 (24.2)	14 (41.2)	1 (3.6)	0.001	18.9 (2.3-155.8) OR
Present	47 (75.8)	20 (58.8)	27 (96.4)		
Intubation					
Absent	36 (58.1)	32 (94.1)	4 (14.3)	< 0.001	96 (16.2-568.1) OR
Present	26 (41.9)	2 (5.9)	24 (85.7)		
D-dimer, median (Q1/Q3), $\mu g/dL$	1.03 (0.37 / 2.22)	0.765 (0.28 / 1.2)	1.49 (0.765 / 2.925)	0.001	
D-dimer, n (%)					
≤ 1.2	37 (59.7)	26 (76.5) sp	11 (39.3)	0.002 rc	0.709 (0.067) ^{AUC} (SE) 5.02 (1.7-15.04) OR
> 1.2	25 (40.3)	8 (23.5)	17 (60.7) ss		

Table 2 contunied. Comparison of alive and dead patients in terms of clinical and demographic data

OR = Odds Ratio; CI = Confidence interval, rc Roc (Receiver Operating Curve) Analysis (Honley&Mc Nell - Youden index J), AUC = Area under the ROC curve; SE = Standard Error.

^{ss} Sensitivity; ^{sp} Specificity; SD = standard deviation, Q1, 25th percentile; Q3, 75th percentile; Q1/Q3, 25th percentile / 75th percentile.

study, the mortality rate of COVID-19 in hematological disorders was 45.2% showing a range of 25% to 100% according to the type of the hematological disorder. This shows that mortality rates and clinical course of COVID-19 in specific underlying diseases and conditions can be very different compared to general population. The highest mortality rates were observed in ITP, AML and NHL with 100%, 57.9% and

29.4% of the patients respectively. The findings of our study support the data published in the literature on the expected high mortality of COVID-19 in cancer patients.

Our study is important for showing the results of 62 patients with co-occurrence of COVID-19 and hematological disorders in a single center, while individual health-care centers and physicians only see a
Table 5. Survival estimates in dead and anye patients in terms of chincal and demographic data							
	Dead	Alive	According to Duration of Hospitalization for COVI 19 (Days)				
			Estimate Survival	Estimate Proportion Surviving at	р		
	n (%)	n (%)	Mean ± SE	7 / 14 / 28 days (SE)			
Overall	28 (45.2)	34 (54.8)	26.7 (3.17)	86.4 (4.5) / 90.0 (3.9) / 79.1 (5.4)			
Age							
< 65	12 (36.4)	21 (63.6)	26 (3.72)	93.4 (4.5) / 72.4 (9.1) / 44.7 (14.2)	0.779		
\geq 65	16 (55.2)	13 (44.8)	26.8 (4.52)	78.9 (7.7) / 75.3 (8.1) / 22.9 (12.4)			
Gender							
Female	15 (53.6)	13 (46.4)	25.4 (4.89)	82.0 (7.3) / 85.7 (6.6) / 74.1 (8.5)	0.466		
Male	13 (38.2)	21 (61.8)	26.9 (3.45)	90.0 (5.5) / 93.3 (4.6) / 83.1 (6.9)			
Neutropenia at COVID-19 Diagnosis							
Absent	17 (37.8)	28 (62.2)	27 (3.12)	88.4 (4.9) / 93.2 (3.8) / 80.9 (6.1)	0.229		
Present	11 (64.7)	6 (35.3)	22.4 (5.04)	80.4 (10.2) / 80.4 (10.2) / 73.7 (11.3)			
Neutropenia after COVID-19 diagnosis							
Absent	11 (30.6)	25 (69.4)	32.8 (3.87)	85.7(5.9) / 91.6 (4.7) / 79.6 (6.9)	0.210		
Present	17 (65.4)	9 (34.6)	23 (3.18)	87.5 (6.8) / 87.5 (6.8) / 78.7 (8.5)			
Disease status							
Active	17 (50.0)	17 (50.0)	27.6 (4.41)	84.4 (6.4) / 87.7 (5.8) / 81.2 (6.9)	0.991		
Remission	11 (39.3)	17 (60.7)	23.7 (2.69)	88.9 (6.1) / 92.7 (5.0) / 76.5 (8.4)			
Diabetes							
Absent	21 (42.0)	29 (58.0)	29 (3.95)	89.5 (4.5) / 91.7 (4.0) / 80.4 (5.9)	0.481		
Present	7 (58.3)	5 (41.7)	21.8 (3.9)	74.1 (12.9) / 83.3 (10.8) / 74.1 (12.9)			
Hypertension							
Absent	14 (40.0)	21 (60.0)	29.4 (5.12)	88.0 (5.6) / 91.2 (4.9) / 81.2 (6.9)	0.624		
Present	14 (51.9)	13 (48.1)	22.7 (2.44)	84.3 (7.2) / 88.3 (6.4) / 76.2 (8.5)			
Coronary disease							
Absent	19 (39.6)	29 (60.4)	29 (4.41)	91.2 (4.2) / 93.5 (3.6) / 81.7 (5.9)	0.414		
Present	9 (64.3)	5 (35.7)	21.3 (3.53)	70.1 (12.6) / 77.9 (11.3) / 70.1(12.6)			
Rheumatologic disease							
Absent	26 (43.3)	34(56.7)	27.4 (3.25)	87.7 (4.4) / 91.3 (3.7) / 82.1 (5.1)	0.001		
Present	2 (100.0)	0(0.0)	7.5 (3.5)	50.0 (35.4) / 50.0 (35.4) / 0.0 (0.0)			
Chronic obstrucive lung disease/asthma							
Absent	25 (42.4)	34 (57.6)	27.9 (3.41)	89.4 (4.1) / 91.2 (3.7) / 81.7 (5.3)	0.065		
Present	3 (100.0)	0 (0.0)	13 (6.51)	33.3 (27.2) / 66.7 (27.2) / 33.3 (27.2)			
Prior autologous stem cell transplant							
Absent	25 (47.2)	28(52.8)	27 (3.32)	88.1 (4.6) / 92.2 (3.8) / 79.6 (5.8)	0.784		
Present	3 (33.3)	6 (66.7)	18.7 (3.24)	76.2 (14.8) / 76.2 (14.8) / 76.2 (14.8)			

Table 3. Survival estimates in dead and alive patients in terms of clinical and demographic data

	Dead	Alive	According to Duration of Hospitalization for COVID- 19 (Days)		
			Estimate Survival	Estimate Proportion Surviving at	р
	n (%)	n (%)	Mean ± SE	7 / 14 / 28 days (SE)	
Prior allogeneic stem cell transplant					
Absent	24 (44.4)	30 (55.6)	27.9 (3.65)	84.3(5.1)/88.4(4.5)/77.9(5.9)	0.867
Present	4 (50.0)	4 (50.0)	23.7 (5.36)	84.3(5.1)/88.4(4.5)/85.7(13.2)	
Immunosuppressive drug use					
Absent	20 (39.2)	31 (60.8)	29.8 (3.92)	85.5 (5.1) / 87.7(4.7) / 83.3 (5.4)	0.054
Present	8 (72.7)	3 (27.3)	17.8 (3.68)	90.9 (8.7) /87.7 (4.7) /60.6 (15.4)	
Chemotherapy within 28 days					
Absent	15 (51.7)	14 (48.3)	20.4 (2.18)	89.1 (5.9) / 96.6 (3.4) /77.1 (8.3)	0.107
Present	13 (39.4)	20 (60.6)	32.7 (5.01)	83.9 (6.6)/ 83.9 (6.6)/ 80.6 (7.1)	
Pneumonia					
Absent	1 (5.9)	16 (94.1)	28.8 (1.97)	100 (0) / 100 (0) / 100 (0)	0.010
Present	27 (60.0)	18 (40.0)	23.2 (2.99)	81.3 (6.0) / 86.3 (5.2) / 71.2 (7.0)	
Secondary bacterial infection					
Absent	1 (6.7)	14(93.3)	28.3 (2.38)	100 (0) / 100 (0) / 100 (0)	0.020
Present	27 (57.4)	20 (42.6)	23.7 (3.02)	82.2 (5.7) / 86.9 (5.0) / 72.6 (6.8)	
Intubation					
Absent	4 (11.1)	32 (88.9)	41.1 (3.57)	96.9 (3.1) /96.9 (3.1) / 96.9 (3.1)	< 0.001
Present	24 (92.3)	2 (7.7)	17.8 (2.6)	73.1 (8.7) /80.8 (7.7) / 57.7 (9.7)	
D-dimer					
≤1.2	11 (29.7)	26 (70.3)	26.6 (2.19)	94.4(3.9) / 97.2(2.7) / 88.6 (5.4)	0.027
> 1.2	17 (68.0)	8 (32.0)	21.9 (4.21)	74.5(9.0) / 79.2 (8.3) / 65.2 (10.0)	

Table 3 contunied. Survival estimates in dead and alive patients in terms of clinical and demographic data

Kaplan Meier Test- Log Rank (Mantel-Cox), SE = Standard Error

few patients with both diseases. Lee *et al.* [17] studied mortality patterns from COVID-19 in cancer patients (8% and 14% had lymphomas and hematological malignancies, respectively) and found no increased risk of death. On the other hand, He *et al.* [8] studied 13 patients with hematological cancers (acute myeloid leukemia, acute lymphoblastic leukemia, plasma cell myeloma, and myelodysplastic syndromes) who developed COVID-19, and found more severe disease and a higher case fatality rate than other hospitalized patients. The higher case fatality rates may be attributed to the therapy they were receiving or due to other comorbid conditions such as diabetes, which is common in this group of patients. There was no association between the type of cancer and risk of developing COVID-19 [8]. In another study on cancer patients (8.6% had hematological cancers-leukemia, myeloma, and lymphoma) with SARS-CoV-2 infection, those with hematological cancers had the highest severity and death rate (33%). This may be because patients with hematological cancers receive more immunosuppression than those with solid tumors [22]. In our study it was observed that the presence of prior autologous or allogeneic stem cell transplantation or chemotherapy within 28 days had no effect on mortality in patients with hematological disorders with COVID-19 infection. Immunosuppressive drug use and neutropenia at diagnosis of COVID-19 infection increased mortality, although not significantly. In some studies in the literature, it was observed that COVID-19 mortality in patients with cancer was principally driven by advancing age and the presence of other non-cancer comorbidities. Chemotherapy or anticancer treatments did not necessarily increase the risk of mortality from COVID-19 [17, 19]. These observations can give confidence to oncologists and other clinicians that delivery of effective anticancer regimens should continue during this difficult time. Although male sex and older age are risk factors for increased mortality in general population [20], we observed in our study that age and gender did not affect the mortality and clinical course of COVID-19 in patients with hematological disorders. Duration of hospitalization also was not related to mortality in our patients. In order to obtain more definite results, larger group of patients are needed.

SARS-CoV-2 infection can cause several hematological abnormalities. Some cases of autoimmune cytopenias such as thrombocytopenia and hemolytic anemia have been described [23, 24]. Lymphopenia is the most common laboratory finding in patients with COVID-19. Neutrophilia predicts poor outcome and severe respiratory failure [25]. There are also cases of COVID-19 with severe neutropenia [26]. Other viral infections associated with the development of transient neutropenia are herpesvirus 6, parvovirus, EBV, adenovirus, influenza A, HIV, hepatitis C virus, and cytomegalovirus. These viruses can cause direct damage to bone marrow progenitors and trigger autoimmune destruction [27]. Neutropenia arising as a result of underlying hematologic disorders is far more significant. Such patients are at risk for infectious complications [28]. Although in our study the presence of neutropenia at the diagnosis of COVID-19 was not associated with mortality, neutropenia developed after the diagnosis of COVID-19 led to a statistically significant increase in the mortality rates. This can be due to the co-occurrence of hematological disorders and COVID-19, which is an important observation for predicting high mortality in these patients.

Presence of underlying diseases such as diabetes, hypertension, coronary diseases and asthma had no ef-

fect on mortality in our study. Disease status either active disease or remission did not affect clinical course and mortality in our patients as well. In general population, it was observed that diabetes in patients with COVID-19 was associated with a two-fold increase in mortality as well as severity of COVID-19, as compared to non-diabetics [29]. It was also found that hypertension is associated with a 2.5 fold increased risk of both increased severity and mortality in COVID-19. In a meta-regression, it was observed that this effect is mainly attributed to those over the age of 60 [30]. Also underlying cardiovascular disease is associated with an increased risk of in-hospital death among patients hospitalized with COVID-19 [31]. Studies show that asthma as a concomitant disease may not increase COVID-19 mortality [32]. Again, in some studies, the results show that there is no statistically significant relationship between asthma history and mortality, regardless of COVID-19 status (33). In the case of specific underlying diseases like hematological disorders in our study, the determinants of the clinical course of COVID-19 and mortality are affected by some different parameters like neutropenia developed after diagnosis of COVID-19 apart from the general risk factors. Additionally the presence of pneumonia, intubation, secondary bacterial infection, and a D-dimer level of >1.2 μ g/dL were associated with a statistically significant mortality in our study. Studies suggested that older age and underlying comorbidities were associated with disease severity or death of COVID-19 pneumonia patients. Pneumonia itself is one of the most important factors leading to mortality [34]. COVID-19 pneumonia is a specific disease of which the main characteristic is the dissociation between the severity of hypoxemia and the maintenance of relatively good respiratory mechanics [35]. In our study, presence of pneumonia and intubation increased mortality precisely in COVID-19 patients with hematological disorders. Intubation is a risk factor for hospital-acquired infections and also indicates the severity of clinical manifestations. Therefore, its presence increased mortality and adversely affected the clinical course. Secondary bacterial infection was also related to mortality in our study. Although low rates of pulmonary bacterial coinfection was reported in some studies in patients with COVID-19, the low rate of coinfection described seems to be underestimated [36-38].

Infection induced coagulopathy and secondary hyper-fibrinolysis has been identified in severe cases of COVID-19. As well, higher D-dimer level on admission was related to a worse prognosis [16, 39]. Anticoagulant treatment may benefit severe COVID-19 patients, especially those without cardiovascular diseases [40]. D-dimer is commonly elevated in patients with COVID-19. D-dimer level correlates with disease severity and is a reliable prognostic marker for in-hospital mortality in patients admitted for COVID-19 [41]. Coagulopathy was reported, and D-dimer elevations were seen in 3.75-68.0% of the COVID-19 patients in previous studies [16]. In a previous study, it was found that D-dimer on admission greater than 2.0 ④g/mL could effectively predict mortality in patients with COVID-19, which indicates that D-dimer can be an early and helpful marker to improve management of COVID-19 patients [42]. In our study, D-dimer level greater than $1.2 \,\mu g/dL$ was found to be associated with 5.02 fold increase in the risk of death in COVID-19 patients with hematological disorders. In our study, results parallel to the literature were obtained. When estimated survival in terms of clinical and demographic data were analyzed on the basis of duration of hospitalization for COVID-19, it was observed that presence of pneumonia, secondary bacterial infection, intubation, neutropenia after the diagnosis of COVID-19 and a D-dimer level of > 1.2 had a negative effect on the estimated survival of the patients. Besides other risk factors identified, it was observed that presence of rheumatologic disease as an underlying condition also affected survival negatively in COVID-19 patients with hematological disorders. In a previous study, it was reported that rheumatic disease activity might be associated with mortality. Inflammation was closely related to severity of COVID-19 [43].

CONCLUSION

Although the clinical course and determinants of mortality in COVID-19 patients with hematological disorders are parallel to the literature to a certain extent, they have some distinctive features. In our study, mortality rate of COVID-19 in hematological disorders was 45.2% which is very high compared to general patients showing a range of 25 to 100 % according to diagnosis. This shows that mortality rate and clinical course of COVID-19 in specific underlying diseases and conditions can be very different compared to general population. Age, sex, disease status, duration of hospitalization, presence of hypertension, diabetes and coronary disease were not associated with mortality. Immunosuppressive drug use and neutropenia at diagnosis of COVID-19 infection somewhat increased mortality although not statistically significant. Ddimer level above 1.2 μ g/mL has a high predictive value for mortality. In our study, it was observed that presence of prior autologous or allogeneic stem cell transplantation, chemotherapy within 28 days and immunosuppressive therapy had no effect on mortality in patients with hematological disorders with COVID-19 infection. These observations can give confidence to clinicians that delivery of effective anticancer regimens should continue during this difficult pandemic. The presence of pneumonia, secondary bacterial infection, intubation and neutropenia developed after the diagnosis of COVID-19 were associated with a statistically significant mortality.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: BD, RS; Study Design: BD, RS; Supervision: RS, LD; Funding: N/A; Materials: MYT; Data Collection and/or Processing: AA, GA, BÜ, MYA; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: TT; Literature Review: BD; Manuscript Preparation: BD and Critical Review: BD, RS.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Yuen K-S, Ye Z-W, Fung S-Y, Chan C-P, Jin D-Y. SARS-CoV-2 and COVID-19: the most important research questions. Cell Biosci 2020;10:1-5.

2. Organization WH. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): situation report, 73. 2020.

3. Lapostolle F, Schneider E, Vianu I, Dollet G, Roche B, Berdah J, et al. Clinical features of 1487 COVID-19 patients with outpatient management in the Greater Paris: the COVID-call study.

Intern Emerg Med 2020;15:813-7.

4. Barlow-Pay F, Htut TW, Khezrian M, Myint PK. Systematic review of immunosuppressant guidelines in the COVID-19 pandemic. Ther Adv Drug Safety 2021;12:2042098620985687.

5. Girmenia C, Gentile G, Micozzi A, Petrucci L, Malaspina F, Di Prima A, et al. COVID-19 in patients with hematologic disorders undergoing therapy: perspective of a large referral hematology center in Rome. Acta Haematol 2020;143:574-82.

6. Covid C, Team R, Covid C, Team R, COVID C, Team R, et al. Coronavirus disease 2019 in children-United States, February 12-April 2, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020;69:422-6. 7. Fung M, Babik JM. COVID-19 in immunocompromised hosts: what we know so far. Cli Infect Dis 2021;72:340-50.

8. He W, Chen L, Chen L, Yuan G, Fang Y, Chen W, et al. COVID-19 in persons with haematological cancers. Leukemia 2020;34:1637-45.

9. Wang C-C, Tseng K-C, Hsieh T-Y, Tseng T-C, Lin HH, Kao J-H. Assessing the durability of entecavir-treated hepatitis B using quantitative HBsAg. Am J Gastroenterol 2016;111:1286-94.

10. Regalado-Artamendi I, Jiménez-Ubieto A, Hernández-Rivas JÁ, Navarro B, Núñez L, Alaez C, et al. Risk factors and mortality of COVID-19 in patients with lymphoma: a multicenter study. Hemasphere 2021;5:e538.

11. Yang K, Sheng Y, Huang C, Jin Y, Xiong N, Jiang K, et al. Clinical characteristics, outcomes, and risk factors for mortality in patients with cancer and COVID-19 in Hubei, China: a multicentre, retrospective, cohort study. Lancet Oncol 2020;21:904-13.

12. Sahu KK, Siddiqui AD, Cerny J. Managing sickle cell patients with COVID-19 infection: the need to pool our collective experience. Br J Haematol 2020;190:e86-9.

13. Wu J, Liu J, Zhao X, Liu C, Wang W, Wang D, et al. Clinical characteristics of imported cases of COVID-19 in Jiangsu Province: a multicenter descriptive study. Clin Infect Dis. 2020;71:706-12.

14. Debuc B, Smadja DM. Is COVID-19 a new hematologic disease? Stem Cell Rev Rep 2021;17:4-8.

15. Tang N, Li D, Wang X, Sun Z. Abnormal coagulation parameters are associated with poor prognosis in patients with novel coronavirus pneumonia. J Thromb Haemost 2020;18):844-7.

16. Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet 2020;395:1054-62.

17. Lee LY, Cazier JB, Starkey T, Turnbull C, Team UCCMP, Kerr R, et al. COVID-19 mortality in patients with cancer on chemotherapy or other anticancer treatments: a prospective co-hort study. Lancet 2020;395:1919-26.

18. Jain A, Singh C, Dhawan R, Jindal N, Mohindra R, Lad D, et al. How to use a prioritised approach for treating hematological disorders during the COVID-19 pandemic in India? Indian J Hematol Blood Transfus 2020;36:605-15.

19. Wang H, Zhang L. Risk of COVID-19 for patients with cancer. Lancet Oncol 2020;21:e181.

20. Yanez ND, Weiss NS, Romand J-A, Treggiari MM. COVID-19 mortality risk for older men and women. BMC Public Health 2020;20:1-7. 21. Porcheddu R, Serra C, Kelvin D, Kelvin N, Rubino S. Similarity in case fatality rates (CFR) of COVID-19/SARS-COV-2 in Italy and China. J Infect Dev Ctries 2020;14:125-8.

22. Piñana JL, Martino R, García-García I, Parody R, Morales MD, Benzo G, et al. Risk factors and outcome of COVID-19 in patients with hematological malignancies. Exp Hematol Oncol 2020;9:1-16.

23. Lazarian G, Quinquenel A, Bellal M, Siavellis J, Jacquy C, Re D, et al. Autoimmune haemolytic anaemia associated with COVID-19 infection. Br J Haematol 2020;190:29-31.

24. Zulfiqar A-A, Lorenzo-Villalba N, Hassler P, Andrès E. Immune thrombocytopenic purpura in a patient with Covid-19. N Eng J Med 2020;382:e43.

25. Mozzini C, Girelli D. The role of neutrophil extracellular traps in Covid-19: only an hypothesis or a potential new field of research? Thromb Res 2020;191:26-7.

26. López-Pereira P, Iturrate I, de La Cámara R, Cardeñoso L, Alegre A, Aguado B. Can COVID-19 cause severe neutropenia? Clin Case Rep 2020;8:3349-51.

27. Shi X, Sims MD, Hanna MM, Xie M, Gulick PG, Zheng Y-H, et al. Neutropenia during HIV infection: adverse consequences and remedies. Int Rev Immunol 2014;33:511-36.

28. Boxer LA. How to approach neutropenia. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program 2012;2012:174-82.

29. Kumar A, Arora A, Sharma P, Anikhindi SA, Bansal N, Singla V, et al. Is diabetes mellitus associated with mortality and severity of COVID-19? A meta-analysis. Diabetes Metab Syndr 2020;14:535-45.

30. Lippi G, Wong J, Henry BM. Hypertension and its severity or mortality in Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): a pooled analysis. Pol Arch Intern Med 2020;130:304-9.

31. Mehra MR, Desai SS, Kuy S, Henry TD, Patel AN. Cardiovascular disease, drug therapy, and mortality in Covid-19. N Eng J Med 2020;382:e102.

32. Wang Y, Chen J, Chen W, Liu L, Dong M, Ji J, et al. Does asthma increase the mortality of patients with COVID-19?: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2021;182:76-82.

33. Lieberman-Cribbin W, Rapp J, Alpert N, Tuminello S, Taioli E. The impact of asthma on mortality in patients with COVID-19. Chest 2020;158:2290.

34. Du R-H, Liang L-R, Yang C-Q, Wang W, Cao T-Z, Li M, et al. Predictors of mortality for patients with COVID-19 pneumonia caused by SARS-CoV-2: a prospective cohort study. Eur Respir J 2020;55:2000524.

35. Gattinoni L, Chiumello D, Rossi S. COVID-19 pneumonia: ARDS or not? Crit Care 2020;24:154.

36. Rawson TM, Moore LS, Zhu N, Ranganathan N, Skolimowska K, Gilchrist M, et al. Bacterial and fungal coinfection in individuals with coronavirus: a rapid review to support COVID-19 antimicrobial prescribing. Clin Infect Dis 2020;71:2459-68.

37. Dudoignon E, Caméléna F, Deniau B, Habay A, Coutrot M, Ressaire Q, et al. Bacterial Pneumonia in COVID-19 critically ill patients: a case series. Clin Infect Dis 2021;72:905-6.

38. Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, et al. A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019.

N Eng J Med 2020;382;727-33.

39. Ji H-L, Zhao R, Matalon S, Matthay MA. Elevated plasmin (ogen) as a common risk factor for COVID-19 susceptibility. Physiol Rev 2020;100;1065-75.

40. Li Y, Zhao K, Wei H, Chen W, Wang W, Jia L, et al. Dynamic relationship between D-dimer and COVID-19 severity. Br J Haematol 2020;190:e24-7.

41. Yao Y, Cao J, Wang Q, Shi Q, Liu K, Luo Z, et al. D-dimer as a biomarker for disease severity and mortality in COVID-19

patients: a case control study. J Intensive Care 2020;8:49.

42. Zhang L, Yan X, Fan Q, Liu H, Liu X, Liu Z, et al. D-dimer levels on admission to predict in-hospital mortality in patients with Covid-19. J Thromb Haemost 2020;18(6):1324-9.

43. Santos CS, Morales CM, Álvarez ED, Castro CÁ, Robles AL, Sandoval TP. Determinants of COVID-19 disease severity in patients with underlying rheumatic disease. Clin Rheumatol 2020;39:2789-96.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.1014085

Urology

Does serum prostate specific antigen levels correlate with the prostatic inflammation in elderly patients without clinically proven prostate cancer?

Aykut Çolakerol¹^o, Mustafa Zafer Temiz¹^o, Çetin Boran²^o, Yavuz Bastug³^o, Engin Kandirali¹^o

¹Department of Urology, University of Health Science, Bagcilar Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey; ²Department of Pathology, Abant Izzet Baysal University School of Medicine, Bolu, Turkey; ³Department of Urology, University of Health Science, Haydarpasa Numune Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: To determine the whether histological prostatic inflammation correlates with serum prostate specific antigen (PSA), free PSA (fPSA) and percent of fPSA (%fPSA) levels in elderly patients without clinically proven prostate cancer.

Methods: A total of 115 patients without clinically proven prostate cancer with transrectal prostate biopsy were included in this retrospective study. Patients were divided two main groups as patients with and without histologic prostatic inflammation. A grading of the histological prostatic inflammation was performed and patients with prostatic inflammation were divided into three subgroups. The age, prostate volume, serum PSA, fPSA and %fPSA levels were compared between patients with and without prostatic inflammation. Correlation between the parameters and grade of prostatic inflammation was also investigated.

Results: Serum PSA and %fPSA levels were significantly higher in men with histologically proven prostatic inflammation (15.47 ± 15.28 ng/mL vs. 11.67 ± 8.12 ng/mL; p = 0.002 and 19.8 ± 0.7 vs. 15.79 ± 0.9 ; p = 0.01, respectively). The mean serum PSA levels were significantly different among the subgroups (p = 0.02) and prostatic inflammation correlated positively with the PSA levels (r = 0.320, p < 0.001).

Conclusions: Our findings suggested that reporting the grade of prostatic inflammation in elderly patients may help avoiding unnecessary repeat biopsies if elevated serum PSA level is the only indication for initial prostate biopsy.

Keywords: Inflammation, prostate, prostate specific antigen, elderly, men

The serum prostate-specific antigen (PSA) is the most important and widely used marker in the screening, detection, and monitoring of prostate cancer (PCa) [1]. Millions of prostate biopsies are performed annually, most commonly due to an elevated PSA level. In addition to PCa, benign conditions such as benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH) and prostatic inflammation can also increase the serum PSA levels [1, 2]. Histological findings of the prostatic inflammation in prostate biopsy or prostatectomy specimens are common in asymptomatic patients, as well as those with BPH [2]. Several studies have investigated the relationship between serum PSA level and histological prostatic inflammation in asymptomatic males; how-

Received: October 29, 2021; Accepted: January 16, 2022; Published Online: April 22, 2022



How to cite this article: Colakerol A, Temiz MZ, Boran C, Bastug Y, Kandirali E. Does serum prostate specific antigen levels correlate with the prostatic inflammation in elderly patients without clinically proven prostate cancer? Eur Res J 2022;8(4):462-467. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.1030750

Address for correspondence: Aykut Çolakerol, MD., University of Health Sciences, Bagcilar Training and Research Hospital, Department of Urology,
 Merkez Mah., Dr. Sadık Ahmet Cad., 34100 Bagcilar, Istanbul, Turkey. E-mail: aykutcolakerol@hotmail.com, GSM: +90 506 276 17 46; Phone: +90 212 440 40 00, Fax: +90 212 440 42 42

[©]Copyright © 2022 by Prusa Medical Publishing Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj ever, the results have been controversial [3-5]. The previous studies were performed using either the intensity or the extent of neutrophilic infiltration in the prostate for grading the inflammation with a relatively lower number of specimens.

In the present study, we aimed to determine whether the histological prostatic inflammation correlates with serum PSA, free PSA (fPSA) and percent of fPSA (%fPSA) levels in elderly patients without clinically proven prostate cancer.

METHODS

The institutional ethical board approved the study (Approval ID: 2017/565). Data of the patients who underwent transrectal ultrasound guided 12-core prostate biopsy between January 2004 and January 2006 due to elevated serum PSA levels or abnormal digital rectal examination findings were collected retrospectively. A total of 260 patients were identified and patients with a history of documented acute/chronic prostatitis, symptoms related to acute/chronic prostatitis, urinary tract infection and abnormal digital rectal examination findings were excluded. Previous prostate biopsy and/or surgery, radiotherapy, 5-alpha reductase inhibitor treatment, and a history of urethral catheterization and non-steroidal antiinflammatory drug usage 2 weeks before the prostate biopsy were other exclusion criteria. Moreover, patients with diagnosis of PCa or high grade prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia on the current biopsy were also excluded.

All serum PSA and fPSA levels were measured in the same institute and device (Immulite 2000, DPC, Los Angeles, CA, USA). The %fPSA was calculated as the free/total serum PSA ratio . A urine analysis was performed just before the biopsy to rule out the evidence of urinary tract infection. Transrectal ultrasonography (Logic 400 machine, GE, Milwaukee, WI) with a 7.5-MHz endorectal probe was used to determine the prostate volume and to guide the needle biopsy. The total of 12-core prostate sampling was performed during the transrectal ultrasound guided prostate biopsy (TRUS-Bx) for each man in the lateral decubitus position, using an 18-gauge needle and an automatic biopsy gun. All patients received oral ciprofloxacin (500mg twice daily) for 7 days starting from the night before the biopsy and an enema at the morning of the procedure.

The pathological specimens of the patients diagnosed with benign prostatic pathologies were underwent further histological evaluation to determine the degree of inflammation by a single uropathologist (CB). The newly designed grading system based on the intensity and the extent of the prostatic tissue neutrophilic infiltration and tissue destruction to categorize and determine the grade of prostatic inflammation was used (Table 1 and Fig. 1). The degree of prostatic inflammation was evaluated in all 12 biopsy cores and grades of the inflammation were scored from 1 to 3.

Finally, men were classified to patients with and without prostatic inflammation and the parameters were statistically compared between patients with and without prostatic inflammation. Patients with prostatic inflammation were also classified to 3 subgroups according to grade of prostatic inflammation and correlation between the parameters and grade of prostatic inflammation was also investigated.

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using SPSS-16 for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL). Test of normality was determined with Shapiro-Wilk test. Kruskal Wallis Test, Mann Whitney U Test and Spearman correlation test were used to analyze the statistical differences. The results are expressed as mean \pm SD while p < 0.05 was

 Table 1. Classification of the prostatic inflammation according to intensity and the extent of the neutrophilic infiltration

Grade of inflammation	Description
Grade 1	Scattered neutrophilic infiltrate in < 6 biopsy cores (Fig. 1A).
Grade 2	Scattered neutrophilic infiltrate in ≥ 6 biopsy cores or scattered neutrophilic infiltrate in <6 biopsy cores with intensifying in some focal areas (Fig. 1B).
Grade 3	Heavy neutrophilic infiltrate intensifying in some focal areas in \geq 6 biopsy cores and/or destruction of glands in any cores (Fig. 1C).



Fig. 1. (a) Scattered neutrophilic infiltrate in stroma, and in gland epithelia. Hematoxylineosin stain, orginal magnification ×400. (b) Conspicuous neutrophilic infiltrate in gland epithelia. Hematoxylin-eosin stain, orginal magnification ×400. (c) Destructed gland with heavy neutrophilic infiltrate. Hematoxylin-eosin stain, orginal magnification ×400.

considered as statististically significant.

RESULTS

Of the 260 men 115 met the inclusion criteria. The mean age, prostate volume, serum PSA and fPSA levels and %fPSA levels were 64.7 ± 7.56 years, 51.4 ± 24.7 cm 3, 12.66 ± 10.73 ng/mL and 17.52 ± 1.2 , respectively. Prostatic inflammation was diagnosed in 50 (43.47%) patients. Mean serum PSA and %fPSA levels were significantly higher in men with histologically proven prostatic inflammation (15.47 ± 15.28 ng/mL vs. 11.67 ± 8.12 ng/mL; p = 0.002 and 19.8 ± 0.7 vs. 15.79 ± 0.9 ; p = 0.01, respectively). However, the mean age (65.4 ± 7.0 vs. 63.3 ± 9.8 years), serum fPSA level (2.09 ± 1.44 vs. 2.67 ± 4.2 ng/mL) and

prostate volume (51.7 \pm 24.0 vs. 51.86 \pm 27.1 cm3) were similar in patients with and without prostatic inflammation (p = 0.32, p = 0.08 and p = 0.42, respectively).

Table 2 summarizes the demographics and characteristics of the patients among the prostatic inflammation subgroups. Mean age and prostate volume were similar between the subgroups (p = 0.27 and p =0.64, respectively). In the subgroup analysis, the grade of prostatic inflammation was significantly correlated with the serum PSA levels (r = 0.320, p < 0.001). The mean PSA level of the patients with grade 3 prostatic inflammation was significantly higher than those of with grade 1 inflammation (p = 0.001). Serum fPSA levels, on the other hand, were similar among different groups (p = 0.07). However, percent of fPSA was correlated negatively with the grade of prostatic inflam-

	1 4 • 4 • 1	41	4	1.	4	• •	. .			
anie / Patient	characteristics and	The	narameters	according	TA	intiamn	nation	cun	orom	nc
$1 \mathbf{a} \mathbf{y} \mathbf{i} \mathbf{v} \mathbf{z}_{0} 1 \mathbf{a} \mathbf{u} \mathbf{i} \mathbf{v} \mathbf{i} \mathbf{u}$	characteristics and	unu	par annuur s	according	ιU	1111141111	lauvii	SUD	21 VU	P 3
									. .	

Characteristics	Inflammatio	Inflammation severity within the prostate gland			<i>p</i> value
	Grade 1	Grade 2	Grade 3		
Patients (n)	30	11	9		
Age (year)	65.0 ± 8.9	61.3 ± 5.9	60.2 ± 6.1		0.27*
Prostate volume (cm3)	47.5 ± 23.2	56.3 ± 30.4	61.0 ± 34.0		0.64*
PSA (ng/ml)	13.8 ± 10.3	13.3 ± 10.8	29.0± 29.7	< 0.001 † r = 0.320	0.02*
fPSA (ng/ml)	$2.09 \pm \! 1.8$	2.05 ± 2.5	5.4 ± 8.3		0.07*
%fPSA	16.2 ± 0.7	15.6 ± 1.2	13 ± 1.9	0.01 † r = - 0.286	0.06*

Data presented as mean \pm standard deviation. PSA = prostate-specific antigen, fPSA = free prostate-specific antigen. *Kruskal Wallis Test, †Spearman correlation test. mation (r = -0.286, p = 0.01).

DISCUSSION

With the widespread application of PSA based screening, most of the current prostate biopsies are performed due to elevated PSA levels [1]. However, an important percentage of these patients do not have PCa as other factors such as BPH, prostate volume, and the age of the patients can also result in increased PSA levels [1]. On the other hand, TRUS-Bx may fail to detect cancer in up to 30% of patients [6], making the faith of the patients with negative biopsies more challenging. However, excluding the patients with elevated PSA levels because of benign conditions may decrease the necessity of repeated prostate biopsies. In the present study, we found that serum PSA level were significantly higher in men with prostatic inflammation. Moreover, we determined a significant correlation between serum PSA level and prostatic inflammation, graded on a 3-point scale. Approximately 70 to 90% of PSA is bound to alpha-1-antichymotripsin in serum and called total PSA. The remaining 10 to 30% of the PSA which is not bound to serum proteins represents the fPSA. As such in PSA, there are controversial results about the correlation between prostatic inflammation and serum fPSA and %fPSA levels [3, 4]. Our findings revealed that despite fPSA levels were comparable among the groups, %fPSA was significantly lower in patients with prostatic inflammation. A negative correlation with %fPSA and prostatic inflammation were also determined. We thought that it could be explained by the increased serum total PSA levels with prostatic inflammation, while the fPSA was stable. In our opinion, according to our results, unnecessary repeat biopsies may be avoided in elderly patients with elevated serum PSA levels who have high grade prostatic inflammation and normal digital rectal examination findings. In this group of men, the only determinant of elevated serum PSA levels seems to be prostatic inflammation without histologic PCa and its indicator abnormal digital examination findings. Therefore, detailed intensity and extent of neutrophilic infiltration within the prostate gland should be provided in the pathology reports of the biopsies. However, the possibility of PCa should always be kept in mind, and these patients

should be closely followed up with serial digital rectal examination and serum PSA measurements. Or, as such in recent years, the use of various imaging techniques such as contrast-enhanced ultrasound, sonoelastography, and multiparametric prostate magnetic resonance imaging (mpMRI) may be rationale [7-9].

Two possible mechanisms exist explaining why prostatic inflammation increases the serum PSA levels. One of them is, the epithelial cells surrounding the affected area may be stimulated to produce PSA through unknown substances released in association with the inflammatory processes [10]. The other possible mechanism is that the disturbance of the prostate duct integrity by the inflammation causes leakage of PSA from the acini and ductal lumina to the interstitium [11]. It seems that our findings may support both of the mechanisms. However, higher serum PSA levels with higher grade which exhibits significant destruction of the prostate tissue clearly supported the second mechanism. In the literature, whereas some previous reports have not showed an association between the serum PSA level and prostatic inflammation, several studies have successfully demonstrated clear evidences about the association between them [3, 5, 12-14]. Hasui et al. [14] investigated a total of 42 patients who underwent transurethral resection of the prostate (TURP) and demonstrated a statistically significant positive correlation between histological acute prostatitis and serum PSA levels with a 0.765 correlation coefficient. However, the authors reported that the correlation between serum PSA and the extent of chronic-inactive prostatitis was not significant [14]. Okada et al. [5] also confirmed the findings of Hasui et al using TRUS-Bx specimens. The authors investigated the correlation between histological prostatic inflammation and serum PSA level in 93 patients and found that the degree of acute inflammation was the only parameter correlating significantly with serum PSA levels in patients with a prostate volume smaller than 25 mL [5]. In 2012, Man et al. [15] reported that the aggressiveness and extent of prostatic inflammation in 120 asymptomatic prostatitis patients were significantly correlated with level of serum PSA. The other study published by Stimac et al. [4] in 2014 reported a significant negative correlation of inflammation aggressiveness with fPSA (r = -0.31, p = 0.001) and %fPSA (r = -0.43, p < 0.001), but not with PSA, in 106 patients with lower than 10 ng/mL PSA levels.

In a large sample study investigated 6238 men aged 50 years to 75 years with PSA levels between 2.5 ng/mL and 10 ng/mL, it has been reported that prostatic inflammation upon first biopsy reduces the odds of PCa in repeat biopsies, presumably reflecting an elevated PSA as a result of inflammation (16]. A most recent study published by Kato et al. [17] in 2016 which attempted to clarify the association between PCa detection and various risk factors in 24-core repeat saturation biopsies has revealed that patients with asymptomatic inflammation appear to have a lower risk of PCa. The authors concluded that it should be considered that inflammation may cause persistent elevated PSA in patients with a negative initial biopsy, leading to unnecessary repeat biopsy [17]. Almost all previous papers used grading systems relying either on the intensity or extent of inflammation [5, 18]. In the present study, the inflammation was categorized more profoundly, using both the intensity and the extent of inflammation. We evaluated all the 12 specimens, as well, for each patient which may predict the extent of the inflammation more precisely. We took into consideration the age, prostate volume and digital rectal examination findings of the patients, three parameters with proven effects on PSA levels, as well. In our opinion, the most important superiority of the current study was the exclusion of patients with positive digital rectal examination findings even if they had no PCa diagnosis on TRUS-Bx. Therefore, the exclusion of PCa diagnosis was performed optimally in our study cohort and strengthened our results. In 2015, Umbehr et al. [19] investigated the association of intraprostatic inflammation and serum PSA in 224 men excluding the patients with abnormal digital rectal examination findings and histologically diagnosed PCa. Nevertheless, they considered only patients with serum PSA levels < 4 ng/mL. The authors found that prostatic inflammation was associated with higher serum PSA. Our findings were comparable with Umbehr et al.'s results [19] and we confirmed their report in men with any PSA levels. Finally, a recent systematic literature review published in 2018 and investigated two randomized trials and nine cohort studies with a total 1011 patients have demonstrated that antibiotic treatment exhibit a decrease in serum PSA levels of the patients with asymptomatic prostatitis [20]. Result of that systematic literature review can be accepted as a clear evidence of the elevated serum PSA

levels with chronic inflammation. And, our findings were coherent with this hypothesis.

Limitations

The present study had some limitations. First the efficacy and reproducibility of the grading system has not been validated. Secondly, the inflammatory cells were only visually determined based on hematoxylineosin staining and morphology. We did not stain for immune cell surface markers and did not use image analysis. Thirdly, we could have performed mpMRI to exclude the diagnosis of PCa more successfully. We think that it can be an interesting topic for future researches. Beyond the limitations, the exclusion of patients with suspicious digital rectal examination findings even if they had no PCa diagnosis on TRUS-Bx provided an optimal exclusion of PCa diagnosis and strengthened our findings.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, prostatic inflammation was correlated with serum PSA and %fPSA levels. We concluded that histologically proven prostatic inflammation may be used to prevent unnecessary repeat prostate biopsies in elderly patients who underwent TRUS-BX and diagnosed with benign pathologies. However, more investigations are needed and furtherstudies are awaited. Moreover, the possibility of PCa should be kept in mind, and these patients should be followed periodically.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: EK, AÇ; Study Design: MZT, ÇB; Supervision: EK; Funding: EK; Materials: ÇB, YB; Data Collection and/or Processing: AÇ, YB; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: MZT, ÇB; Literature Review: AÇ, YB; Manuscript Preparation: AÇ, MZT and Critical Review: ÇB, EK.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Polascik TJ, Oesterling JE, Partin AW. Prostate specific antigen: a decade of discovery--what we have learned and where we are going. J Urol 1999;162:293-306.

2. Kawakami J, Siemens DR, Nickel JC. Prostatitis and prostate cancer: implications for prostate cancer screening. Urology 2004;64:1075-80.

3. Morote J, Lopez M, Encabo G, de Torres IM. Effect of inflammation and benign prostatic enlargement on total and percent free serum prostatic specific antigen. Eur Urol 2000;37:537-40.

Stimac G, Spajic B, Reljic A, Katusic J, Popovic A, Grubisic I, et al. Effect of histological inflammation on total and free serum prostate-specific antigen values in patients without clinically detectable prostate cancer. Korean J Urol 2014;55:527-32.
 Okada K, Kojima M, Naya Y, Kamoi K, Yokoyama K, Takamatsu T, et al. Correlation of histological inflammation in needle biopsy specimens with serum prostate-specific antigen levels in men with negative biopsy for prostate cancer. Urology 2000;55: 892-8.

6. Fleshner NE, O'Sullivan M, Fair WR. Prevalence and predictors of a positive repeat transrectal ultrasound guided needle biopsy of the prostate. J Urol 1997;158:505-8; discussion 508-9. 7. Sano F, Uemura H. The utility and limitations of contrast-enhanced ultrasound for the diagnosis and treatment of prostate cancer. Sensors 2015;15:4947-57.

8. Ma Q, Yang DR, Xue BX, Wang C, Chen HB, Dong Y, et al. Transrectal real-time tissue elastography targeted biopsy coupled with peak strain index improves the detection of clinically important prostate cancer. Oncol Lett 2017;14:210-6.

9. Lee KS, Koo KC, Cho KS, Lee SH, Han WK, Choi YD, et al. Indications for a second prostate biopsy in patients suspected with prostate cancer after an initial negative prostate biopsy. Prostate Int 2017;5: 24-8.

10. Papsidero LD, Kuriyama M, Wang MC, Horoszewicz J, Leong SS, Valenzula L, et al. Prostate antigen: a marker for human prostate epithelial cells. J Natl Cancer Inst 1981;66:37-42.

11. Irani J, Levillain P, Goujon JM, Bon D, Doré B, Aubert J. Inflammation in benign prostatic hyperplasia: correlation with prostate specific antigen value. J Urol 1997;157:1301-3. 12. Kwak C, Ku JH, Kim T, Park DW, Choi KY, Lee E, et al. Effect of subclinical prostatic inflammation on serum PSA levels in men with clinically undetectable prostate cancer. Urology 2003;62:854-9.

13. Ornstein DK, Smith DS, Humphrey PA, Catalona WJ. The effect of prostate volume, age, total prostate specific antigen level and acute inflammation on the percentage of free serum prostate specific antigen levels in men without clinically detectable prostate cancer. J Urol 1998;159:1234-7.

14. Hasui Y, Marutsuka K, Asada Y, Ide H, Nishi S, Osada Y. Relationship between serum prostate specific antigen and histological prostatitis in patients with benign prostatic hyperplasia. Prostate 1994;2:91-6.

15. Man LB, Li GZ, Huang GL, Wang JW, Liu BY. [Aggressiveness and extent of prostatic inflammation relates with serum PSA levels in type IV prostatitis]. Zhonghua Nan Ke Xue 2012;18:710-4. [articlre in Chinese]

16. Moreira DM, Nickel JC, Gerber L, Muller RL, Andriole GL, Castro-Santamaria R, et al. Baseline prostate inflammation is associated with a reduced risk of prostate cancer in men undergoing repeat prostate biopsy: results from the REDUCE study. Cancer 2014;120:190-6.

17. Kato T, Komiya A, Morii A, Iida H, Ito T, Fuse H. Analysis of repeated 24-core saturation prostate biopsy: Inverse association between asymptomatic histological inflammation and prostate cancer detection. Oncol Lett 2016;12:1132-8.

18. Simardi LH, Tobias-MacHado M, Kappaz GT, Taschner Goldenstein P, Potts JM, Wroclawski ER. Influence of asymptomatic histologic prostatitis on serum prostate-specific antigen: a prospective study. Urology 2004;64:1098-101.

19. Umbehr MH, Gurel B, Murtola TJ, Sutcliffe S, Peskoe SB, Tangen CM, et al. Intraprostatic inflammation is positively associated with serum PSA in men with PSA <4 ng/ml normal DRE and negative for prostate cancer. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis 2015;18:264-9.

20. Buddingh KT, Maatje MGF, Putter H, Kropman RF, Pelger RCM. Do antibiotics decrease prostate-specific antigen levels and reduce the need for prostate biopsy in type IV prostatitis? A systematic literature review. Can Urol Assoc J 2018;12:E25-30.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.977242

Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation

Evaluation of central neuropathic pain and its relationship with quality of life in patients with stroke: a cross-sectional study

Uğur Ertem[®], Jale İrdesel[®]

Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Bursa Uludağ University School of Medicine, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Unlike other complications in stroke patients, central post-stroke pain (CPSP) can sometimes be underestimated and overlooked. Considering the morbidities caused by CPSP in patients, it is clear that it is actually a very important problem. The aim of this study is to investigate the frequency of CPSP, the factors that cause CPSP, and the relationship between CPSP and individuals' quality of life and ambulation.

Methods: A cross-sectional study was conducted on a group of patients with stroke. 140 stroke patients were included in the study. The neuropathic pain was assessed with The Leeds Assessment of Neuropathic Symptoms and Signs (LANSS) pain scale, quality of life was assessed with Short Form 36 (SF-36) Questionnaire, and ambulation was evaluated according to the Functional Ambulation Classification (FAC). In addition, a special evaluation form was created for this study. With this form, the demographic characteristics of the patients, the type of stroke, the brain region affected by the stroke and the affected hemisphere were recorded. The patients were divided into two groups. Group 1 included patients with CPSP, and group 2 included patients who could not meet the diagnosis of neuropathic pain according to the LANSS pain scale, regardless of other pain types. Results: CPSP was detected in 23 (16.5%) of 140 patients. CPSP was statistically significantly higher in female patients (p = 0.006). There was no statistically significant difference between the two groups in terms of other demographic characteristics (p < 0.05). There was no significant difference between the two groups in terms of affected cerebral region and stroke type (p < 0.05), but CPSP was found to be statistically significantly higher in patients with left hemispheric involvement (p = 0.003). Emotional role restriction, body pain, social function, general health and mental health subcategory scores of SF-36 were found to be significantly lower in group 1 than in group 2 (p > 0.05). In addition, when the two groups were compared in terms of ambulation levels, the rate of patients with FAC 2 and below was 73% in group 1, while this rate was 34.1% in group 2. **Conclusions:** It was concluded that CPSP is a common problem and negatively affects the quality of life. Therefore, CPSP should be recognized in the early period after stroke and treatments should be arranged accordingly.

Keywords: Neuropathic pain, stroke, quality of life

A ccording to the International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP), central post-stroke pain (CPSP) is a central neuropathic pain condition in which pain arises as a direct result of a cerebrovascular lesion in the central somatosensory nervous system [1]. The prevalence of CPSP has been reported to be

Received: August 1, 2021; Accepted: January 25, 2022; Published Online: April 14, 2022



How to cite this article: Ertem U, İrdesel J. Evaluation of central neuropathic pain and its relationship with quality of life in patients with stroke: a cross-sectional study. Eur Res J 2022;8(4):468-474. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.977242

Address for correspondence: Uğur Ertem, MD., Bursa Uludağ University School of Medicine, Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation,
 Görükle Kampusu Nilüfer, 16240, Bursa, Turkey. E-mail: ugurertem@uludag.edu.tr, Phone: +90 224 295 08 41, Fax: +90 295 00 19, GSM: +90 555 600 70 54

[©]Copyright © 2022 by Prusa Medical Publishing Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj 11% [2]. Many complications can occur after stroke. One of these complications is the formation of CPSP. Although about 50% of stroke patients suffer from chronic pain, this can be overlooked [3].

There is an inversely proportional relationship between stroke severity and disability and quality of life [4]. The decrease in quality of life after stroke is not just related to stroke. Complications that occur after stroke can also negatively affect the quality of life of individuals. Depression, low socioeconomic status, fatigue, physical disability, female gender, residence in a nursing home, situations requiring social assistance, presence of pain in the affected limbs, situations requiring soft diet or tube feeding, and lack of physical exercise adversely affect the quality of life in poststroke patients [5-7]. One of the complications that negatively affect the quality of life is the occurrence of CPSP. CPSP can adversely affect the quality of life by disrupting sleep quality and causing depression [8]. Also, neuropathic pain severity may be associated with decreased quality of life [9]. Therefore, CPSP should not be considered as a simple pain syndrome.

The aim of this study is to evaluate the frequency of CPSP, the effects of CPSP on quality of life and ambulation in stroke patients, and to determine the factors that may cause CPSP formation.

METHODS

Study Design

This study was conducted as a cross-sectional study between May 2016 and January 2018. The ethics committee approval for this study was made by Bursa Uludag University Faculty of Medicine Clinical Research Ethics Committee (decision no: 2016-8/20, date: April 26, 2016).

One hundred fourty patients diagnosed with stroke

who were evaluated in an outpatient clinic or clinic were included in the study. Patients were divided into two groups. Group 1 included patients with CPSP and Group 2 patients without CPSP (Fig. 1). The patients included in Group 2 were selected from patients who could not meet the neuropathic pain criteria according to The Leeds Assessment of Neuropathic Symptoms and Signs (LANSS) pain scale, regardless of other pain types. Demographic data including age, gender, education level, and marital status were recorded. In addition, stroke type, number of previous strokes, time to post-stroke evaluation, affected brain region and hemisphere were recorded.

Patients older than 18 years of age and with sufficient cognitive level to answer the survey questions were included in the study. Patients who applied to the hospital or received treatment due to neuropathic pain complaints and patients with other conditions that may cause neuropathic pain (polyneuropathy, carpar tunnel syndrome, etc.) were not included in the study.

All patients who met the study criteria were informed of the study and a written consent was obtained.

Measures

Pain Assessment Tools - LANSS Pain Scale

Central neuropathic pain was evaluated with the LANSS pain scale. The total score on this scale is 24. Pain with scores of 12 and above is considered to be neuropathic pain. The LANSS pain scale was first used clinically by Bennett [10] to distinguish neuropathic pain from nociceptive pain. The Turkish validity and reliability of the LANSS pain scale was made by Yücel *et al.* [11] in 2004.

Assessment of Health-Related Quality of Life - Short Form 36 Questionnaire (SF-36)

SF-36 is a scale that evaluates the general health



Fig. 1. Study flow diagram.

status with 36 questions in 8 subcategories including physical function, physical role restriction, emotional role restriction, body pain, social function, mental health, vitality and general health [12]. The Turkish validity and reliability of the SF-36 was made by Koçyiğit *et al.* [13] in 1999.

Assessment of Functional Level - Functional Ambulation Classification (FAC)

This scale was used to determine the level of functional ambulation. Patients with FAC 2 and below require varying degrees of manual support for ambulation, depending on their level [14].

Statistical Analysis

All data were analyzed using SPSS 23 for Windows (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Whether the data showed normal distribution was examined by Shapiro-Wilk test. In descriptive statistics for continuous data, it was stated as mean \pm standard deviation for variables with normal distribution and as median (minimum-maximum) for variables not showing normal distribution. Dependent sample t-tests and Mann– Whitney U tests were used to examine and compare the relationship between the characteristics of the sample. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Study Population

A total of 140 patients (66 female and 74 male) were enrolled in this study. The mean age of the patients was 62.4 ± 9.9 years. One hundred thirty of the patients were married and 10 were single. Fourty-two patients were illiterate, 70 patients were primary school graduates, 11 patients were high school graduates, and 17 patients were university graduates (Table 1).

Stroke Characteristics

The mean evaluation period of the patients with the occurrence of stroke was 7.2 ± 2.2 months. 43 of the patients (30.7%) had right hemiplegia, 97 (69.3%) patients had left hemiplegia; while the lesion site was in the extra-thalamic area in 99 (71.4%) patients, the lesion site was in the thalamic area in 41 (28.6%) patients. 30 (21.4%) of the patients had hemorrhagic stroke, and 110 (78.6%) had ischemic stroke (Table 1).

CPSP

While CPSP was observed in 23 (16.5%) patients, it was not observed in 117 (83.5%) patients. In cases

		n	%
Marital status	Maried	130	92.8
	Single	10	7.2
Education status	İlliterate	42	30.0
	Primary school	70	50.0
	High school	11	7.8
	University	17	12.2
Gender	Female	66	47.1
	Male	74	52.9
Affected hemisphere	Right hemisphere	111	79.3
	Left hemisphere	29	20.7
Affected cerebral localization	Thalamic	41	28.6
	Extra-thalamic	99	71.4
Stroke type	Hemorrhagic	30	21.4
	Ischemic	110	78.6

Table 1. Demographic and clinical characteristics of the participants

n = number of patients, % = percentage of patients

	Group 1 (n = 23)	Group 2 (n = 117)	<i>p</i> value
Gender			0.006
Female/male, n (%)	17/6 (73.9/26.1)	49/68 (41.9/58.1)	
Age (years) (mean \pm SD)	$\boldsymbol{61.18 \pm 9.86}$	64.15 ± 7.65	0.530
Affected hemisphere			0.003
Right/left, n (%)	8/15 (34.8/65.2)	89/28 (76.1/23.9)	
Affected cerebral region			0.384
Thalamic/extra-thalamic, n (%)	5/18 (21.7/78.3)	36/81 (30.8/69.2)	
Stroke type			0.407
Hemorrhagic/ischemic, n (%)	3/20 (12.0/87.0)	27/90 (23.1/76.9)	

Table 2. Central post-stroke pain and related factors

n = number of patients, % = percentage of patients, SD = standard deviation, Group 1 = patients with central post-stroke pain, Group 2 = patients without central post-stroke pain.

with CPSP, the median time from the time of stroke to the onset of neuropathic pain was 2 (0-12) months.

CPSP and Demographic Data

Seventeen (73.9%) of 23 patients with CPSP were female. Statistically, the frequency of CPSP in female patients was found to be significantly higher than in male patients (p = 0.006). There was no statistically significant relationship between CPSP and age (p = 0.530) (Table 2).

CPSP and Stroke Characteristics

There was no significant difference between the two groups in terms of the affected cerebral region and

stroke type (p > 0.05). But CPSP was significantly more common in patients with left hemispheric involvement (p = 0.003) (Table 2).

CPSP and Quality of Life

Emotional role restriction, body pain, social function, general health and mental health subcategories of the SF-36 were found to be significantly lower in group 1 compared to group 2 (p < 0.05). There was no statistically significant difference between the two groups between other SF-36 subcategories (p > 0.05) (Table 3).

CPSP and Ambulation

Table 5. The relationship between central post-stroke pain and quanty of me						
SF-36 subcategories	Group 1 (n = 23)	Group 2 (n = 117)	<i>p</i> value			
Physical function	70.0 (10.00)	67.5 (10.05)	0.442			
r nysical function	/0.0 (10-90)	07.3 (10-93)	0.442			
Physical role restriction	25.0 (0-100)	25.0 (0-100)	0.160			
Emotional role restriction	0.0 (0-33)	33.0 (0-100)	< 0.001			
Body pain	30.0 (0-50)	80.0 (40-100)	< 0.001			
Social funtion	30.0 (0-60)	50.0 (20-90)	< 0.001			
Mental health	20.0 (0-60)	40.0 (0-80)	< 0.001			
Viality	0.0 (0-20)	0.0 (0-60)	0.780			
General health	25.0 (0-50)	50.0 (0-100)	< 0.001			

Table 3. The relationship between central post-stroke pain and quality of life

Variables are presented as median (min-max). Group 1 = patients with central post-stroke pain, Group 2 = patients without central post-stroke pain.

Patients with FAC 2 and below require varying degrees of manual support for ambulation, depending on their level. That's why we divided the patients according to whether they need manual support or not. While the rate of patients with FAC 2 and below was 73% in group 1, this rate was 34.1% in group 2 (Fig. 2).

DISCUSSION

In our study, the prevalence of CPSP was found to be 16.5%. Liampas *et al.* reported the prevalence of CPSP as 11% [2]. In one study, the minimum prevalence of absolute or probable CPSP was 7.3%, and the prevalence of CPSP-like dysesthesia or pain was 8.6% [15]. In another study, CPSP was detected in 8% of 166 stroke patients [16]. In a study conducted in Nigeria, the prevalence of CPSP was found to be 5% [17]. This variation in the literature may be due to selection criteria, evaluation time of patients, and the different ethnic populations studied.

There are studies in the literature showing that CPSP may be related to demographic characteristics of patients. Post-stroke pain found to be associated with female gender [18]. No relationship was found between CPSP and gender in another study [19]. In the study of Osama *et al.*, the mean age of patients with CPSP was significantly lower than for patients without CPSP [20]. Kılıç *et al.* [19] found no relationship be-

tween age and CPSP. In our study, CPSP was significantly more common in women than in men (p = 0.006). Considering that pain syndromes are more common in female gender, we can say that our study is similar to the literature. Conversely, we found no relationship between age and CPSP.

In our study, there was no significant difference between the two groups in terms of affected cerebral region and stroke type, but CPSP was significantly more common in patients with left hemisphere involvement. We found that among stroke features, only the affected hemisphere was associated with CPSP. However, many studies show that the affected cerebral region is associated with CPSP. One study found that CPSP formation was associated with the cortical or thalamic location of stroke [21]. In another study, the brain regions most associated with CPSP risk were the anterior/middle cingulate cortex, insula, thalamus, and lower parietal lobe [22]. Harno et al. [23] found that the area affected in stroke was not associated with CPSP. There are different results in the literature regarding the relationship between CPSP and stroke characteristics. However, in general, we can say that CPSP is more common in strokes with thalamic involvement. Contrary to the literature, in the current study, no relationship was found between the affected brain region and CPSP. We think that this difference may be due to the different time of questioning the patients in terms of neuropathic pain.





In our study, some subcategories of SF-36 were lower in patients with CPSP than in patients without CPSP. In the study of Şahin et al. [24], some subcategories of SF-36 (emotional role restriction, social function, mental health, vitality and general health) were found to be significantly lower in patients with CPSP. In another study, CPSP was found to be associated with quality of life [25]. In the study of Gökkaya et al. [26], it was determined that quality of life in stroke patients was related to functional status, gender, education, presence of comorbidity and psychological factors. Gorst et al. [27] found that foot and ankle disorders such as pain, altered somatosensory input, and weakness contributed significantly to ambulation, balance, and fear of falling problems in stroke patients. In another study, neurological symptoms, cognitive function, and initial neuroimaging findings were found to be useful in predicting independent walking in patients with thalamic hemorrhage [28]. There are many studies showing that pain in stroke, and especially CPSP, affects quality of life. In our study, it was found that the quality of life was negatively affected in the presence of CPSP, which was consistent with the literature. There is not enough data in the literature showing the relationship between ambulation and CPSP. In our study, the presence of CPSP caused poor ambulation results. We think that this may be due to both the negative effects of pain on patients' ambulation and the higher incidence of CPSP in severe and widespread strokes, which cause worse functional outcomes.

Limitations

The missing aspects of our study; The fact that the included patients were not distributed homogeneously in terms of age and involved lesion location made it difficult to evaluate the effect of the involved hemispheric area on the development of CPSP. In addition, since we grouped patients only as thalamic and extrathalamic according to the lesion location, widespread or limited infarcts, affected brain structure and other extra factors were not taken into account. Apart from this, evaluation of patients at different times may have affected the prevalence of CPSP. In addition, the fact that the spasticity of the cases was not evaluated and more sensitive scales were not used to evaluate the ambulation are the weaknesses of our study.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, due to the increase in diagnosis, treatment opportunities and survival rates, the incidence of stroke patients is increasing day by day and it becomes a more important public health problem. This shows the importance of follow-up and complications of stroke patients for the individual and society. As with other complications after stroke, CPSP causes a decrease in functional capacity and loss of quality of life. Although CPSP is such an important problem, it is neglected compared to other complications. CPSP should be recognized in the early period after stroke and treatments should be arranged accordingly.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: UE, Jİ; Study Design: UE, Jİ; Supervision: UE, Jİ; Funding: N/A; Materials: N/A; Data Collection and/or Processing: UE, Jİ; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: UE, Jİ; Literature Review: UE, Jİ; Manuscript Preparation: UE, Jİ and Critical Review: UE, Jİ.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

Acknowledgement

It was presented only in Turkish as an oral presentation in a congress in our country.

REFERENCES

1. Klit HM, Finnerup NB, Jensen TS. Diagnosis, prevalence, characteristics, and treatment of central poststroke. Pain: Clin Updates 2015;23:1-7.

2. Liampas A, Velidakis N, Georgiou T, Vadalouca A, Varrassi G, Hadjigeorgiou GM, et al. Prevalence and management challenges in central post-stroke neuropathic pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Adv Ther 2020;37:3278-91.

3. Schwarzbach CJ, Grau AJ. [Complications after stroke: clinical challenges in stroke aftercare]. Der Nervenarzt 2020;91:920-5. [Article in German]

4. Ramos-Lima MJM, Brasileiro IC, Lima TL, Braga-Neto P.

Quality of life after stroke: impact of clinical and sociodemographic factors. Clinics (Sao Paulo) 2018;73:e418.

5. Choi-Kwon S, Choi JM, Kwon SU, Kang DW, Kim JS. Factors that affect the quality of life at 3 years post-stroke. J Clin Neurol 2006;2:34-41.

6. Naess H, Waje-Andreassen U, Thomassen L, Nyland H, Myhr KM. Health-related quality of life among young adults with ischemic stroke on long-term follow-up. Stroke 2006;37:1232-6.

7. Kwok T, Lo RS, Wong E, Wai-Kwong T, Mok V, Kai-Sing W. Quality of life of stroke survivors: a 1-year follow-up study. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2006;87:1177-82.

8. Xu XM, Luo H, Rong BB, Zheng XM, Wang FT, Zhang S-J, et al. Nonpharmacological therapies for central poststroke pain: a systematic review. Medicine (Baltimore) 2020;99:e2261.

9. Aprile I, Briani C, Pazzaglia C, Cecchi F, Negrini S, Padua L, et al. Pain in stroke patients: characteristics and impact on the rehabilitation treatment. A multicenter cross-sectional study. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med 2015;51:725-36.

10. Bennett M. The LANSS Pain Scale: the Leeds assessment of neuropathic symptoms and signs. Pain 2001;92:147-57.

11. Yücel A, Senocak M, Orhan EK, Cimen A, Ertas M. Results of the leeds assessment of neuropathic symptoms and signs pain scale in Turkey: a validation study. J Pain 2004;5:427-32.

12. Ware Jr JE, Sherbourne CD. The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36). I. Conceptual framework and item selection. Med Care 1992;30:473-83.

13. Koçyiğit H, Aydemir Ö, Fişek G, Ölmez N, Memiş A. Kısa Form-36 (KF-36)'nın Türkçe versiyonunun güvenilirliği ve geçerliliği. İlaç ve Tedavi Dergisi 1999;12:102-6.

14. Williams G. Functional ambulation classification. In: Kreutzer JS, DeLuca J, Caplan B, editors. Encyclopedia of Clinical Neuropsychology. New York, NY, USA: Springer, 2011: pp. 1105-6.

15. Klit H, Finnerup NB, Andersen G, Jensen TS. Central poststroke pain: a population-based study. Pain 2011;152:818-24.

16. Mhangara CT, Naidoo V, Ntsiea MV. The prevalence and management of central post-stroke pain at a hospital in Zimbabwe. Malawi Medical Journal 2020;32(3):132-8. DOI: 10.4314/mmj.v32i3.5

17. Bashir AH, Abdullahi A, Abba MA, Mukhtar NB. Central

poststroke pain: its profile among stroke survivors in Kano, Nigeria. Behav Neurol 2017;2017:9318597.

18. Naess H, Lunde L, Brogger J, Waje-Andreassen U. Poststroke pain on long-term follow-up: the Bergen stroke study. J Neurol 2010;257:1446-52.

19. Kılıç Z, Erhan B, Gündüz B, Iska Elvan G. Central poststroke pain in stroke patients: incidence and the effect on quality of life. Turk J Phys Med Rehabil 2015;61:142-7.

20. Osama A, Hagar AA, Elkholy S, Negm M, El-Razek RA, Orabi M. Central post-stroke pain: predictors and relationship with magnetic resonance imaging and somatosensory evoked potentials. Egypt J Neurol Psychiatr Neurosurg 2018;54:40.

21. Vukojevic Z, Kovacevic AD, Peric S, Grgic S, Bjelica B, Basta I, et al. Frequency and features of the central poststroke pain. J Neurol Sci 2018;391:100-3.

22. Elias GJB, De Vloo P, Germann J, Boutet A, Gramer RM, Joel SE, et al. Mapping the network underpinnings of central poststroke pain and analgesic neuromodulation. Pain 2020;161:2805-19.

23. Harno H, Haapaniemi E, Putaala J, Haanpaa M, Makela JP, Kalso E, et al. Central poststroke pain in young ischemic stroke survivors in the Helsinki Young Stroke Registry. Stroke 2013;44:1238-43.

24. Şahin-Onat Ş, Ünsal-Delialioğlu S, Kulaklı F, Özel S. The effects of central post-stroke pain on quality of life and depression in patients with stroke. J Phys Ther Sci 2016;28:96-101.

25. Choi-Kwon S, Choi SH, Suh M, Choi S, Cho K-H, Nah H-W, et al. Musculoskeletal and central pain at 1 year post-stroke: associated factors and impact on quality of life. Acta Neurol Scand 2017;135:419-25.

26. Gokkaya NKO, Aras MD, Cakci A. Health-related quality of life of Turkish stroke survivors. Int J Rehabil Res 2005;28:229-35.

27. Gorst T, Lyddon A, Marsden J, Paton J, Morrison SC, Cramp M, et al. Foot and ankle impairments affect balance and mobility in stroke (FAiMiS): the views and experiences of people with stroke. Disabil Rehabil 2016;38:589-96.

28. Hiraoka S, Maeshima S, Okazaki H, Hori H, Tanaka S, Okamoto S, et al. Factors necessary for independent walking in patients with thalamic hemorrhage. BMC Neurol 2017;17:211.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.920650

The relationship between the time factor and in-hospital mortality in the hospitalized patients

Veysi Eryiğit¹[©], MelihYüksel²[©], Mehmet Emre Erimşah³[©], Ulaş Karaaslan¹[©]

¹Department of Emergency Medicine, Balikesir State Hospital, Balikesir, Turkey; ²Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Bursa Yuksek Intisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey; ³Department of Emergency Medicine, Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal State Hospital, Bolu, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: As in-hospital deaths are encountered by all healthcare professionals, investigating the factors affecting in-hospital mortality may help to reduce the number of deaths. In this study; the relationship between time factor and in-hospital deaths is examined.

Methods: The study included all hospitalized patients who died at Balikesir State Hospital between January 01, 2014 and December 31, 2014. Time of death, workdays, and holidays were examined on a monthly and seasonal basis and at shift change times. In calculating in-hospital mortality, 'Crude Death Rate (CDR)' was used.

Results: The number of in-hospital deaths during the study period was found to be 1418. It was discovered that the number of patients hospitalized per day was 314.6 ± 46.95 , the number of hospitalized patients who died per day was 3.88 ± 2.16 , and the mean daily CDR was 12.77 ± 7.5 . Additionally, CDR was found to be as 7.56 ± 5.5 in males, while it was 5.21 ± 4.55 in females. Moreover, CDR was 13.07 ± 7.52 on workdays, whereas it was 12.07 ± 7.43 on holidays. As for seasons, CDR was found to be as 14.35 ± 8.63 in summer, while it was 11.43 ± 7.84 in winter.

Conclusions: In-hospital mortality, the death rate of males was higher than females while their average age was found to be less than females. No change was observed at shift change hours. The mortality rate increased in summer. However, no difference was found between workdays and holidays in terms of mortality rate. **Keywords:** Emergency department, mortality rate, crude death rate

ospital mortality rates are relatively easy to calculate. Administrative data with a high mortality rate are seen as a critical indicator of poor care. It is widely used to highlight clinical failures and thus to encourage hospitals to research and improve the quality of care. Although it has some imperfections, it is believed to be useful measures of hospital performance and is used in the USA, Canada, the Netherlands, Sweden and the UK [1, 2].

Approximately, 370.000-390.000 deaths occur in Turkey per year. While 60% of deaths are determined by hospitals and health centers, 40% of them are identified by the municipal medical offices, community health centers, and family physicians. The majority of deaths are non-judicial 'natural' deaths [3, 4]. In-hospital deaths are problems faced by all healthcare professionals. Although it is impossible to eliminate all these deaths, we may have a chance to reduce them.

Received: April 23, 2021; Accepted: July 26, 2021; Published Online: March 11, 2022

How to cite this article: Eryigit V, Yüksel M, Erimşah ME, Karaaslan U. The relationship between the time factor and in-hospital mortality in hospitalized patients admitted to the Emergency Medicine department. Eur Res J 2022;8(4):475-481. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.920650

Address for correspondence: Veysi Eryigit, MD., Balikesir State Hospital, Department of Emergency Medicine, Balikesir, Turkey. E-mail: veryigit35@gmail.com, GSM: +90 554 877 43 77

[©]Copyright © 2022 by Prusa Medical Publishing Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj For this purpose, to reveal the cause of death and try to prevent should be the primary target at the hospitals [5]. In addition, investigating all of the factors affecting in-hospital deaths may help reduce these deaths.

In this study, the relationship between the time factor and in-hospital deaths is questioned. Additionally, whether there were time periods in which the rate of deaths increased is investigated and possible solutions are discussed.

METHODS

Study Design and Setting

This study is observational and descriptive. All patients who died in Balikesir State Hospital (BSH) while hospitalized between January 01, 2014 and December 31, 2014 were included in this study. Throughout 2014, the number of deaths at BSH was 1418. The list and information of all patients were obtained from data processing center of BSH. During the planning phase, the date of death, demographic data, service in which they died, and the number of patients on a daily basis was recorded. In calculating in-hospital mortality, mainly "crude death rate" was used. To calculate the crude death rate, the formula; the crude death rate (CDR) = (number of died patients /number of hospitalized patients) × 1000 was used.

To examine the relationship between hospital mortality and time factors, a detailed classification on the basis of death dates, months, and seasons were made. When calculating the difference of mortality in working hours and holidays, all holidays in the country over 2014 (weekend holidays, religious holidays, public holidays) were considered. For the analysis of daily hours, a day was divided into three periods as 08: 00-16: 00, 16: 00-00: 00 and 00: 00-08: 00. In addition, to investigate whether there was a difference in shift changes, mortality was calculated in the form of 2 hour periods; 07: 00-09: 00, 09: 00-11: 00 and so on.

Sample Size Estimation

In this study; no sample size estimation test was used as all patients who died in BSH in 2014 were included in study.

Selection of Participants

All the data regarding patients who died while

hospitalized in BSH between January 01, 2014 and December 31, 2014 were obtained from data processing center. All the data related to patients was reached.

Interventions

As it is an observational-descriptive study, no intervention was made by researchers.

Methods and Measurements

Researchers recorded patients' data and tried to examine the time of death, workdays, and holidays on a monthly and seasonally basis and on shift changes.

Outcomes

Patients who died in BSH in 2014 were analyzed in terms of demographic information, the service and the time of death.

Power of the Study

As the study was observational and descriptive, no power analysis was conducted.

Ethics Committee

Approval from the Ethics Committee of Balıkesir University School of Medicine was obtained.

Statistical Analysis

The data were analyzed with IBM Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) in Version 22.0 software package with 95% reliability. Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient was conducted to assess the change of the number of studies according to years. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

The number of patients who died in BSH during the study period was found as 1418. It was discovered that 314.6 ± 46.95 patients were hospitalized, 3.88 ± 2.16 patients died per day, and the daily average CDR was 12.77 ± 7.5 . On the other hand, 59.4% (n = 843) of the patients were male while 40.6% (n = 575) were female. The average age of all patients was 70.36 \pm 13.73 (range; 14-102) years. To be more specific, the average age of males was 68.97 ± 13.75 years, while the average age of females was 72.39 ± 13.46 years (*p*)

	Hours	Mean ± SD	Min Max.	p value*
The number of patients died	00:00-08:00	1 ± 1.05	0-4	< 0.001
	08:00-16:00	1.6 ± 1.3	0-6	
	16:00-24:00	1.28 ± 1.18	0-7	
CDR	00:00-08:00	3.32 ± 3.67	0-23.95	< 0.001
	08:00-16:00	5.22 ± 4.35	0-18.73	
	16:00-24:00	4.23 ± 4.03	0-21.74	

	Table 1.	. The average	distribution	of CDR and	patients died	according to	the time	of death
--	----------	---------------	--------------	------------	---------------	--------------	----------	----------

CDR = Crude death rate, SD = standard deviation, *Mann Whitney U

< 0.001). As for CDR, it was found as 7.56 ± 5.5 for males while it was calculated as 5.21 ± 4.55 (p < 0.001) for females. In addition, CDR was found as 8.85 ± 5.93 in patients over the age of 65 while it was 3.92 ± 4.07 in patients under 65 (p < 0.001). 76.23% of the cases (n = 1081) died in intensive care, 10:22% (n = 145) died in oncology services, and 5.21% (n = 74) died in internal services. CDR was found as 9.79 \pm 6.54 in intensive care, while it was 2.97 \pm 3.14 in services (p < 0.001).

During the examination in which a day was divided into three periods, 25.6% (n = 366) of the cases died between 00: 00-08, 40.9% (n = 585) of the patients died between 08: 00-16, and 32.6% (n: 467) died between 16:00-00:00, respectively. When the number

Table 2. The average distribution of CDRaccording to months

Crude death rate (per thousand)						
Months	Mean ± SD	Min Max.				
January	13.64 ± 6.84	0-26.32				
February	9.64 ± 5.27	0-21.98				
March	11.49 ± 7.61	0-37.45				
April	12.65 ± 6.11	0-27.36				
May	12.4 ± 5.9	2.77-28.13				
June	12.78 ± 8.53	0-30.72				
July	16.33 ± 9.17	2.9-41.92				
August	13.91 ± 8.03	0-32.71				
September	10.84 ± 6.12	0-21.41				
October	15.29 ± 7.31	5.76-40.82				
November	13.02 ± 5.64	0-21.9				
December	10.85 ± 10.11	0-39.22				

CDR = Crude death rate, SD = standard deviation

The European Research Journal • Volume 8 • Issue 4 • July 2022

of died patients and CDR according to the time of deaths were investigated, statistically significant difference was found between groups (p < 0.001). In the analysis which investigated the reasons of the difference, it was discovered that all dual pairings were statistically significant (p < 0.0167) (Table 1). In the analysis conducted in 2 hour periods; the highest number of deaths occurred between 23:00-01:00 (11.2%, n = 160) and 13:00-15:00 (10.8%, n = 154). Moreover, between 07:00-09:00 which was the shift change hours, 8.2% (n = 118) of the patients died and of 9.9% (n: 142) of the patients died between 15:00-17:00. However, no statistically significant difference was found in 2 hour periods between groups (p > 0.05).

In July, CDR was found to be as 16.33 ± 9.17 . It was found as 15.29 ± 7.31 in October, and in August, it was 13.91 ± 8.03 (Table 2). In summer, CDR was 14.35 ± 8.63 , while it was 11.43 ± 7.84 in the winter. A statistically significant difference was found between the groups in terms of number of patients hospitalized and CDR according to the seasons (p < 0.05) (Table 3).

On workdays, CDR was found as 13.07 ± 7.52 while it was 12.07 ± 7.43 on holidays. The number of patients hospitalized on workdays was statistically lower than the number of patients hospitalized on holidays (p < 0.001). There was no statistically significant difference found between the groups in terms of number of patients and CDR (p > 0.05) (Table 4).

DISCUSSION

In health systems, information about mortality is needed for identifying needs, planning, financing, and evaluating the effect of services, calculating life ex-

	Seasonal (depending on climate)	Mean ± SD	Min Max.	p value
The number of inpatients	Winter	340.52 ± 38.62	260-418	< 0.001
	Spring	319.46 ± 33.36	245-380	
	Summer	295.27 ± 51.03	154-381	
	Autumn	303.6 ± 49.82	161-373	
The number of patients died	Winter	3.84 ± 2.6	0-14	0.730
	Spring	3.83 ± 1.96	0-10	
	Summer	4.04 ± 2.27	0-9	
	Autumn	3.82 ± 1.72	0-8	
Crude death rate (per thousand)	Winter	11.43 ± 7.84	0-39.22	0.034
	Spring	12.17 ± 6.54	0-37.45	
	Summer	14.35 ± 8.63	0-41.92	
	Autumn	13.07 ± 6.6	0-40.82	

Table 3. The average distribution of inpatients and patients died and CDR according to seasons

CDR = Crude death rate, SD = standard deviation

 Table 4. The average distribution patients hospitalized and the patients died and on weekdays and holidays

		Mean ± SD	Min Max.	p value*
The number of inpatients	Workdays	304.97 ± 40.1	154-418	< 0.001
	Holidays	336.36 ± 53.75	167-411	
The number of patients died	Workdays	3.91 ± 2.24	0-14	0.896
	Holidays	3.84 ± 1.96	0-9	
Crude death rate (per thousand)	Workdays	13.07 ± 7.52	0-39.22	0.089
	Holidays	12.07 ± 7.43	0-41.92	

SD = standard deviation

pectancy, and comparison between settlements, regions and countries [6]. Thus, studies related to in-hospital mortality may guide the hospital staff and provide recommendations for a better health care.

In the study conducted by Cilingiroglu *et al.* [6], 659 patients who died in hospital were examined. They found the mean age of the patients as 60.64 ± 8.17 . In addition, the mortality rate was 56.6% in patients over 60 years old. This rate was 1.3% in patients between 30-39 years of age, whereas it was found as 6.9% in patients in the range of 70-104. The rate of males was 53.4%. 37.3% of deaths occurred in the internal services. As for the death rates according to seasons, 24.4% of deaths occurred in spring, 24.2% happened in summer, 25.6% were in fall and 25.8%

were in winter. 35.1%, of deaths occurred in the range of 08: 00-16: 00, 32.8%, occurred in the range of 16:00-00:00, and 31.8% were in the range of 00:00-08:00. No difference was found between weekend and weekdays death rates [6]. In a study conducted with 351 patients, Korkmaz *et al.* [7] found the mean age of the patients as 67.1 ± 0.7 and the rate of males as 62.1%. In addition, they found that 87.5% of in-hospital mortality was over 60 years old. The most frequent deaths occurred in intensive care units (28%). Seventeen percent of deaths occurred in the internal medicine service, 16% occurred in cardiology departments [7].

In another study conducted by Mohammed *et al*. [8], the difference of mortality rate of the patients admitted to the hospital over the weekend and on weekdays was investigated. The authors found that the mortality was higher in patients admitted to the hospital over the weekend. Barba *et al.* [9] examined 'first 48 hours mortality difference' in patients admitted to emergency service during weekdays and weekend. Similar results were obtained in this study. That is to say, the mortality rate was higher in patients admitted to emergency service at weekend [9]. In addition, in both of the studies, it was noted that the number of hospital staff working at weekend was less, and those staff were less experienced, which affected the quality of patient care.

Aylin *et al.* [10] investigated patients admitted to emergency services and died in England between 2005 and 2006. They found that the mortality rate was 10% higher in patients admitted to emergency services and died in hospital at weekend than on weekdays. In a study conducted at the Mayo Clinic; the mortality rate of the patients admitted to intensive care unit (ICU) on weekdays and over the weekend were compared. No significant difference was found between the mortality of patients admitted over the weekend and on weekdays. It was indicated that the number of beds in the hospital, the location of hospital and academic status, clinical severity in patients, and the number of employees had an effect on in-hospital mortality [11].

In our study, the mean age of the patients who died was found as 70.36 ± 13.73 . The mean age of males was lower than females. The number of male patients who died was higher than females. Those results were highly compatible with other studies [6,7]. In addition, the results which demonstrated CDR was higher in males than females may be related with the fact that male patients may have been admitted to the hospital due to more serious health problems compared to females. Additionally, in patients over the age of 65, CDR was two times higher than in patients below 65. This data confirmed that the patients over 65 struggle with serious chronic and mortal problems at the hospital.

As more critically ill patients are followed in the intensive care units, higher death rates in these services may be accepted as normal. Monitoring critically ill patients in intensive care not in the internal or surgical services is medically and maybe legally correct. In this case; the mortality rate is expected to be higher in intensive care units than any other services. The mortality rate of intensive care of BSH was found as 76.23%. Compared to other studies conducted in Turkey, our intensive care mortality rate was higher than other services [6, 7].

In the part of the study in which the day was divided into three and mortality rate was calculated, we encountered some interesting results beyond our expectations. In our preliminary estimation; we thought that the mortality rate might have increased in evening and especially at night. Because; we thought that the number of employees in most units was higher and health care workers might be more dynamic during the daytime [8, 9]. In addition, as the study was conducted in a state hospital; doctors were less accessible in the evening or at night. However, the results obtained were contradictory with our expectations. In our study, the death rate and CDR were statistically higher in the range of 08:00-16:00 than the other two periods. In the study conducted by Çilingiroglu et al. based on the same time interval, no significant difference was found among the three time intervals. In this case; it is clear that health workers carefully monitor the patients in intensive care services during day and night. The results obtained from the three time period of the day confirmed those results.

Shift change hours are important for health care workers. When the shift is changed, the treatment and monitoring of the patients should be carefully carried out at the same time. We investigated whether shift change had an effect on in-hospital mortality by conducting 2-hour analysis. In most of the hospitals, 15:00-17:00 and 07:00-09:00 are the shift change times. Fortunately, we found that the mortality rate did not increase in those two time intervals. Moreover, in our study, we discovered that the most frequent deaths occurred in the range of 23:00-01:00.

Whether months and seasons have an effect on mortality rates was examined. For instance; we investigated whether the death rates increase in cold weather in winter or increased use of motor vehicle in summer affects the mortality. We found that CDR was significantly higher in summer than the other seasons. As for months, the death rate and CRD were significantly higher in July, August and October. Çilingiroğlu *et al.* [6] did not find a difference in terms of seasons. In our study, the reason why summer was higher than other seasons can be related to the factor that Balıkesir is located on the İstanbul-Bursa-Izmir traffic route and is also a popular host to many tourist districts. That is to say, the high intensity of vehicles and traffic causes many accidents in summer. Another data supporting this information is that the death rate was higher in July, August and October. Thus; these months are round-trip months for people who are on vacation. Nevertheless; in this study, if we had obtained the data including the causes of deaths, we might have had better estimations in seasonal and monthly analysis. We also examined whether there was a difference between workdays and holidays in terms of mortality rates. This time parameter has actually attracted the attention of many researchers, and many studies conducted on it. However, some researchers compared the mortality rates of the patients admitted to hospital on holidays with workdays; while some others investigated the mortality rates of in-patients in terms of workdays and holidays [8-10]. In this study, we examined the mortality rates of in-patients on workdays and holidays. However, contrary to our expectations (the number of the staff working at weekend was less, and those staff were less experienced), no statistically significant difference was found between workdays and holidays. In some studies the number of the patients admitted to the hospital during the holidays was generally higher than those admitted on working days [8-10]. In a study conducted at the Mayo Clinic; the mortality rate of the patients admitted to intensive care units on weekdays and weekend was compared, and no statistically significant difference was found [11].

Limitations

If we had been able to investigate the data including the causes of deaths, we might have better questioned the relationship between the mortality rates and time factor. Another limitation is that the study is retrospective. A third limitation is that the study was single-centered.

CONCLUSION

In-hospital mortality, the mortality rate was higher in males, and their mean age was found to be less than women. Moreover, the mortality rate was higher between 08:00-16:00. No increase or decrease was observed at shift change times. The mortality rate increased in summer. No statistically significant difference was found between workdays and holidays in terms of mortality rate. In future studies; better results can be obtained if in-hospital causes of death, emergency service waiting times and additional diseases of the deceased can be examined. Multicenter studies are needed on this subject.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: VE, MY, MEE, UK; Study Design: VE, MY, MEE, UK; Supervision: VE, MY, MEE, UK; Funding: MEE, UK; Materials: VE, MY; Data Collection and/or Processing: VE, MY, MEE; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: VE, MY, MEE, UK; Literature Review: VE, MY; Manuscript Preparation: VE, MY, MEE, UK and Critical Review: VE, MY.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. McCormick B, Pearson M, White J. Hospital mortality rates and place of death. J Public Health (Oxf) 2016;38:800-5.

2. Bottle A, Jarman B, Aylin P. Strengths and weaknesses of hospital standardised mortality ratios. BMJ 2010;342:c7116.

3. Şener MT, Kara Ç. [Determination of forensic deaths and the way to follow in forensic death cases]. Genel Tıp Dergisi 2014;24:58-61. [Article in Turkish]

4. Ölüm istatistikleri. Available at: http://www.tuik.gov.tr/Pre-HaberBultenleri.do?id=18623. Accessed Nov. 26, 2015.

5. Sümbüloglu V, Gören A, Sümbüloglu K. Ölüm raporu yazım kılavuzu. T.C. Saglık Bakanlıgı Saglık Projesi Genel Koordinatörlügü Saglık Enformasyon Sistemleri Egitim Dizisi No: 3 Degistirilmis 2. Baskı Ankara, 1995:1-4.

6. Çilingiroğlu N, Subaşı N, Çiçekli Ö, Kara AV, Ferlengez E, Kocatürk Ö. [Evaluation of deaths at Hacettepe University Hospital for the year 2004]. Hacettepe Sağlık İdaresi Dergisi 2005;8:307-24. [Article in Turkish]

7. Korkmaz T, Balaban B. [Consistency Assessment for the Causes of Death as Indicated in the Death Certificates and in ICD Codes]. Haseki Tıp Bülteni 2014;52:103-10. [Article in Turkish] 8. Mohammed MA, Sidhu KS, Rudge G, Stevens AJ. Weekend admission to hospital has a higher risk of death in the elective setting than in the emergency setting: a retrospective database study of national health service hospitals in England. BMC Health Serv Res 2012;12:87.

9. Barba R, Losa EJ, Velasco M, C Guijarro, García de Casasola G, Zapatero A. Mortality among adult patients admitted to the hospital on weekends. Eur J Intern Med 2006;17:322-4.

10. Aylin P, Yunus A, Bottle A, Majeed A, Bell D. Weekend mortality for emergency admissions. A large, multicentre study. Qual Saf Health Care 2010;19:213-7.

11. Ensminger SA, Morales IJ, Peters SG, Keegan MT, Finkielman JD, Lymp JF, et al. The hospital mortality of patients admitted to the ICU on weekends. Chest 2004;126:1292-8.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.1049308

Psychology

The effect of personality traits and parental attitudes on treatment in children and adolescents: a 6-month follow-up study

Müjen İlnem[©]

Department of Psychology, Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, Istanbul Gelisim University, Faculty of Economics, Administrative and Social Sciences, Istanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: This study aims to examine the effects of personality traits and parental attitudes on the change of emotional and behavioral problems in children and adolescents with mental disorders receiving outpatient treatment during the six months.

Methods: In the study, 233 individuals between the ages of 7-17 who applied to the Child Psychiatry Outpatient Clinic of a private hospital in Istanbul between September 2015 and September 2017 and who had psychiatric disorders regarding DSM-V diagnostic criteria were evaluated before treatment with the Sociodemographic Data Form, Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ), Quick Big Five Personality Test (QBFPT), and Parental Attitude Scale (PAS). Emotional and behavioral problems of children and adolescents who were followed up for psychiatric treatment were evaluated by SDQ at the first, third, and sixth months.

Results: According to the Pearson Correlation Analysis, it was found that the SDQ total scores of children and adolescents in the pre-treatment period were statistically significantly positively correlated with the Democratic Attitude subscale scores (r = 0.129, p = 0.049). Considering the QBFPT and PAS sub-dimension scores in ANCOVA analyzes, the change in the SDQ total scores before and after treatment was statistically significant (p < 0.05), and Democratic Attitude subscale scores (F = 2.70, p = 0.048) and Emotional Stability subscale scores (F = 3.27, p = 0.023) had statistically significant effects on this change.

Conclusions: In children and adolescents with mental disorders, focusing on democratic attitudes and personality traits associated with emotional stability may help reduce emotional and behavioral problems during treatment.

Keywords: Emotional and behavioral problems, personality traits, parental attitudes

Psychopathological features in children and adolescents often manifest themselves with emotional and behavioral problems. It has been evaluated that emotional and behavioral problems are common starting from infancy, 6% of toddlers (1-2 age range) have behavioral problems and 32% of these children have delayed social-emotional competence [1]. Regarding the interviews with parents of preschool children, the frequency of emotional and behavioral problems was found to be 7.1% [2]. In a study examining men between 6-18 years, 8.3% of the participants were found to have emotional and behavioral problems [3]. In a

Received: September 27, 2021; Accepted: March 29, 2022; Published Online: May 20, 2022



How to cite this article: Îlnem M. The effect of personality traits and parental attitudes on treatment in children and adolescents: a 6-month follow-up study. Eur Res J 2022;8(4):482-490. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.1049308

Address for correspondence: Müjen İlnem, Assistant Professor, Istanbul Gelisim University, Department of Psychology, Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 2149-3189 Lisansüstü Eğitim Enstitüsü Müdürlüğü, Cihangir Mah., Duygu Sok., No:2., F Blok, Avcılar, İstanbul, Turkey. E-mail: mujenilnem@gmail.com, Tel: +90 532 413 99 74

> [©]Copyright © 2022 by Prusa Medical Publishing Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

study in which adolescents (10-18 years old) were evaluated, the prevalence of emotional and behavioral problems was 16.5% as a result of detailed interviews with these people, 12.7% of the adolescents had a sub threshold psychiatric disorder, and 92.5% of those has been evaluated not to receive any mental assistance yet [4]. It has been reported that emotional and behavioral problems seen in children and adolescents are affected by the severity of mental illness, additional medical problems, and the mental state of family members [5-7].

Emotional and behavioral problems are good predictors of mental disorders. Temperament and character traits are the leading factors that cause the emergence of emotional and behavioral problems. Emotional and behavioral problems were found to be lower in adolescents with healthy characters compared to adolescents with inconsistent character traits [8]. It has been evaluated that emotional and behavioral problems seen in adolescents are significantly affected by personality and family characteristics and that emotional and behavioral problems in adolescents may change according to age [9]. In a nine- year follow-up study, according to the mothers' views, it was found that agreeableness and conscientiousness, among the personality traits determined in 3.5-year-old children, were associated with good self-control in the following years, in addition to this, conscientiousness was associated with high academic performance. On the other hand, neurotic features, anxiety, and extraversion features were found to be associated with difficulty in inhibiting behavior [10].

Emotional and behavioral problems in children and adolescents are affected by family characteristics. It was observed that emotional and behavioral problems in children of mothers who refused positive attitudes towards family life and child-rearing styles increased in the preschool period [11]. The interpersonal relationship style between family members, personal development tasks emphasized in the family, and the structure of the family was found to be related to emotional and behavioral problems observed in adolescents [9]. It was found that both parents' having an authoritarian attitude was negatively related to problematic behaviors in children. However; differences of attitudes observed in parents were positively associated with problematic behaviors, authoritarian parenting, therefore, predicted less problematic behaviors, and permissive attitude predicted high levels of emotional and behavioral problems [12].

It is known that personality traits and parental attitudes affect the emotional and behavioral problems of children and adolescents with mental disorders. Despite this, the number of studies investigating the effects of parental attitudes and personality traits on changes in emotional and behavioral problems in children and adolescents receiving mental treatment is limited. Thus, the aim of this study is to investigate the effects of parental attitudes and personality traits on the change in emotional and behavioral problems in children and adolescents who received outpatient psychiatric treatment for six months.

METHODS

In the study, individuals between the ages of 7-17 who applied to the Child Psychiatry Outpatient Clinic of a private hospital in Istanbul between September 2015 and September 2017 and who have psychiatric disorders regarding DSM-V diagnostic criteria were evaluated. Participation in the study was determined voluntarily, and signed-consent was obtained from the children, adolescents, and families that they volunteered to participate in the study. The cases were included in the study randomly and the research was carried out in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration. Acceptance criteria for the study were volunteering to participate in the study, having a psychiatric disorder according to DSM V diagnostic criteria, and being in the age range of 9-17. The exclusion criteria from the study were unclear psychiatric diagnosis process, not being willing to participate in the study, the presence of a physical disability that prevents taking measurements, and the presence of a comorbid mental disorder (manic period, active psychotic period, etc.) Ethical approval for the study was obtained from the Ethical Committee (IRB Date/Number: 04.08.2017 / 1052).

In the study, 233 children and adolescents who met the inclusion and exclusion criteria and received outpatient psychiatric treatment and mental disorders, were evaluated at the beginning of the treatment with the socio-demographic data form and psychometric measurement tools (Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire, Quick Big Five Personality Test and Parental Attitude Scale). Later, children and adolescents who continued treatment outpatient were reevaluated with the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire in the first, third, and sixth months of treatment.

Assessment Tools Sociodemographic Question Form

This form was created by researchers to evaluate the demographic and clinical characteristics of children and adolescents such as age, gender, mental illness, and treatment history.

Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ)

It is a measurement tool developed to measure emotional and behavioral problems in children and adolescents and includes 25 Likert items that evaluate peer problems, hyperactivity, and emotional and behavioral problems in individuals [13]. In the adaptation study of the scale into Turkish, it was found that the Cronbach's Alpha value of the SDQ was 0.84 for the parent form, 0.73 for the adolescent form. Thus, the SDQ was considered a valid and reliable measurement tool for measuring emotional and behavioral problems in children and adolescents [14].

Quick Big Five Personality Test (QBFPT)

QBFPT is a 30-item Likert measurement tool that measures basic personality traits in children and adolescents, including agreeableness, extraversion, conscientiousness, emotional stability, and openness to experience [15]. In the adaptation study of the scale into Turkish, it was found that the Cronbach's Alpha values of the sub-dimensions ranged from 0.73 to 0.81 and the validity and reliability level of the measurement tool was sufficient [16].

Parental Attitude Scale (PAS)

PAS has been developed in Turkish and consists of 62 questions and four sub-dimensions are Democratic Attitude, Authoritarian Attitude, Overprotective Attitude, and Permissive Attitude [17]. As a result of Principal Components and Varimax Rotation analyzes conducted within the framework of validity studies, 16 items were removed from the scale. In this way, the scale took its final form with 46 items. In the reliability analysis of the scale, it was found that the Cronbach's Alpha values for its sub-dimensions ranged from 0.74 to 0.83. High scores in PAS subscales indicate that parental attitudes increase.

Statistical Analysis

The demographic and clinical characteristics of children and adolescents receiving outpatient psychiatric treatment were evaluated by descriptive statistical analyzes such as number, ratio, mean, and standard deviation. Relationships between pre-treatment children and adolescents' SDQ total scores, QBFPT, and PAS scores were analyzed using the Pearson Correlation Analysis. Changes in pre-treatment, first month, third month, and sixth-month SDQ total scores were evaluated by One-Way ANOVA for Repeated Measures. Greenhouse-Geisser's result was used in the study when the sphericity assumption was not met in the ANOVA analyzes for repeated measurements. Whether there was a significant difference between pre- and post-treatment SDQ measurements was tested by Bonferroni Analysis. Besides, the effectiveness of the QBFPT and PAS subscale scores on the SDQ total scores was evaluated by ANCOVA analysis, and the effect size of the covariants on the variable was determined using Partial Eta Squared. The change in the SDQ scores according to past treatment history, drug use status, and mental disorders was analyzed by Two-Way ANOVA for Repeated Measures. Normality assumption was met for Pearson Correlation Analysis and ANOVA analyzes. The significance level for all analyzes was set as p < 0.05. IBM SPSS 22.0 program was used in the application of the analyzes.

RESULTS

The age mean of children and adolescents evaluated in the study was found to be 10.73 ± 4.09 and 127 of the participants (54.5%) were male. It was examined the presence of adjustment disorder in 23 (9.9%) of the outpatients, ADHD in 59 (25.3%), Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders in 14 (6%), Oppositional Defiant Disorder in 25 (10.7%), Autism Spectrum Disorder in 22 (9.5%), Anxiety Disorder in 14 (6%), Separation Anxiety Disorder in 9 (3.9%), and one of the other mental disorders in 67 (28.8%). It was found that 167 of the cases (71.7%) had received mental treatment and used medication in the past, 38 (16.3%) had physical disabilities, and 78 (33.5%) had a family history of mental disorder.

According to the Pearson Correlation Analysis, it was found that the SDQ total scores of children and adolescents receiving outpatient psychiatric treatment were statistically significantly correlated with the Democratic Attitude subscale scores (r = 0.129, p =0.049). Besides, it was found that there was no statistically significant correlation (p > 0.05) between SDQ total scores and PAS and QBFPT sub-scales (Table 1). The mean SDQ total scores of the participants evaluated in the study before and after the treatment (1st, 3rd, and 6th months) were 36.76 ± 5.66 , 36.12 ± 5.62 , 36.08 ± 5.65 , and 35.73 ± 5.56 , respectively and the mean SDQ total score did not show statistically significant change before and after treatment (F = 1.44, p = 0.233). According to the Bonferroni Analysis comparisons between pre-treatment and months, it was found that the SDQ scores did not show a statistically significant change (p > 0.05) (Fig. 1).

In ANCOVA for Repeated Measures analysis,

when personality scale sub-dimension scores in the change in SDQ total scores were included in analysis as covariates, the change in SDQ scores was found to be statistically significant (F = 3.10, p = 0.026). In this analysis, it was evaluated that only Emotional Stability sub-dimension scores were statistically significantly effective (F = 3.27, p = 0.023), but the level of this effect was low (Partial Eta Squared = 0.014) in the change of SDQ total scores. Additionally, in the change in SDQ total scores, Agreeableness (F = 1.21, p = 0.307), Extroversion (F = 2.05, p = 0.109), Conscientiousness (F = 1.87, p = 0.136), and Openness to Experience (F = 1.87, p = 0.136) sub-dimension scores were found to have no statistically significant effect (Table 2).

In ANCOVA for Repeated Measures analysis, when the parental attitudes scale's sub- dimension scores in the change in SDQ total scores were included in the analysis as covariates, the change in the SDQ scores was found to be statistically significant (F =

able 1. Relationships between psychometric measurements of pre-treatment participants ($n = 2.33$)	Table 1. Rela	ationships betweer	psychometric meas	surements of pre-tr	eatment partici	pants (n = 233)
--	---------------	--------------------	-------------------	---------------------	-----------------	-----------------

		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
1-SDQ Total	r	-								
	р	-								
2-Aggreeableness	r	0.078								
	р	0.238								
3-Extraversion	r	-0.005	-0.492							
	р	0.941	<0.001							
4-Conscientiousness	r	0.012	0.500	0.230						
	р	0.858	< 0.001	< 0.001						
5-Emotional Stability	r	0.108	0.616	-0.078	0.823					
	р	0.100	<0.001	0.236	< 0.001					
6-Opennes to Experience	r	-0.008	0.289	0.412	0.909	0.617				
	р	0.909	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001				
7-Democratic Attitude	r	0.129	0.029	0.060	0.106	0.052	0.100			
	р	0.049	0.662	0.360	0.106	0.427	0.130			
8- Autoritarian Attitude	r	0.111	0.016	0.085	0.080	0.033	0.094	0.824		
	р	0.090	0.808	0.196	0.223	0.612	0.151	< 0.001		
9-Protective Attitude	r	0.107	0.005	-0.035	0.026	-0.005	0.035	0.516	0.383	
	р	0.104	0.935	0.592	0.689	0.943	0.591	< 0.001	<0.001	
10-Permissive Attitude	r	0.071	0.056	-0.024	0.047	0.039	0.005	0.782	0.512	0.271
	р	0.278	0.396	0.715	0.479	0.555	0.937	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001

Results of Pearson Correlation Analysis, SDQ = Strength and Difficulties Questionnaire



Fig. 1. The change in the mean SDQ scores of the participants (n = 233) before and after treatment.

4.42, p = 0.005). In this analysis, it was evaluated that the Democratic Attitude sub-dimension scores were statistically significantly effective (F = 2.70, p =0.048) in the change of SDQ total scores, but the level of this effect was low (Partial Eta Squared = 0.012). Besides, sub- dimension scores of Authoritarian Attitude (F = 0.91, p = 0.434), Protective Attitude (F = 0.20, p = 0.887), and Permissive Attitude (F = 2.11, p

	Covariates	Mean Square	df	F	<i>p</i> value	Partial Eta Squared
Treatment Affect		95.51	2.85	3.10	0.026	0.013
	Agreeableness	37.13		1.21	0.307	0.005
	Extraversion	63.12		2.05	0.109	0.009
	Conscientiousness	57.66		1.87	0.136	0.008
	Emotional stability	100.59		3.27	0.023	0.014
	Openness to Experience	57.70		1.87	0.136	0.008
Treatment Affect		136.62	2.85	4.42	0.005	0.019
	DemocraticAttitude	83.36		2.70	0.048	0.012
	Authoritarian Attitude	28.02		0.91	0.434	0.004
	Protective Attitude	6.19		0.20	0.887	0.001
	Permissive Attitude	65.07		2.11	0.102	0.009

Table 2. Psychometric	properties affectin	g the change in SD	O scores before and a	after treatment
		aaa		

One-way ANCOVA analysis result for Repetitive Measurements, SDQ = Strength and Difficulties Questionnaire

= 0.102) were found to have no statistically significant effect (Table 2).

In the Two-Way ANOVA for Repetitive Measures analysis, based on the examination of the effects of demographic and clinical characteristics that may have effects on the change in SDQ total scores, only the diagnosis of Separation Anxiety was a statistically significant factor (F = 2.86, p = 0.039), also, the effect size of this diagnosis on the change on the scores (Partial Eta Squared = 0.012) was evaluated as low (Table 3).

DISCUSSION

In the study, it was found that emotional and behavioral problems of children and adolescents who applied for mental treatment were positively associated with democratic parental attitudes, emotional and behavioral problems decreased in these individuals before and after treatment, but this decrease was not statistically significant. Moreover, it was detected that emotional stability, which is one of the personality traits, the democratic attitude of the parents, and the

Table 3. Demographic and c	linical characteristics	affecting the c	hange in SSQ:	scores before an	d
after treatment					

	Between Subjects Factors	Mean Square	df	F	<i>p</i> value	Partial Eta Squared
Treatment Affect		43.19	2.85	1.37	0.248	0.006
	Gender	38.79		1.24	0.294	0.005
Treatment Affect		47.78	2.85	1.52	0.209	0.007
	Treatment history	10.00		0.32	0.801	0.001
Treatment Affect		26.13	2.85	0.84	0.469	0.004
	Use of Medication	23.05		0.74	0.524	0.003
Treatment Affect		46.96	2.85	1.50	0.214	0.006
	Family History	27.22		0.87	0.451	0.004
Treatment Affect		35.17	2.85	1.12	0.337	0.005
	Physical Disability	17.88		0.57	0.625	0.002
Treatment Affect		45.32	2.85	1.45	0.230	0.006
	Adjustment Disorder	17.34		0.55	0.637	0.002
Treatment Affect		42.45	2.85	1.35	0.257	0.006
	ADHD	10.01		0.32	0.801	0.001
Treatment Affect		28.08	2.85	0.90	0.437	0.004
	OCD	34.82		1.12	0.341	0.005
Treatment Affect		16.86	2.85	0.54	0.647	0.002
	Oppositional Defiant Disorder	20.85		0.67	0.566	0.003
Treatment Affect		32.59	2.85	1.04	0.370	0.004
	Autism	34.12		1.09	0.350	0.005
Treatment Affect		41.92	2.85	1.34	0.260	0.006
	Anxiety	34.28		1.10	0.348	0.005
Treatment Affect		71.12	2.86	2.30	0.079	0.010
	Separation Anxiety	88.36		2.86	0.039	0.012
Treatment Affect		42.78	2.85	1.37	0.253	0.006
	OTHER	11.91		0.38	0.757	0.002

Two-way ANOVA analysis result for Repetitive Measurements, SDQ = Strength and Difficulties Questionnaire

diagnosis of separation anxiety, which is a mental illness, are partially effective factors in the change in emotional and behavioral problems in the participants. In the literature, it has been shown in different studies that psychopathological characteristics in children and adolescents have been associated with personality traits [18-20], and it has been stated that different parental attitudes can increase emotional and behavioral problems in children and adolescents [11,12].

Democratic attitude shows that mothers and fathers have a reassuring and tolerant attitude in their approach to children. Democratic attitude is, therefore, accepted as a positive approach in parents and it has been reported that it is associated with the development of healthy personality traits in children [21]. Thus, it can be considered unexpected that the democratic attitude characteristics of parents are positively associated with behavioral and mental problems in this study. In a study conducted on adolescents, Rizvi and Najam [12] stated that similar attitudes between parents can reduce emotional and behavioral problems, and similarly, the difference between different authoritarian or permissive attitudes in the mother or father may increase mental problems in adolescents. In this study, the differences between mothers' and fathers' attitudes were not compared. Also, the study examined the data of the parents of children who needed psychological treatment, not data from the normal population. For this reason, keeping in mind that democratic attitudes may also contribute to the increase of emotional and behavioral problems in children and adolescents, making new researches in this area may contribute to the literature. It was also found in the current study that democratic attitudes had a statistically significant effect on the change in emotional and behavioral problems of children and adolescents before and after treatment, and democratic attitudes had a limited effect. Researchers have stated that parental attitudes may differ according to cultural characteristics, which can change the way children perceive behaviors, however, parental attitudes that combine authoritarian attitude with expressing emotional warmth are the most advantageous method for the development of the child [21, 22]. Schofield et al. [23] stated that parents learned by experimenting which behavior worked or not overtime, and as a result, their beliefs about parenting could change over time. In the present study, the parenting attitudes of children and adolescents who

applied for mental treatment were evaluated. For this reason, it should be kept in mind that the attitudes of parents who often see emotional and behavioral problems in their children may be variable, and thus democratic attitudes can have effects on the change of mental problems.

Emotional stability includes personality traits such as openness to criticism, calmness, and comfort in a positive sense, and personality traits that are aggressive, nervous, sensitive, anxious, and timid [16]. Personality traits were found to be an effective confounding factor in the change of emotional and behavioral problems in children and adolescents evaluated in the study, and when the personality sub-dimensions were examined, the emotional stability was found to be a partial but statistically significant factor. Similarly, studies in the literature have shown that neuroticism characteristics in children are one of the effective factors in the emergence of mental problems, and emotional instability is associated with problematic behaviors [10, 24]. Therefore, it can be said that the results obtained from this study were compatible with the literature. It may be useful to keep in mind that emotional and behavioral problems are high in adolescents with high problematic personality traits, and psychopathological characteristics observed in adolescents are shaped by personality and family characteristics [8, 9].

In the study, it was found that only the diagnosis of separation anxiety was a statistically significant factor in the change of emotional and behavioral problems in children and adolescents receiving treatment. Separation anxiety is a mental disorder (DSM-V) that describes the state of anxiety and fear that is not compatible with the development of the person and is related to separation from the people they are attached to. It has been stated that separation anxiety disorder that begins in childhood creates a great vulnerability for the emergence of mental disorders in young adulthood, and being sensitive to the diagnosis of separation anxiety for clinicians may mediate the reduction of psychopathological problems in the following years [25]. Prioritizing the diagnosis of separation anxiety to reduce emotional and behavioral problems in children and adolescents receiving mental treatment may be, therefore, beneficial in terms of treatment.

In the literature, it has been shown that emotional and behavioral problems in children and adolescents are associated with parental attitudes and personality traits, but the effects of these characteristics on the change of psychopathological problems in outpatients have not been adequately studied.

Limitations

The important limitations of the study firstly is the evaluation of emotional and behavioral problems, parental attitudes, and personality traits in children and adolescents with self-report scales. Secondly, the study is that children and adolescents receiving psychiatric treatment consist of people who are followed up from a single-center and the number of participants in some diagnostic groups is low. Thirdly, the study is that the effects of age events that may affect emotional and behavioral problems in adolescents during treatment were not controlled. The psychopathological characteristics of the parents were not evaluated in the study.

CONCLUSION

Considering the result of this study, it should be kept in mind that parental attitudes and personality traits are effective factors on the six-month change in emotional and behavioral problems in children and adolescents receiving outpatient treatment. It may be beneficial to focus on democratic parental attitudes and personality traits associated with the emotional stability to improve the quality of mental treatment, especially in these people's treatment processes.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: Mİ; Study Design: Mİ; Supervision: Mİ; Funding: Mİ; Materials: Mİ; Data Collection and/or Processing: Mİ; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: Mİ; Literature Review: Mİ; Manuscript Preparation: Mİ and Critical Review: Mİ.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Briggs-Gowan MJ, Carter AS, Skuban EM, Horwitz SM. Prevalence of social-emotional and behavioral problems in a community sample of 1-and 2-,year-old children. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2001;40:811-81.

2. Wichstrøm L, Berg–Nielsen TS, Angold A, Egger HL, Solheim E, Sveen TH. Prevalence of psychiatric disorders in preschoolers. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2012;53:695-705.

3. Abdel-Fattah MM, Asal A, Al-Asmary SM, Al-Helali NS, Al-Jabban TM, Arafa MA. Emotional and behavioral problems among male Saudi schoolchildren and adolescents prevalence and risk factors. German J Psychiatry 2004;7:1-9.

4. Philipp J, Zeiler M, Waldherr K, Truttmann S, Dür W, Karwautz AF. Prevalence of emotional and behavioral problems and subthreshold psychiatric disorders in Austrian adolescents and the need for prevention. Epidemiol Psichiatr Soc 2018;53:1325-37.

5. Haney JL, Houser L, Cullen JA. Parental perceptions and child emotional and behavioral problems in autism. J Autism Dev Disord 2018;48:12-27.

6. Çolpan M, Eray Ş, Eren E, Vural AP. Perceived expressed emotion emotional and behavioral problems and self-esteem in obese adolescents: a case-control study. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol 2018;10:357-63.

7. Reyes AN, de Lima Bach S, do Amaral PL, Jansen K, Molina MRAL, Spessato BC, et al. Emotional and behavioral problems in children of depressed mothers: a school-based study in Southern Brazil. Psychol Health Med 2019;24:14-20.

8. Moreira PA, Inman RA, Cloninger CR. Personality networks and emotional and behavioral problems: integrating temperament and character using latent profile and latent class analyses. Child Psychiatry Hum Dev 2021;52:856-68.

9. Wang J, Hu S, Wang L. Multilevel analysis of personality family and classroom influences on emotional and behavioral problems among Chinese adolescent students. PLoS One 2018;13:e0201442.

10. Abe JAA. The predictive validity of the Five-Factor Model of personality with preschool age children: a nine year follow-up study. J Res Pers 2005;39:423-42.

11. Yurduşen S, Erol N, Gençöz T. The effects of parental attitudes and mothers' psychological well-being on the emotional and behavioral problems of their preschool children. Matern Child Health J 2013;17:68-75.

12. Rizvi SFI, Najam N. Emotional and behavioral problems associated with parenting styles in Pakistani adolescents. VFAST Transact Educ Soc Sci 2015;8:6-13.

13. Goodman R. The strengths and difficulties questionnaire: a research note. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 1997;38:581-6.

14. Güvenir T, Özbek A, Baykara B, Arkar H, Şentürk B, İncekaş S. [Psychometric properties of the Turkish version of the strengths and difficulties questionnaire (SDQ). Çocuk ve Ergen Ruh Sağlığı Dergisi 2008;15:65-74. [Article in Turkish]

15. Vermulst AA, Gerris JRM. QBF: Quick big five Persoonlijkheidstest Handleiding [quick big five personality test manual]. Leeuwarden The Netherlands: LDC Publications, 2005.

16. Morsunbul U. The validity and reliability study of the Turkish version of Quick Big Five Personality Test. Dusunen Adam J Psychiatr Neurol Sci 2014;27:316-22.

17. Demir EK, Şendil G. Ebeveyn tutum ölçeği (ETÖ). Türk Psikoloji Yazıları 2008;11:15-27.

18. Tackett JL. Evaluating models of the personality-psychopathology relationship in children and adolescents. Clin Psychol Rev 2006;26:584-99.

19. Krueger RF, Tackett JL. Personality and psychopathology: working toward the bigger picture. J Pers Disord 2003;17:109-28.

20. Mervielde I, De Clercq B, De Fruyt F, Van Leeuwen K. Temperament personality and developmental psychopathology as childhood antecedents of personality disorders. J Pers Disord 2005;19:171-201.

21. Konopka A, Rek-Owodziń K, Pełka-Wysiecka J, Samo-

chowiec J. Parenting style in family and the risk of psychopathology. Adv Hygiene Exp Med 2018;72:924-31.

22. Weisz JR, McCarty CA. Can we trust parent reports in research on cultural and ethnic differences in child psychopathology? Using the bicultural family design to test parental culture effects. J Abnorm Psychol 1999;108:598-605.

23. Schofield TJ, Weaver JM. Democratic parenting beliefs and observed parental sensitivity: Reciprocal influences between coparents. J Fam Psychol 2016;30:509-15.

24. Anglim J, Horwood S, Smillie LD, Marrero RJ, Wood JK. Predicting psychological and subjective well- being from personality: a meta-analysis. Psychol Bull 2020;146:279-32.

25. Lewinsohn PM, Holm-Denoma JM, Small JW, Seeley JR, Joiner TE. Separation anxiety disorder in childhood as a risk factor for future mental illness. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2008;47:548-55.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Obstetrics and Gynecology

Short-term treatment results of endometrial hyperplasia without atypia

Zeliha Atak¹[®], Sakine Rahimli Ocakoğlu¹[®], Ayşe Erdoğan²[®], Gökhan Ocakoğlu³[®]

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Bursa City Hospital, Bursa, Turkey; ²Department of Pathology, Bursa Cekirge State Hospital, Bursa, Turkey; ³Department of Biostatistics, Bursa Uludag University School of Medicine, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Endometrial hyperplasia is a pathology that often represents with abnormal uterine bleeding and develops under the influence of unopposed estrogen. In this study, the response to cyclic medroxyprogesterone acetate (MPA) treatment in endometrial hyperplasia without atypia, which is known to have a good response to progestagen agents, was retrospectively evaluated.

Methods: Control endometrial biopsy results of 111 patients who were initiated cyclic MPA treatment due to endometrial biopsy results of endometrial hyperplasia without atypia were evaluated after 3 months of treatment. Endometrial hyperplasia free biopsy results after treatment were accepted as a successful treatment in those patient.

Results: Control biopsies revealed proliferative endometrium in 37 (33.3%) patients, secretory endometrium in 34 (30.6%) patients, inactive endometrium in 9 (8.1%) patients, endometriis in 4 (3.6%) patients, endometrial hyperplasia without atypia in 26 (23,4%) patients, and endometrial hyperplasia with atypia in 1 (0.9%) patient. Our response rate to treatment was 75.7% (84/111) and the persistence was found to be 23.4% (26/111). In patients with a positive response to treatment (n = 84), the mean age was 45.15 ± 5.19 years and in patients with no response to treatment (n = 27) the mean age was 45.56 ± 6.41 years, and there was no difference between the two groups in terms of average age.

Conclusions: Although the use of cyclic MPA in the treatment of endometrial hyperplasia without atypia is an effective treatment method, we believe that better results will be achieved in the use of more than 3 months duration.

Keywords: Endometrial hyperplasia, medroxyprogesterone acetate, cyclic

E ndometrial hyperplasia is a pathology characterized by an increase in the gland / stroma ratio in the endometrium tissue lining the uterine cavity [1]. Proliferative glandular changes occurs as a result of prolonged estrogenic stimulation unmet with progesterone, and this unopposed estrogenic stimulus induces the sporadic mutations in the endometrial glands. Proliferating glands can differ in shape and size and may include cytological atypia [2]. Patients often present with complaints of abnormal uterine bleeding. Every year, 1/20 of women between the ages of 30-49 apply to gynecology outpatient clinics with the complaint of abnormal uterine bleeding [3]. Endometrial biopsy is recommended for patients over the age of 40 who present with abnormal uterine bleeding, and who do not respond to medical treatment, or who have endometrial cancer risk factors even though younger than 40 [4].

Received: July 8, 2021; Accepted: January 10, 2022; Published Online: April 13, 2022



How to cite this article: Atak Z, Rahimli Ocakoğlu S, Erdoğan A, Ocakoğlu G. Short-term treatment results of endometrial hyperplasia without atypia. Eur Res J 2022;8(4):491-496. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.963475

Address for correspondence: Zeliha Atak, MD., Bursa City Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Bursa, Turkey. E-mail: zeliha.atak@hotmail.com, Phone: +90 224 975 00 00

[©]Copyright © 2022 by Prusa Medical Publishing Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj
Endometrial hyperplasia treatment

To date, three main classification systems have been developed in endometrial hyperplasia, considering the histopathological findings that will affect the progression to endometrial cancer [5]. Following the widely used classification system (WHO94) which was adopted by the World Health Organization (WHO) in 1994, endometrial interepithelial neoplasia (EIN) classification system was proposed in the early 2000s. According to this classification system, endometrial hyperplasia includes two different conditions; benign endometrial hyperplasia (BEH) caused by unopposed estrogenic stimulation and atypical endometrial hyperplasia / endometrial intraepithelial neoplasia (AEH/EIN) which is a precancerous lesion [6, 7]. However, since the tests used for the objective diagnosis of EIN are expensive, inconvenient and cannot be applied in every center, this classification system has not been widely used and the search for a new classification system has continued. Today, it is recommended to use the classification system, which was established by the WHO in 2014 on the basis of cytological atypia [8, 9]. According to this classification system, endometrial hyperplasia is divided into two groups as with atypia and without atypia. It is thought that this new classification system is more successful in predicting precancerous lesions [10]. In our patients, histopathological diagnosis was made according to the classification system accepted by WHO in 2014.

Follow-up, medical and surgical treatment options are available in management of endometrial hyperplasia cases without atypia. Progestagen agents are used in medical treatment. Progesterone treatment has been shown to decrease proliferative activity in the endometrium [11]. We included patients who received cyclic medroxyprogesterone acetate (MPA) treatment for the diagnosis of endometrial hyperplasia without atypia.

We aimed in this study to find out the effectiveness of the treatment modality in our patient population and to be a guide to determine the most appropriate treatment option and treatment period.

METHODS

We aimed to retrospectively evaluate the response to 10 mg/day oral MPA treatment for 3 months in pa-

tients who applied to Bursa Çekirge State Hospital and Bursa City Hospital with the complaint of abnormal uterine bleeding and were diagnosed with endometrial hyperplasia without atypia.

The collection of patients information started after the approval of the Uludag University Ethics Committee (ethic approval no: 2020-5/30). 111 patients who were diagnosed with endometrial hyperplasia without atypia between January 2018 and June 2020 and who were started on the 14th day of the cycle with MPA treatment and administered 10 mg/day treatment dose for 12 days were included in the study. Diagnoses other than endometrial hyperplasia were evaluated as response to treatment in control endometrial biopsies taken after 3 months of treatment.

Statistical Analysis

The comparison of the age variable to normal distribution was examined with the Shapiro-Wilk test and expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (minimum: maximum) values as an indicative statistic. In terms of age variable, independent double sample t-test was used for the comparison made between patient groups with and without response to treatment. The ANOVA test was used in the comparison of the patient groups who were implanted with levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine device (LNG-IUD), who had hysterectomy, and whose treatment was extended to 6 months, in terms of age variable. Categorical variables in the study were expressed in terms of frequency and related percentage values. In the comparison of the age variable between groups, the type I error level was accepted as 5%, and the statistical analysis of the study was performed using the SPSS (IBM Corp. Released 2015. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 23.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.) program.

RESULTS

The mean age of the study participants was 45.25 ± 5.48 years (min: 29 years - max: 58 years). In patients with a positive response to treatment (n = 84), the mean age was 45.15 ± 5.19 years (min: 33 years - max: 58 years) and in patients with no response to treatment (n = 27) the mean age was 45.56 ± 6.41 years (min: 29 years - max: 56 years), and there was no difference between the two groups in terms of av-

erage age (p = 0.743).

The distribution of control biopsy results after 3 months of treatment in the groups with and without response to treatment is given in Table 1.

In 27 patients who did not respond to treatment after three months; LNG-IUD was applied to 22.20% (n = 6), and hysterectomy and bilateral salpingooophorectomy were applied to 44.40% (n = 12), considering that they did not have fertility desires. In 33.30% of the patients (n = 9) with no response, the medical treatment duration was extended to 6 months. The mean age was found to be 39.83 ± 7.03 (min: 29 years - max: 50 years) in patients with LNG-IUD group (n = 6), 49.83 ± 3.74 years (min: 46 years - max: 56 years) in patients with hysterectomy group (n = 12)and 43.67 ± 5.22 years (min: 35 years - max: 51 years) in patients with 6-month treatment group (n = 9). It was determined that there was a difference according to age between the groups (p = 0.001). In subgroup analyzes, it was determined that the average age of patients with hysterectomy and bilateral salpingooophorectomy and whose treatment was extended to 6 months was higher than the group with LNG-IUD (p = 0.002 and p = 0.002, respectively), while therewas no difference in terms of age between the groups with hysterectomy and bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy and whose treatment duration was 6 months.

After 3 month of MPA treatment control biopsies revealed proliferative endometrium in 37 (33.3%) patients, secretory endometrium in 34 (30.6%) patients, inactive endometrium in 9 (8.1%) patients, endometritis in 4 (3.6%) patients, endometrial hyperplasia without atypia in 26 (23.4%) patients, and endometrial hyperplasia with atypia in 1 (0.9%) patient. Atak et al

Treatment response parameters vary in different studies. At the stage of evaluating the response to cyclic MPA treatment, if the histopathological diagnoses of control endometrial biopsy were evaluated as resolution, regression, persistence and progression, as in some studies, these parameters were found to be 42.3%; 33.3%; 23.4%; and 0.9%; respectively [12-14]. If histopathological diagnoses other than endometrial hyperplasia were accepted as a response to treatment in control endometrial biopsy, we found the rate of response to treatment 75.7% and the persistence 23.4% in our study.

DISCUSSION

Endometrial hyperplasia is more common in women between the ages of 50-54, with an average age of 52, which is ten years younger than the age of incidence of endometrial cancer [10, 15]. Patients who are diagnosed with endometrial hyperplasia without atypia should be informed that the probability of developing endometrial cancer in the following 20 years is less than 5% and that some of them may regress spontaneously [8]. The chance of spontaneous resolution will be higher by preventing obesity and changing or discontinuing estrogen-containing hormone replacement therapies so as to eliminate the hyperestrogenic state [16]. In a study where 51 cases of endometrial hyperplasia were followed up for 6 months, investigating the natural course of endometrial hyperplasia, spontaneous regression was reported as 74.2% and persistence as 17% in the simple endometrial hyperplasia without atypia group [17].

	Response to Treatment		
	Positive (n = 84)	Negative $(n = 27)$	
Proliferative endometrium	37 (44%)	0	
Secretory endometrium	34 (40.50%)	0	
Hyperplasia without atypia	0	26 (96.30%)	
Inactive endometrium	9 (10.70%)	0	
Endometritis	4 (4.80%)	0	
Hyperplasia with atypia	0	1 (3.70%)	
Data are expressed as n%			

Table 1. Distribution of control biopsy results

The aim of the treatment of endometrial hyperplasia is to treat the severe menstrual bleeding it causes, to identify a possible accompanying endometrial cancer and to prevent the progression to endometrial cancer [18].

Progesterone treatment is applied in patients who do not have regression during follow-up or who have ongoing complaints such as heavy menstrual bleeding. Regression rates with progesterone treatment have been reported as 89-96% in the literature [19]. The main progestagen agents used in the treatment of endometrial hyperplasia are megestrol acetate, MPA, norethisterone acetate and LNG-IUD [19]. It is recommended to start cyclic use of MPA, which is one of the medical treatment options and was used in our study, on the 14th day of menstruation. Treatment is applied by using 10-20mg / day MPA for 11-14 days each month [20].

Ferenczy *et al.* [21] evaluated the response to cyclic oral MPA treatment in endometrial hyperplasia, and in this study, they found that there was 20% persistence and 80% regression after 6 months of treatment. We achieved similar results after 3 months of treatment in a larger study group. However, it should be kept in mind that it carries a 10% risk of recurrence after treatment, together with high regression rates [22].

Emarh et al. [23] compared the effectiveness of cyclic and continuous use of MPA in patients with endometrial hyperplasia without atypia and found that the use of cyclic MPA was effective and safe. Unlike our study, the duration of treatment was 6 months in this study, and regression rates in cyclic and continuous MPA groups were reported as 90% and 82.5%, respectively. Again, in this study, side effects such as acne, nausea, and menstrual cycle changes were more common in the continuous MPA group. In our study, similar to this study, when histopathological diagnoses other than hyperplasia in control endometrial biopsies are accepted as regression, our response rate after 3 months of treatment was 75.7%. Also we did not record any evidence of side effects of MPA in our study group. In another study in which cyclic 10 mg/day MPA was applied for 3 months as in our study in the treatment of endometrial hyperplasia that developed after unopposed estrogen replacement therapy, response rates to treatment were reported above 90% [24].

Ozdegirmenci et al. [13] compared the efficacy of MPA, linestrenol, and norethisterone in simple endometrial hyperplasia without atypia. In this study, 3month cyclic use results were evaluated prospectively and no difference was observed in terms of the efficacy of all three preparations. Control biopsy results were evaluated as resolution, regression, persistence and progression. As a result of this study, it was observed that there was 60% regression, 36.7% resolution and 3.3% persistence in the MPA group [13]. In another study comparing the MPA, norethisterone and LNG-IUD activities, similar results were obtained in the MPA group [14]. In our study, the resolution rate after 3 months of treatment was found to be 42.3%, but the persistence was found to be 23.4%. In the data we obtained retrospectively, we think that the high number of patients in our study group was a factor in these results. In addition, the main complaint of our patients was heavy menstrual bleeding.

The studies comparing the efficacy of MPA and LNG-IUD in patients with endometrial hyperplasia without atypia reported a regression rate 54,8- 100% in the MPA group [25, 26, 27]. In these studies, treatment response rates were evaluated as remission and persistence, and when evaluated in this way, being the number of patients was higher in our study, the rates of remission and persistence were 75.7% and 23.4%, respectively.

Our study was designed retrospectively and the effectiveness of MPA treatment, which was applied cyclically for 3 months in order to avoid the side effects of progesterone, was evaluated. Control endometrial biopsy results are shown in Table 1. Patients who did not respond to treatment were offered options to continue MPA treatment for 6 months or to insert LNG-IUD. Hysterectomy option was provided for patients who did not want to come for medical monitoring and did not desire fertility preservation. The high persistence rate in control endometrial biopsy after 3 months of treatment in our study can be explained by the high number of cases and all of our patients having severe menstrual bleeding complaint compared to other studies in the literature. Progression to endometrial cancer has been reported as 1% in the hyperplasia group without atypia among endometrial hyperplasia cases with an average follow-up period of 13.4 years [16]. In our study, in the patient whose control endometrial biopsy result was endometrial hyperplasia

with atypia, we think that this situation was caused by the failure of sampling the entire endometrial cavity in the first biopsy rather than progression during the 3-month follow-up. As a matter of fact, studies have shown that endometrial sampling methods can sample less than 50% of the entire endometrial cavity [28].

In line with current data, it is recommended to continue progesterone (MPA 10-20 mg/day or norethisterone 10-15 mg/day) treatment or LNG-IUD usage for at least 6 months, and unresponsiveness to medical treatment is accepted as no regression observed after 12 months of therapy [9]. In monitoring the treatment, it is recommended to perform endometrial biopsy at 6-month intervals and follow-up the patient until two negative biopsy results are obtained.

Limitations

The limitation of our study is that we evaluated our own treatment method in a limited patient population in the short term, without the possibility of comparison with different treatment options.

CONCLUSION

Progestagens are first-line treatment options in the management of endometrial hyperplasia without atypia. As a result of this study, we have seen that the cyclic 3-month treatment protocol we have applied in our clinical practice in order to avoid the side effects of progestagens due to long-term use is effective. However, we think that long-term uninterrupted treatment would be more beneficial for maximal efficiency.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: ZA, SRO; Study Design: ZA, SRO, AE, GO; Supervision: ZA, SRO, AE, GO; Funding: ZA; Materials: ZA, AE; Data Collection and/or Processing: ZA, AE; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: GO, SRO; Literature Review: ZA, SRO; Manuscript Preparation: ZA and Critical Review: GO, ZA.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Kurman RJ, Carcangiu M, Herrington C, Young R World Health Organisation Classification of Tumors of Female Reproductive Organs, 4th edn. Lyon France: International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) Press, 2014.

2. Trimble CL, Method M, Leitao M, Lu K, Ioffe O, Hampton M, et al; Society of Gynecologic Oncology Clinical Practice Committee. Management of endometrial precancers. Obstet Gynecol 2012;120:1160-75.

3. National Collaborating Centre for Women's and Children's Health (UK). Heavy Menstrual Bleeding. London: RCOG Press; 2007.

4. Singh S, Best C, Dunn S, Leyland N, Wolfman WL. No. 292-Abnormal uterine bleeding in pre-menopausal women. J Obstet Gynaecol Can 2018;40:e391-e415.

5. Sanderson PA, Critchley HO, Williams AR, Arends MJ, Saunders PT. New concepts for an old problem: the diagnosis of endometrial hyperplasia. Hum Reprod Update 2017;23:232-54.

6. Mutter GL, Zaino RJ, Baak JPA, Bentley RC, Robboy SJ. Benign endometrial hyperplasia sequence and endometrial intraepithelial neoplasia. Int J Gynecol Pathol 2007;26:103-14.

7. Travaglino A, Raffone A, Saccone G, Mascolo M, Pignatiello S, Mollo A, et al. PTEN immunohistochemistry in endometrial hyperplasia: which are the optimal criteria for the diagnosis of precancer?. APMIS 2019;127:161-9.

8. Gallos ID, Alazzam M, Clark TJ, Faraj R, Rosenthal AN, Smith PP, et al. Management of endometrial hyperplasia. Greentop guideline No 67. London: Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists; 2016. Available at:https://www.rcog.org.uk/globalassets/documents/guidelines/gr

een-top guidelines/gtg_67_endometrial_hyperplasia.pdf. Accessed on April 15, 2019.

9. Auclair MH, Yong PJ, Salvador S, Thurston J, Colgan TTJ, Sebastianelli A. Guideline No. 392-classification and management of endometrial hyperplasia. J Obstet Gynaecol Can 2019;41:1789-800.

10. Sobczuk K, Sobczuk A. New classification system of endometrial hyperplasia WHO 2014 and its clinical implications. Prz Menopauzalny 2017;16:107-11.

11. Bese T, Vural A, Ozturk M, Dagistanli F, Demirkiran F, Tuncdemir M, et al. The effect of long-term use of progesterone therapy on proliferation and apoptosis in simple endometrial hyperplasia without atypia. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2006;16:809-13. 12. Wheeler DT, Bristow RE, Kurman RJ. Histologic alterations in endometrial hyperplasia and well-differentiated carcinoma treated with progestins. Am J Surg Pathol 2007;31:988-98.

13. Ozdegirmenci O, Kayikcioglu F, Bozkurt U, Akgul MA, Haberal A. Comparison of the efficacy of three progestins in the treatment of simple endometrial hyperplasia without atypia. Gy-

necol Obstet Invest 2011;72:10-4.

14. Ismail MT, Fahmy DM, Elshmaa NS. Efficacy of levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system versus oral progestins in treatment of simple endometrial hyperplasia without atypia. Reprod Sci 2013;20:45-50.

15. Reed SD, Newton KM, Clinton WL, Epplein M, Garcia R, Allison K, et al. Incidence of endometrial hyperplasia. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2009;200:678.e1-e6.

16. Kurman RJ, Kaminski PF, Norris HJ. The behavior of endometrial hyperplasia. A long-term study of "untreated" hyperplasia in 170 patients. Cancer 1985;56:403-12.

17. Terakawa N, Kigawa J, Taketani Y, Yoshikawa H, Yajima A, Noda K, et al. The behavior of endometrial hyperplasia: a prospective study. Endometrial Hyperplasia Study Group. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 1997;23:223-30.

18. Marsden DE, Hacker NF. Optimal management of endometrial hyperplasia. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol 2001;15:393-405.

19. Gallos ID, Shehmar M, Thangaratinam S, Papapostolou TK, Coomarasamy A, Gupta JK. Oral progestogens vs levonorgestrelreleasing intrauterine system for endometrial hyperplasia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2010;203:547.e1-10.

20. Armstrong AJ, Hurd WW, Elguero S, Barker NM, Zanotti KM. Diagnosis and management of endometrial hyperplasia. J Minim Invasive Gynecol 2012;19:562-71.

21. Ferenczy A, Gelfand M. The biologic significance of cytologic atypia in progestogen-treated endometrial hyperplasia. Am

J Obstet Gynecol 1989;160:126-31.

22. Hannemann MM, Alexander HM, Cope NJ, Acheson N, Phillips A. Endometrial hyperplasia: a clinician's review. Obstet Gynaecol Reprod Med 2010;20:116-20.

23. Emarh M. Cyclic versus continuous medroxyprogesterone acetate for treatment of endometrial hyperplasia without atypia: a 2-year observational study. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2015;292:1339-43.

24. Figueroa-Casas PR, Ettinger B, Delgado E, Javkin A, Vieder C. Reversal by medical treatment of endometrial hyperplasia caused by estrogen replacement therapy. Menopause 2001;8:420-3.

25. Dolapcioglu K, Boz A, Baloglu A. The efficacy of intrauterine versus oral progestin for the treatment of endometrial hyperplasia. A prospective randomized comparative study. Clin Exp Obstet Gynecol 2013;40:122-6.

26. Orbo A, Vereide A, Arnes M, Pettersen I, Straume B. Levonorgestrel-impregnated intrauterine device as treatment for endometrial hyperplasia: a national multicentre randomised trial. BJOG 2014;121:477-86.

27. Vereide AB, Arnes M, Straume B, Maltau JM, Ørbo A. Nuclear morphometric changes and therapy monitoring in patients with endometrial hyperplasia: a study comparing effects of intrauterine levonorgestrel and systemic medroxyprogesterone. Gynecol Oncol 2003;91:526-33.

28. Guido RS, Kanbour-Shakir A, Rulin MC, Christopherson WA. Pipelle endometrial sampling. Sensitivity in the detection of endometrial cancer. J Reprod Med 1995;40:553-5.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.1112501

Pathology

Diagnostic importance of hepatocyte nuclear factor 1 beta (HNF1B) in testicular tumors and its sensitivity for the detection of yolk sac tumors: an immunohistochemical analysis

Remzi Arslan[®]

Department of Pathology, Atatürk University School of Medicine, Erzurum, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Testicular tumors are common solid malignancies in young fertile men, and most are germ cell tumors. In general, they originate from a single germ cell and transform into different tumor types or present with the coexistence of different morphological patterns. Due to the heterogeneity of these tumors, immunohistochemical markers are frequently used in their differential diagnosis. In recent years, some studies have indicated hepatocyte nuclear factor 1 beta (HNF1 β) can be used in the differential diagnosis of testicular tumors, especially yolk sac tumors (YSTs). In this study, we aimed to investigate the general expression status of HNF1 β in all testicular tumors and determine its importance in YST detection.

Methods: A total of 144 testicular tumors treated with orchiectomy between 2011 and 2020 were included in our study. The pathological diagnosis reports of these cases were retrospectively reviewed and their general prognostic features were determined. HNF1 β immunohistochemical staining was applied to the characteristic paraffin blocks representing the lesions. Staining was evaluated in terms of severity and prevalence.

Results: Most cases (38.2%) were seminomas, followed by mixed germ cell tumors (34.0%, 49/144), embryonic carcinomas (7.6%), pure YSTs (4.9%), and others (Leydig cell tumors, mesenchymal tumors, lymphomas, etc.). No HNF1 β immunostaining was observed in any of the seminomatous lesions. A high level of staining was present in almost all the pure YSTs and tumor areas with the YST component. HNF1 β had a specificity of 95.1% and sensitivity of 87.1% in the detection of YSTs.

Conclusions: HNF1 β has high specificity and sensitivity in detecting YSTs among testicular tumors, and therefore we consider that it can be routinely used to detect the presence of YSTs, especially in patients with mixed germ cell tumors.

Keywords: Testicular germ cell tumor, seminoma, yolk sac tumor, hepatocyte nuclear factor 1 beta (HNF1β)

Testicular cancer is a solid malignancy with an increased global incidence in recent years and is commonly seen in young men [1]. Approximately 95% of these cancer cases are germ cell tumors, constituting 1% of all cancers [2, 3]. According to the 2016 classification of the World Health Organization

(WHO), testicular germ cell tumors (TGCTs) are divided into two main groups as those associated and non-associated with intratubular germ cell neoplasia (ITGCN) [4]. TGCTs that are not associated with ITGCN include prepubertal teratomas, prepubertal yolk sac tumors (YSTs), and spermatocytic seminoma,



Received: May 10, 2022; Accepted: June 22, 2022; Published Online: July 4, 2022

How to cite this article: Arslan R. Diagnostic importance of hepatocyte nuclear factor 1 beta (HNF1β) in testicular tumors and its sensitivity for the detection of yolk sac tumors: an immunohistochemical analysis. Eur Res J 2022;8(4):497-505. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.1112501

Address for correspondence: Remzi Arslan, MD., Atatürk University School of Medicine, Department of Pathology, Erzurum, Turkey. E-mail: remars1@hotmail.com, GSM: +90 532 584 99 81

[©]Copyright © 2022 by Prusa Medical Publishing Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj while ITGCN-associated TGCTs cause seminomatous and non-seminomatous tumors (Embryonic carcinoma, YST, teratoma, and choriocarcinoma) [5]. In brief, these tumors can originate from a single stem cell and develop into other tumors, leading to the coexistence of different tumor types. There are difficulties in the histopathological differential diagnosis due to the combination of very different histological and morphological patterns and tumor heterogeneity. Therefore, immunohistochemical biomarkers, such as Pan CK, PLAP, CD30, AFP, and OCT3 are widely used to assist differential diagnosis. However, more biomarkers are needed for definitive typing.

The hepatocyte nuclear factor 1 beta (HNF1 β) gene was first identified as the factor that regulates the active transcription of liver-specific genes [6]. This gene is localized on the 17q12 chromosome and is also called TCF2 [7]. Four important subtypes of hepatocyte nuclear factor have been defined, among which the HNF1ß family is reported to be more closely related to cellular development and tumorigenesis [8]. It has been reported that mutations in this gene cause diabetes, kidney cysts, genital malformations, and benign lesions such as pancreatic atrophy, as well as some malignancies of organs such as the liver, kidney, and ovary [9]. Many genetic and epigenetic changes of the HNF1 β gene are considered to play a role in the development and progression of a tumor. It has been reported that the CpG island on the HNF1^β gene is overexpressed in ovarian clear cell carcinomas due to hypomethylation, and this has a diagnostic feature. It has also been suggested that changes in the gene family affect the prognosis of some tumors and the survival of the patient [10].

In recent years, some studies have indicated that HNF1 β may be useful in differentiating YSTs from other germ cell tumors [11, 12]. In our study, we aimed to determine the role of the HNF1 β immunomarker in the differentiation of different histological types through its expression profile in testicular tumors, and especially in pure YSTs and mixed germ cell tumors (MGCTs). In addition, the relationship of this marker with some prognostic parameters was investigated.

partial/total orchiectomy at Atatürk University Medical Faculty Hospital between 2011 and 2021 and were diagnosed at the Department of Pathology were included in the study. The pathology reports of the cases were retrospectively reviewed from the hospital information system. Tumor type, patient age, tumor side, necrosis, bleeding, lymphovascular, perineural, rete testis, epididymis, tunica albuginea, tunica vaginalis, perihilar adipose tissue, spermatic cord invasion, presence of tumor at the surgical margin, lymph node involvement, pathological stage, metastasis, and survival prognostic features were determined. HNF1β immunohistochemical staining was applied to the most suitable samples obtained from paraffin blocks containing tumors. Staining was evaluated in terms of prevalence and intensity. Findings were compared according to tumor types and some prognostic parameters.

This research was ethically approved by the ethics committee of Atatürk University School of Medicine with the decision number 17.06.2020/16.

Immunohistochemical Staining and Interpretation Sections of 4-micron thickness were taken from the most suitable samples from paraffin tissue blocks fixed with formalin. Immunohistochemical staining was performed using the Ventana BenchMark ULTRA automated stainer (Roche, Basel, Switzerland) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The tissues were stained with a mouse antibody against the HNF1ß protein (mouse monoclonal, anti-HNF1ß antibody (CLO0374) ab236759, dilution 1:100, ABCAM) with the Ventana BenchMark ULTRA automated stainer. A citrate buffer (pH 6.0) was used for heat-induced epitope recruitment. The primary antibody was visualized with the OptiView DAB IHC Detection Kit (Ventana, Roche). Only nuclear staining was considered positive in HNF1ß immunohistochemistry. The presence of staining greater than 1% in the tumoral area was considered positive. Staining was scored from 0 to 3 as follows: negative or 0, no staining; 1 + = weak, 2 + =intermediate and 3 + = strong positive. The expression of HNF1ß was evaluated by two independent pathologists [13].

Statistical Analysis

The Pearson/Spearman correlation test was used to determine the correlation between HNF1B staining

METHODS

Various testicular tumors of 144 cases who underwent

and prognostic parameters. A p value of < 0.05 was accepted to indicate significant differences. Data analysis was performed using IBM SPSS statistics v. 20

RESULTS

Orchiectomy materials belonging to 144 individuals in total were included in the study. The mean age of the patients was 33.46 years. Seventy-three tumors were localized in the left testis and 71 in the right testis. Seminomas constituted the majority of cases at a rate of 38.2% (55/144), followed by MGCTs (34.0%, 49/144), embryonic carcinomas (7.6%, 11/144), YSTs (4.9%, 7/144), Leydig cell tumors (3.5%, 5/144), different types of lymphoma (5.5%, 8/144), pure teratomas (4.1%, 6/144), and mesenchymal tumors (2.0%, 3/144; one osteosarcoma, one liposarcoma, and one leiomyoma). Of the cases diagnosed with MGCTs,

 Table 1. Distribution of cases according to tumor types and prognostic features

		Seminoma (n = 55)	MGCT (n = 49)	EC (n = 11)	YST (n = 7)	TeRT (n =6)	Leydig (n = 5)	Total (n = 144)
Side, n (%)	Right	27 (49.)	25 (51.)	5 (45.4)	3 (42.8)	2 (33.3)	2 (40)	71 (49.3)
	Left	28 (51.0)	24 (48.)	6 (54.6)	4 (57.2)	4 (66.6)	3 (60)	73 (51.7)
Metastasis, n (%)	Present	10 (18.1)	16 (32.)	2 (18.1)	3 (42.8)	0	0	41 (28.5)
	Absent	45 (81.2)	34 (69.)	9 (91.8)	4 (57.2)	6 (100)	5(%100	103 (71.9
Size, n (%)	\leq 3 cm	16 (29.1)	13 (26.)	6 (54.6)	4 (57.2)	1 (16.6)	1(%20)	43 (29.8)
	> 3 cm	39 (70.9)	36 (73)	5 (45.4)	3 (42.8)	5 (83.4)	4(%40)	101 (70.2
Necrosis, n (%)	Present	31 (56.3)	42 (85.79	2 (18.1)	2 (28.5)	0	1 (20)	85 (59.0)
	Absent	24 (43.7)	7 (14.2)	9 (91.8)	5 (71.5)	6 (100)	4 (80)	59 (410.)
Bleeding, n (%)	Present	8 (14.5)	36 (73.4)	9 (91.8)	2 (28.5)	0	1 (20)	58 (40.2)
	Absent	47 (85.5)	13 (26.6)	2 (18.1)	5 (71.5)	6 (100)	4 (80)	86 (59.39
LVI, n (%)	Present	30 (54.5)	35 (71.59	8 (72.8)	3 (42.8)	0	1 (20)	83 (57.6)
	Absent	25 (45.5)	14 (28.5)	3 (27.2)	4 (57.2)	6 (100)	4 (80)	61 (42.3)
Rete, n (%)	Present	23 (41.8)	17 (34.6)	8 (72.8)	2 (28.5)	0	0	60 (41.79
	Absent	32 (58.2)	32 (65.3)	3 (27.2)	5 (71.5)	6 (100)	5 (100	84 (58.39
Vaginalis, n (%)	Present	8 (14.5)	4 (58.1)	1 (9)	0	0	0	16 (11.1)
	Absent	47 (85.5)	45 (91.9)	10 (91	7 (100)	6 (100)	5 (100)	128 (88.9
Epididymis, n (%)	Present	7 (12.7)	6 (12.2)	0	0	0	0	16 (11.1)
	Absent	48 (87.3)	43 (87.8)	11 (100	7 (100)	6 (100)	5 (100)	128 (88.9
Perihilar, n (%)	Present	7 (12.7)	6 (12.2)	0	0	0	0	14 (9.8)
	Absent	48 (87.3)	43 (87.8)	11 (100	7 (100)	6 (100)	5 (100)	130 (90.2
Spermatic cord, n (%)	Present	2 (3.6)	3 (6.1)	1 (9)	0	0	1 (20)	9 (6.2)
	Absent	53 (96.4)	46 (93.9)	10 (91)	7 (100)	6 (100)	4 (80)	135 (93.8
Surgical margin, n (%)	Present	1 (1.8)	0	0	0	0	0	1 (0.6)
	Absent	54 (98.2)	49 (100)	11 (100	7 (100)	6 (100)	5 (100)	141 (98)
pT, n (%)	1	23 (41.8)	15 (30.6)	4 (36.6)	3 (42.8)	6 (100)	4 (80)	63 (43.7)
	2	28 (50.9)	31 (63.2)	7 (63.4)	4 (57.2)	0	1 (20)	71 (49.3)
	3	4 (7.2)	3 (6.1)	0	0	0	0	10(7)
In situ component, n (%)	Present	42 (76.4)	42 (85.7)	10 (91)	3 (42.8)	0	0	97 (67.3)
	Absent	135 (23.6)	7 (14.3)	1 (9)	4 (52.2)	6 (100)	5 (100)	47 (32.6)
Mortality status, n (%)	Survive	2 (3.6)	2 (4.0)	0	0	0	1 (20)	12 (8.3)
	Died	53 (96.4)	47 (96)	11 (100	7 (100)	6 (100)	4 (80)	132 (91.7

MGCT = Mixt Germ Cell Tumor, EC = Embrional Carcinoma, YST = Yolk Sac Tumor, TeRT = Teratoma, Leydig = leydig cel tumor, LVI = Lymphovascular invasion, pT = Patholojic stage

39 had embryonal carcinomas, 34 had seminomas, 31 had YSTs, and 13 had teratoma components. The choriocarcinoma component was observed in four cases.

Tumor size was below 3 cm in 43 (29.9%) cases and over 3 cm in 101 (70.1%). While metastasis was observed in 41 (28.6%) cases, the tumor was limited to the testis in 103 (71.5%) patients. Most of the metastases were those of MGCTs. Lymphovascular invasion was observed in 88% (127/144) of the cases. The highest pathological stage was seen in the pT2 group including 71 (49.3%) cases. The presence of carcinoma in situ was detected in 102 (70.8%) cases. A total of 132 of the cases are still alive, while the remaining 12 died. Of the patients that died, six had lymphomas, two had MGCTs, two had seminomas, and two had sarcomas. Other findings are summarized in Table 1.

Immunohistochemical distribution with HNF1β

Staining was graded as 3+ in 32 of these cases, 2+ in five, and 1+ in two (Figs. 1 and 2). Of the cases diagnosed with MGCTs, two were interpreted as YSTs but did not present with HNF1 β staining. On the other hand, 1+ HNF1 β staining was observed in the embry-

onal carcinoma areas in five cases with MGCTs (Figs. 1 to 3). HNF1 β staining was not observed in any of the seminomas and seminomatous areas of the MGCTs (Figs. 1D and 3B). Lymphomas, mesenchymal tumors, and Leydig cell tumors included in the study, while it was present in almost all the pure YSTs and YST components of the MGCTs (39/41). More than 70% of the cases diagnosed with pure YSTs and the YST areas in cases diagnosed with MGCTs had HNF1 β staining. HNF1 β staining was graded as 3+ in all the teratomatous areas. No staining was observed in the lymphomas (Fig. 3D) or the choriocarcinomatous areas (Fig. 3E). The main immunohistochemical findings and their comparison according to other YST markers are summarized in Table 2. In our study, the sensitivity of HNF1B in terms of detecting the YST component was 87.1%, and the specificity was 95.1%.

No significant correlation was found between HNF1B staining and histopathological and clinical prognostic parameters such as necrosis, lymphovascular invasion, perineural invasion, rete testis invasion, perihilar adipose tissue invasion, spermatic cord invasion, lymph node involvement, pathological stage, metastasis and survival etc. (p > 0.005). No significant correlation was found between HNF1B staining and



Fig. 1. HNF1B expression in MGCT component YST and Pure YST. (A) Pure YST with the microcystic pattern (HE ×20), (B) Strong nuclear positivity for HNF1 β in YST (HNF1 β ×20), (C) Mixed germ cell tumor with YST component (HE ×20), and (D) Nuclear positivity for HNF1 β in the YST component of MGCT (HNF1 β ×20).



Fig. 2. HNF1β expression in different patterns of YST. (A) Diffuse nuclear positivity for HNF1β in YST with the microcystic pattern (HNF1B ×20), (B) Glandular pattern YST (HNF1β ×20), (C) Solid pattern YST (HNF1β ×20), and (D) Mixed pattern YST (HNF1β ×20).



Fig. 3. HNF1β expression profile in different tumor types and areas. (A) Seminoma (HE ×20), B-Negative HNF1β staining in seminoma (×20), (C) Intratesticular lymphoma (HEx20), (D) Negative HNF1β staining in intratesticular lymphoma (×20), (E) Choriocarcinomatous area in MGCT (HEx40), and (F) Negative HNF1β staining in the choriocarcinomatous area of MGCT (×40)

histopathological and clinical prognostic parameters such as necrosis, lymphovascular invasion, perineural invasion, rete testis invasion, perihilar adipose tissue invasion, spermatic cord invasion, lymph node involvement, pathological stage, metastasis and survival etc. (p > 0.005). A significant difference was observed between YST and other histological types with the Chi-square test, which supports the specificity and sensitivity tests, with HNF1B (p < 0.001). When histological types were examined separately, a significant difference was observed between embryonal carcinoma (p < 0.001) and seminoma (p < 0.001).

DISCUSSION

Although testicular germ cell tumors constitute less than 1% of all tumors in men, they are the most common tumors of the testis. Their prevalence in young fertile men makes them particularly important. Depending on their development from intratubular germ cell neoplasia, they may contain seminomatous and non-seminomatous, or embryonal and extra-embryonal differentiation areas, or all these areas together. Due to their heterogeneity, it is difficult to make an accurate diagnosis of testicular germ cell tumors. The accuracy of diagnosis is very important in terms of case management and treatment [14].

MGCTs and especially YSTs have many morphological patterns, making the diagnosis very difficult. Numerous immunohistochemical markers are used to distinguish tumor types and patterns. Alpha-fetoprotein (AFP) and glypican-3 are the most well-known examples of these markers. Some studies conducted in recent years state that HNF1 β is an important YST marker [11, 12].

HNF1 β was identified as a liver-specific transcription factor. It has been suggested to play a role in liver, pancreas, and kidney organogenesis, and mutations in this gene have been associated with diabetes, kidney cysts, genital malformations, and benign lesions such as pancreatic atrophy [9], as well as cancer risk in various tumors, including hepatocellular carcinoma, pancreatic, renal, ovarian, endometrial, and prostatic cancers [15, 16].

Many genetic and epigenetic changes of the HNF1 β gene are considered to play a role in the development and progression of a tumor. In humans, one of the epigenetic mechanisms regulating the expression of genes is the methylation of CpG dinucleotide

Tumor type		HNF1β			
		0	1+	2+	3+
Seminoma, n (%)	n = 55	55 (100)	0	0	0
MGCT, n (%)	n = 49				
YST	34 (69.3)	2 (5.8)	2 (5.8)	4 (11.7)	26 (76.7)
EC	39 (79.5)	34 (87.1)	5 (12.8)	0	0
Seminoma	31 (63.2)	31 (100)	0	0	0
Teratoma	13 (26.5)	2 (15.4)	2 (15.4)	3 (23)	6 (46.2)
Choriocarcino	4 (8.1)	4 (100)	0	0	0
Pure YST, n (%)	n = 7	0	0	1 (14.29	6 (85.8)
EC, n (%)	n = 11	9 (81.8)	2 (18.2)	0	0
Teratoma, n (%)	n = 6	0	0	1 (16.7)	5 (83.3)
Lymphoma, n (%)	n = 8	8 (100)	0	0	0
Leydig cell tumor, n (%)	n = 5	5 (100)	0	0	0
Mesenchymal tumor, n (%)	n = 3	3 (100)	0	0	0
Total	144				

Table 2. Distribution of HNF1 β expression according to tumor types (n = 144)

 $HNF1\beta$ = hepatocyte nuclear factor 1 beta, MGCT = mixed germ cell tumor, YST = yolk sac tumor, EC = embryonal carcinoma

clusters. It is stated that HNF1 β is overexpressed in clear cell carcinomas of the ovary due to the hypomethylation of the CpG island on the HNF1 β ' gene [1]). It has been suggested that the epigenetic inactivation of HNF1 β is involved in tumorigenesis [17]. Some studies have reported that HNF1 β plays a role in the expression of genes closely related to stem/progenitor cells [18]. However, the potential pathogenic mechanisms of HNF1 β in cancer and regulatory mechanisms in stem cells are not yet fully understood. Therefore, further studies are still needed to elucidate the relationship between tumor and stem cell and HNF1 β [19].

In a study by Shim *et al.* [20], the members of the HNF1 family were reported to regulate the activity of the AFP promoter during hepatic development and carcinogenesis process, and therefore a high HNF1 β expression in hepatocellular carcinomas was associated with a high serum AFP level and AFP expression.

HNF1^β has been identified as an important biomarker in clear cell carcinomas of the uterus and ovary in many gene expression studies. It has been reported that while HNF1 β is highly expressed in ovarian clear cell carcinomas (CCC), non-CCCs do not express this protein [21]. Yamamoto et al. [22]suggested that the prevalence of HNF1ß immunoreactivity in both the ovary and the endometrium would be an excellent marker for differentiating CCCs from other tumors. Kao et al. [23] stated that the overexpression of HNF1ß was specific to ovarian CCC among ovarian carcinomas. In the pancreas, Kim et al. [24] showed that clear cell carcinomas and ductal carcinomas with clear cell features were overexpressed in clear cell components and were associated with worse survival. In another study, Silva et al. [25] showed HNF1β to be among five important genes that played an epigenetic role in colorectal cancer. They stated that HNF1ß could be used as a useful biomarker in this cancer [25].

Buchner *et al.* [26] reported that HNF1 β had a high expression in normal kidney tissue than in tumor tissue, and its loss was associated with renal cell carcinoma. They also suggested that HNF1 β might be a tumor suppressor prognostic factor and therapeutic target [26]. In a study by Nogales *et al.* [27], it was determined that HNF1 β was highly expressed in ovarian clear cell carcinoma and germ cell tumors with the glandular yolk sac pattern. Fadare *et al.* [28] reported

that while HNF1 β showed nuclear expression in 92% of ovarian clear cell carcinomas and 100% in YSTs, it was not stained in granulosa cell tumors or dysgerminomas. In a study by Rougemont *et al.* [11] evaluating 45 germ cell tumors, HNF1 β staining was present in all the pure YSTs and YST components of the tumoral areas, and it was graded as 3+ in 93.9% of the cases. The authors stated that HNF1 β had 100% sensitivity and 80% specificity for the detection of YSTs. In the same study, there was no staining in the seminomas or ECs, but staining was noted in the enteric type glandular areas of the teratomas [11].

Gallo *et al.* [12], comparing the expression of AFP, glypican-3 and HNF1 β in 601 testicular germ cell tumors, determined their specificity as 97.7%, 90.3%, and 96.5%, respectively and their sensitivity as 62.5%, 83.3%, and 85.4%, respectively in the detection of YSTs. Accordingly, HNF1 β had a higher rate of YST detection than the other two markers. Thus, the authors suggested that HNF1 β could be a very important and reliable biomarker for distinguishing tumors. They also noted that there was no HNF1 β staining among the seminomatous tumors [12].

Similarly, in our study, HNF1 β expression was not observed in any of the seminomatous tumors. HNF1 β staining was also not observed among the lymphomas, mesenchymal tumors, and Leydig cell tumors in our series. In contrast, significant nuclear positive staining was present in almost all (39/41) the YST components of the non-seminomatous tumors and MGCTs. There was no staining in the majority of the embryonal carcinoma areas. Weak (1+) staining being observed in only five cases suggests that these might be possible YST areas but were misinterpreted as embryonal carcinomas. The staining pattern in the teratomatous areas was consistent with previous studies, and a high level of staining was observed especially in areas with intestinal differentiation.

In our study, HNF1 β immunostaining has very high sensitivity (87.1%) and specificity (97.1%) in terms of detecting areas in pure YST and MGCTs containing YST component, which is consistent with the Rougement and Gallo research.

Limitations

Our study has several limitations. Among these, the HNF1 β application was applied only to the pri-

mary tumor in the testis and did not include the expression status in metastatic or recurrent tumors. Therefore, further research including our limitations is needed.

CONCLUSION

It is clear that HNF1 β plays an important role in the tumorigenesis of various organs. It is an important biomarker used in the differential diagnosis of tumors of some organs, such as clear cell carcinoma of the ovary. A high HNF1^β expression is known to be associated with poor prognosis and poor survival in patients with tumors of the liver and pancreas. On the other hand, it is stated that HNF1 β is expressed at a lower rate in renal cell carcinomas than in normal kidney tissue. In the literature, the number of studies on HNF1B expression in testicular tumors is very limited. In our study, we tried to reveal the expression profile of HNF1 β in all testicular tumors. Therefore, our study is very special in terms of detecting the YST component, especially in germ cell tumors, and the data obtained had high sensitivity and specificity. In light of our findings, we consider that HNF1B can be used as a sensitive and reliable marker in the detection of these tumors. Although HNF1β has high sensitivity and specificity for the diagnosis of YSTs, it is very important to support the diagnosis with tumor morphology and genetic and epigenetic changes.

Author' Contribution

Study Conception: RA; Study Design: RA; Supervision: RA; Funding: RA; Materials: RA; Data Collection and/or Processing: RA; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: RA; Literature Review: RA; Manuscript Preparation: RA and Critical Review: RA.

Conflict of interest

The author disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

This study was financially supported by the Scientific Research Projects Unit of Atatürk University Rectorate.

REFERENCES

1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2018. CA Cancer J Clin 2018;68:7-30.

2. Bray F, Richiardi L, Ekbom A, Pukkala E, Cuninkova M, Møller H. Trends in testicular cancer incidence and mortality in 22 European countries: continuing increases in incidence and declines in mortality. Int J Cancer 2006;118:3099-111.

3. Trabert B, Chen J, Devesa SS, Bray F, McGlynn KA. International patterns and trends in testicular cancer incidence, overall and by histologic subtype, 1973-2007. Andrology 2015;3:4-12. 4. Moch H, Cubilla AL, Humphrey PA, Reuter VE, Ulbright TM. The 2016 WHO Classification of Tumours of the Urinary System and Male Genital Organs-Part A: Renal, Penile, and Testicular Tumours. Eur Urol 2016;70:93-105.

5. Cheng L, Albers P, Berney DM, Feldman DR, Daugaard G, Gilligan T, et al. Testicular cancer. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2018;4:29.

6. Bingham C, Hattersley AT. Renal cysts and diabetes syndrome resulting from mutations in hepatocyte nuclear factor-1beta. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2004;19:2703-8.

7. Gudmundsson J, Sulem P, Steinthorsdottir V, Bergthorsson JT, Thorleifsson G, Manolescu A, et al. Two variants on chromosome 17 confer prostate cancer risk, and the one in TCF2 protects against type 2 diabetes. Nat Genet 2007;39:977-83.

8. Mendel DB, Hansen LP, Graves MK, Conley PB, Crabtree GR. HNF-1 alpha and HNF-1 beta (vHNF-1) share dimerization and homeo domains, but not activation domains, and form heterodimers in vitro. Genes Dev 1991;5:1042-56.

9. Horikawa Y, Iwasaki N, Hara M, Furuta H, Hinokio Y, Cockburn BN, et al. Mutation in hepatocyte nuclear factor-1 beta gene (TCF2) associated with MODY. Nat Genet 1997;17:384-5.

10. Terasawa K, Toyota M, Sagae S, Ogi K, Suzuki H, Sonoda T, et al. Epigenetic inactivation of TCF2 in ovarian cancer and various cancer cell lines. Br J Cancer 2006;94:914-21.

11. Rougemont AL, Tille JC. Role of HNF1 β in the differential diagnosis of yolk sac tumor from other germ cell tumors. Hum Pathol 2018;81:26-36.

12. Gallo A, Fankhauser C, Hermanns T, Beyer J, Christiansen A, Moch H, et al. HNF1 β is a sensitive and specific novel marker for yolk sac tumor: a tissue microarray analysis of 601 testicular germ cell tumors. Mod Pathol 2020;33:2354-60.

13. Park CK, Shin SJ, Cho YA, Joo JW, Cho NH. HoxB13 expression in ductal type adenocarcinoma of prostate: clinicopathologic characteristics and its utility as potential diagnostic marker. Sci Rep 2019;9:20205.

14. Honecker F, Aparicio J, Berney D, Beyer J, Bokemeyer C, Cathomas R, et al. ESMO Consensus Conference on testicular germ cell cancer: diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2018;29:1658-86.

15. Coffinier C, Gresh L, Fiette L, Tronche F, Schütz G, Babinet C, et al. Bile system morphogenesis defects and liver dysfunction upon targeted deletion of HNF1beta. Development 2002;129:1829-38.

16. Edghill EL, Bingham C, Ellard S, Hattersley AT. Mutations in hepatocyte nuclear factor-1beta and their related phenotypes. J Med Genet 2006;43:84-90.

17. Kato N, Tamura G, Motoyama T. Hypomethylation of hepatocyte nuclear factor-1beta (HNF-1beta) CpG island in clear cell carcinoma of the ovary. Virchows Arch 2008;452:175-80.

18. Azmi AS, Bao GW, Gao J, Mohammad RM, Sarkar FH. Network insights into the genes regulated by hepatocyte nuclear factor 4 in response to drug induced perturbations: a review. Curr Drug Discov Technol 2013;10:147-54.

19. Yu DD, Guo SW, Jing YY, Dong YL, Wei LX. A review on hepatocyte nuclear factor-1beta and tumor. Cell Biosci 2015;5:58. 20. Shim JH, Lee HC, Han S, Kang HJ, Yu E, Lee SG. Hepatocyte nuclear factor 1β is a novel prognostic marker independent of the Milan criteria in transplantable hepatocellular carcinoma: a retrospective analysis based on tissue microarrays. Liver Transpl 2013;19:336-45.

21. Tsuchiya A, Sakamoto M, Yasuda J, Chuma M, Ohta T, Ohki M, et al. Expression profiling in ovarian clear cell carcinoma: identification of hepatocyte nuclear factor-1 beta as a molecular marker and a possible molecular target for therapy of ovarian clear cell carcinoma. Am J Pathol 2003;163:2503-12.

22. Yamamoto S, Tsuda H, Aida S, Shimazaki H, Tamai S, Matsubara O. Immunohistochemical detection of hepatocyte nuclear factor 1beta in ovarian and endometrial clear-cell adenocarcinomas and nonneoplastic endometrium. Hum Pathol 2007;38:1074-1080.

23. Kao YC, Lin MC, Lin WC, Jeng YM, Mao TL. Utility of he-

patocyte nuclear factor- 1β as a diagnostic marker in ovarian carcinomas with clear cells. Histopathology 2012;61:760-8.

24. Kim L, Liao J, Zhang M, Talamonti M, Bentrem D, Rao S, et al. Clear cell carcinoma of the pancreas: histopathologic features and a unique biomarker: hepatocyte nuclear factor-1beta. Mod Pathol 2008;21:1075-83.

25. Silva TD, Vidigal VM, Felipe AV, DE Lima JM, Neto RA, Saad SS, et al. DNA methylation as an epigenetic biomarker in colorectal cancer. Oncol Lett 2013;6:1687-92.

26. Buchner A, Castro M, Hennig A, Popp T, Assmann G, Stief CG, et al. Downregulation of HNF-1B in renal cell carcinoma is associated with tumor progression and poor prognosis. Urology 2010;76:507.e6-11.

27. Nogales FF, Prat J, Schuldt M, Cruz-Viruel N, Kaur B, D'Angelo E, et al. Germ cell tumour growth patterns originating from clear cell carcinomas of the ovary and endometrium: a comparative immunohistochemical study favouring their origin from somatic stem cells. Histopathology 2018;72:634-47.

28. Fadare O, Zhao C, Khabele D, Parkash V, Quick CM, Gwin K, et al. Comparative analysis of Napsin A, alpha-methylacylcoenzyme A racemase (AMACR, P504S), and hepatocyte nuclear factor 1 beta as diagnostic markers of ovarian clear cell carcinoma: an immunohistochemical study of 279 ovarian tumours. Pathology 2015;47:105-11.

Arslan



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.981861

Cardiology

Opinions of cardiologists on class II recommendations in current European Society of Cardiology 2018-2020 guidelines: YELLOW BOX

Mehmet Kış¹^o, Tuncay Güzel²^o, Berkay Ekici³^o, Mehdi Zoghi⁴^o

¹Department of Cardiology, Silopi State Hospital, Sirnak, Turkey; ²Department of Cardiology, University of Health Sciences, Gazi Yaşargil Training and Research Hospital, Diyarbakır, Turkey; ³Department of Cardiology, Ufuk University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey; ⁴Department of Cardiology, Ege University School of Medicine, Izmir, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: We planned our survey study to evaluate the opinion of cardiologists about the class II recommendations on levels of evidence in the current European Society of Cardiology Guidelines (ESC). Our aim is to determine which diagnosis or treatment option most prefer by cardiologist when guidelines do not make clear recommendations.

Methods: The survey was conducted on September 2020 with the participation of cardiologists (n = 102). Our survey covers ESC's guidelines published in 2018-2020 on diagnosis and treatment strategies in coronary artery disease, diabetes, heart valve disease, arrhythmia, dyslipidemia and heart failure. Our survey consisting of 40 questions was shared with the cardiologists via e-mail.

Results: Participants answered all of the survey questions. The majority of the participants (79.41%) did not consider the addition of a second long-term antithrombotic medication in addition to aspirin for secondary prevention in diabetes mellitus (DM) and coronary artery disease (CAD) patients who are not at high risk of bleeding. The lowest low density lipoprotein (LDL) value achieved by the participant physicians with treatment in their practices was < 40 mg/dl in 32 (31.37%) participants. One of the striking results of the survey was that 51.96% of the participants stated that it was not possible to measure the lipoprotein a (Lp(a)) level in the center where they were carrying out their practices, and 34.31% did not consider the Lp(a) level in the treatment of dyslipidemia in terms of directing the treatment. As for patients with asymptomatic Wolff-Parkinson-White (WPW) syndrome, 58.82% of the participants considered catheter ablation therapy.

Conclusions: Although there were different opinions on some recommendations, the participants were mostly in agreement. We think that these survey results, which were mostly based on expert opinions, may contribute to the guidelines to be published in the future with the increase of survey studies on these issues. **Keywords:** ESC guidelines, class II, cardiovascular disease.

Cardiovascular diseases (CVD) are still the main preventable cause of morbidity and all-cause mortality worldwide and in our country [1]. The risk of developing CVD increases with other risk factors such as older age, obesity, smoking, hypertension (HT), hypercholesterolemia, and diabetes mellitus (DM) [2]. First and foremost, these diseases should be prevented and risk factors controlled. There is multi-

Received: August 12, 2021; Accepted: January 19, 2022; Published Online: April 15, 2022



How to cite this article: Kış M, Güzel T, Ekici B, Zoghi M. Opinions of cardiologists on class II recommendations on levels of evidence in European Cardiology Guidelines: YELLOW BOX. Eur Res J 2022;8(4):506-520. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.981861

Address for correspondence: Mehmet Kış, MD., Silopi State Hospital, Department of Cardiology, Sirnak, Turkey. E-mail: drmehmet.kis@hotmail.com, GSM: +90 553 534 00 16, Fax: +90 486 518 50 47

> [©]Copyright [©] 2022 by Prusa Medical Publishing Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

tude of evidence suggesting that early treatment with recommended therapies can significantly reduce morbidity and mortality [3, 4]. For this reason, the awareness, advice and consensus of cardiologists on coronary artery disease (CAD), HT, dyslipidemia and DM are important in the prevention and treatment of the disease.

Trials and guidelines are needed to guide for cardiologists on these issues. In the recent years, substantial progress has been made in the diagnosis and treatment of CVD. The European Society of Cardiology (ESC) guidelines provide many recommendations for the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of CVD. The guidelines describe Class I, II and III recommendations. Class II recommendations cover conditions which there is conflicting evidence and/or divergence of opinion about the usefulness, and efficacy of a given treatment or procedure [1-6]. Class recommendations of the guidelines are changing and are revised in line with the developments of diagnosis and treatment, also with new studies. The consensus of cardiologists about class II recommendations of ESC guidelines on levels of evidence regarding CAD, HT, DM and dyslipidemia is important. Surveys help us verify that diagnostic and treatment practices for CVD comply with the guidelines recommended. Therefore, we planned our survey to evaluate approach of cardiologists in their clinical practice on the class II recommendations in the current ESC guidelines.

METHODS

Our study targeted cardiologists working at university hospitals, state hospitals, education and research hospitals, private hospitals and medical centers in the seven geographical regions of Turkey. This study was targeted out on September 2020 with the participation of cardiologists (n = 102).

The survey was shared with the cardiologists via e-mail. 103 cardiologist received our survey and 102 (99.03%) cardiologist answered all the questions of the survey. The survey, consisting of 40 questions, was conducted to evaluate the awareness of cardiologists on approaches to cardiovascular diseases in class II recommendations in the ESC guidelines. Questions were selected based on the guideline recommendations that are frequently discussed in daily practice. Our survey covers topic regarding the diagnosis and treatment strategies in CAD, DM, valvular heart disease, arrhythmia, dyslipidemia and heart failure (HF). In our survey, questions were prepared by taking into account class II recommendations in the 2019 ESC dyslipidemia guidelines [3], 2019 ESC diabetes, prediabetes and cardiovascular diseases guidelines [4], 2019 ESC supraventricular tachycardia guidelines [5], 2019 chronic coronary syndrome (CCS) guidelines [6] and class II recommendations in the 2020 ESC sports cardiology guidelines [7], 2020 ESC atrial fibrillation guidelines [8], 2020 ESC adult congenital heart disease guidelines [9], and 2020 ESC Acute Coronary Syndromes in Patients Presenting without Persistent ST-Segment Elevation Guidelines [10]. Survey questions were answered online by the participants.

Ethics committee approval of our study was received from Ufuk University School of Medicine Non-Interventional Clinical Research Commission with date and number 20200521/3.

The study period was determined as 3 (three) months, and at the end of this period, survey data were collected through the Survey Monkey survey research site which uses an internet database from physicians who voluntarily completed the questionnaire. The answers of a cardiologist who completed the questionnaire, but did not approve the use of the data for scientific purposes, was excluded from the analysis. Survey data from the other 102 (99.03%) cardiologists who gave their consent were included in the analysis.

Statistical Analysis

IBM SPSS Statistics 25.0 Program was used. Categorical variables are given as numbers (n) and percentages (%). G Power 3.1.9.7 programme was done for the sample size calculation. Estimated sample size was calculated using Student's-t test with 80% power, $\alpha = 0.05$ error level and Cohen (d) effect size = 0.3. Accordingly, it was found appropriate to complete the study with at least 100 participants.

RESULTS

Of the participants, 13 (12.75%) were under the age of 30, 81 (79.41) were between the ages of 30-45, and 8 (7.84%) between the ages of 46-65. There were no participants over the age of 65. The male gender was

dominant in our survey (male: 84.31%, female: 15.69%). There were 29 (28.43%) participants who worked as a cardiologist for less than 5 years and 46 (45.10%) participants who worked as a cardiologist for 5 to 10 years. When look at the institutions where participants work, state hospitals ranked first with 55.88%, whereas university hospitals ranked second with 36.27%. The percentage of cardiologists who examined 60 or more out-patients daily was 35.29%, and the proportion of cardiologists who examined 41-60 - out-patients daily was 32.35%. The proportion of cardiologists who examined 20 out-patients or less was 12.75% (Figs. 1 and 2).

We grouped the results of our survey under the headings of diabetes and cardiovascular system, cardiovascular prevention and diagnosis, CAD, dyslipidemia, arrhythmia, valvular heart disease, and HF. We specified the responses to the survey questions in the relevant subject field within the results of our survey.

Diabetes and Cardiovascular System

Participants stated that they mostly preferred coronary artery calcium scoring with computed tomography (CT) (50.0%) for cardiovascular (CV) risk assessment in asymptomatic patients with DM. In these patients, carotid ultrasonography (USG) and ankle brachial index (ABI) are preferred at a rate of 33.3%, and 13.73%, respectively. Interestingly, 33 (32.35%) cardiologists stated that they did not prefer any of the carotid USG, coronary artery calcium scoring with CT or ABI in the assessment of CV risk in asymptomatic patients with DM. In asymptomatic patients with DM, 62 (60.78%) participants considered CT coronary angiography or functional imaging in CAD screening, 7.84% of the participants were not sure. Sixty-three (60%) participants thought there was enough evidence to recommend a Mediterranean diet rich in poly- and mono-unsaturated fats to reduce CV events in pre-diabetic patients. 59.80% of the participants held the opinion that there is sufficient evidence for the hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) < 7% to prevent macrovascular complications in diabetic patients. In addition, 72.55% of the participants held that systolic blood pressure target should be < 130 mmHg in this group. Sixty-one (65.69%) participants gave the answer yes to the question about low-dose aspirin prescription rate for primary prevention in high-risk patients with DM. Interestingly, 55 (53.92%) cardiologists did not agree with the recommendation classifying beta-blockers in class IIB in the ESC 2020 diabetes guideline for patients with DM and CAD. When we identified three-vessel disease with a SYN-TAX score of 15 in the diabetic patient with CCS, 53.92% of the cardiologists considered percutaneous







Fig. 2. The number of out-patients dealt with by the participants daily.

coronary intervention (PCI) and 43.14% did not consider PCI despite low surgical risk (Table 1).

Cardiovascular Prevention and Diagnosis

The participants stated that they frequently preferred the treadmill exercise test (38.24%) to determine CAD in asymptomatic patients aged over 50 years, with HT and hyperlipidemia. Interestingly, the total consideration for myocardial perfusion scintigraphy (MPS) alone, and treadmill exercise test in men, and MPS in women (23.53%) was lower than the consideration for coronary CT angiography alone (25.49%). Importantly, the addition of a long-term second antithrombotic drug to aspirin for secondary prevention was not predominantly considered (79.41%) in patients with DM and CAD at high risk of bleeding.

Coronary Artery Disease

In patients who did not have major bleeding complications after acute coronary syndrome (ACS) and who tolerated dual antiplatelet treatment (DAPT), the proportion of participants who recommended DAPT for a period longer than a year was 49 (48.04%), and who did not was 43 (42.16%). It is interesting to note that no participant considered triple antithrombotic therapy more than 6 months in patients with atrial fibrillation (AF) at high risk of stent thrombosis, whereas the proportion of participants who said they would not consider it at all was 2.94%.

To a survey question involving a patient with CCS and angina with accompanying hypertension and hyperlipidemia, who presented a ST segment depression of 1.5 mm in inferior leads in treadmill exercise testing and 55% ejection fraction (EF) in echocardiography, 71.57% of the participants considered revascularization following coronary angiography, and 28.43% considered medical treatment alone. When we asked the participants whether patients undergoing PCI for ACS or elective PCI should be routinely subject to high-dose statin loading before the procedure, 55 (53.92%) participants agreed, 17 (16.67%) participants were not sure.

In patients with non-ST-elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI), the majority of the participants (91.18%) considered glycoprotein IIb/IIIa (GPIIb / IIIa) antagonists in no-reflow condition during PCI. In patients who underwent stent implantation after NSTEMI, also at high risk of bleeding, 53 (51.96%) participants stated that they continued P2Y12 receptor inhibitors for 6 months, 30 (29.41%) for 3 months and 17 (16.67%) for 1 month. Most of the participants (68.63%) stated that they did not consider complete revascularization in the same session in patients with NSTEMI-ACS with multi-vessel CAD and without cardiogenic shock. Ninety-nine (97.06%) participants stated that a short-term mechanical support device or inotropic agents can be used in cardiogenic shock after ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) if possible. Ninety-four (92.16%) participants stated that in patients with chronic renal failure, they applied hydration with isotonic saline before and after the procedure if the expected contrast volume in invasive strategies was > 100 mL (Table 2).

Dyslipidemia

The lowest low density lipoprotein (LDL) value reached in practice with treatment by the cardiologists participating in the study was 40-70 mg/dl for 56 (54.90%) participants and < 40 mg/dl for 32 (31.37%) participants. One of the striking results of the survey

Table 1. Diabetes and cardiovascular system

Question	Answers	n (%)
Which of the following risk modifier would you consider for cardiovascular assessment in asymptomatic patients with DM?	Carotid USG Coronary artery calcium score by CT	34 (33.3) 51 (50%)
	ABI No idea None	14 (13.73) 2 (1.96) 33 (32.35)
Would you consider CT coronary angiography or functional imaging (radionuclide myocardial perfusion imaging, stress cardiac MRI, or exercise / pharmacological stress echocardiography) screening for CAD asymptomatic patients with DM?	Yes No Not sure No idea	62 (60.78) 32 (31.37) 8 (7.84) 0 (0)
Do you think we have enough evidence to recommend a Mediterranean diet, rich in polyunsaturated and monounsaturated fats, for pre-diabetic patients to reduce CV events?	Yes No Not sure No idea	63 (61.76) 19 (18.63) 17 (16.67) 3 (2.94)
Do you think opinions and evidence are sufficient for the target of $HbA1C < 7\%$ in diabetic patients to avoid macrovascular complications?	Yes No Not sure No idea	61 (59.80) 25 (24.51) 15 (14.71) 1 (0.98)
In which of the diabetic patient groups would you target SBP < 130 mmHg?	High risk group Very high risk group None No idea	74 (72.55) 21 (20.59) 7 (6.86) 0 (0)
Would you prescribe low-dose aspirin (75 - 100 mg / day) for primary prevention in diabetic patients with a very high CV risk (in the absence of significant contraindications)?	Yes No Not sure No idea	67 (65.69) 32 (31.37) 3 (2.94) 0 (0)
The ESC 2019 diabetes guideline recommends treatment with beta blockers as class IIb in patients with DM and CAD	Agree Disagree No idea	44 (43.14) 55 (53.92) 3 (2.94)
When you detect a three-vessel disease with a SYNTAX score of 15 in your diabetic patient with CCS, would you consider PCI despite the low surgical risk?	Yes No Not sure No idea	55 (53.92) 44 (43.14) 3 (2.94) 0 (0)
Would you consider the addition of a second long-term antithrombotic drug in addition to aspirin for secondary prevention in patients with DM and CAD without high risk of bleeding?	Yes No Not sure No idea	18 (17.65) 81 (79.41) 3 (2.94) 0 (0)
Would you consider DAPT for longer than 1 year in diabetic patients who do not have major bleeding complications after acute coronary syndrome and who tolerate DAPT?	Yes No Not sure No idea	49 (48.04) 43 (42.16) 10 (9.80) 0 (0)

The questions in this table were prepared based on 2019 Guidelines on Diabetes, Pre-Diabetes and Cardiovascular Diseases [4]. ABI = ankle brachial index, CAD = coronary artery disease, CCS = chronic coronary syndrome, CT = computed tomography, CV = cardiovascular, DM = diabetes mellitus, HbA1c = hemoglobin A1c, MRI = magnetic resonance imaging, PCI = percutaneous coronary intervention, SBP = systolic blood pressure, USG = ultrasonography

How long would you continue triple1-2 week11 (10.78)therapy with aspirin, clopidogrel and an4 week44 (43.14)OAC after PCI in your patients who had3 months15 (14.71)	Question	111500015	n (70)
therapy with aspirin, clopidogrel and an OAC after PCI in your patients who had4 week44 (43.14)3 months15 (14.71)	How long would you continue triple	1-2 week	11 (10.78)
OAC after PCI in your patients who had 3 months 15 (14.71)	therapy with aspirin, clopidogrel and an	4 week	44 (43.14)
	OAC after PCI in your patients who had	3 months	15 (14.71)
AF and high risk of stent thrombosis? 3-6 months 29 (28.43)	AF and high risk of stent thrombosis?	3-6 months	29 (28.43)
> 6 months $0 (0)$		> 6 months	0(0)
$\frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}$		Ever	3(294)
What would be your primary anti-anginal treatment considered in 58-year-old male patient with CCS? In addition he had HT, Hyperlipidemia, 1.5 mm ST depression in DII, DIII and aVF derivations in the treadmill exercise test and 55% EF in echo, and had no previous ACS?Drug therapy Revascularization following coronary angiography29 (28.43) 73 (71.57)	What would be your primary anti-anginal treatment considered in 58-year-old male patient with CCS? In addition he had HT, Hyperlipidemia, 1.5 mm ST depression in DII, DIII and aVF derivations in the treadmill exercise test and 55% EF in echo, and had no previous ACS?	Drug therapy Revascularization following coronary angiography	29 (28.43) 73 (71.57)
Which of the following tests would youMyocardial perfusion scintigraphy10 (9.80)	Which of the following tests would you	Myocardial perfusion scintigraphy	10 (9.80)
usually consider for the detection of Treadmill effort test 39 (38.24)	usually consider for the detection of	Treadmill effort test	39 (38.24)
coronary artery disease in asymptomatic CT angiography 26 (25.49)	coronary artery disease in asymptomatic	CT angiography	26 (25.49)
patients over 50 years of age with H1 and Treadmill exercise test in men, myocardial 14 (13.73)	patients over 50 years of age with H1 and	l readmill exercise test in men, myocardial	14 (13.73)
None 13 (12 75)	Hyperiipideillia ?	None	13 (12 75)
Should routine high-dose statin loading be Yes 55 (53.92)	Should routine high-dose statin loading be	Yes	55 (53.92)
performed before the procedure in patients No 29 (28.43)	performed before the procedure in patients	No	29 (28.43)
undergoing PCI for ACS or elective PCI? Not sure 17 (16.67)	undergoing PCI for ACS or elective PCI?	Not sure	17 (16.67)
No idea 1 (0.98)		No idea	1 (0.98)
Do you prefer GP IIb / IIIa antagonists in Yes 93 (91.18)	Do you prefer GP IIb / IIIa antagonists in	Yes	93 (91.18)
case of no-reflow during percutaneous No 4 (3.92)	case of no-reflow during percutaneous	No Not sume	4 (3.92)
patients? No idea 2 (1.96)	patients?	No idea	3 (2.94) 2 (1.96)
When do you consider discontinuing 1 month $17(16.67)$	When do you consider discontinuing	1 month	17 (16 67)
P2Y12 receptor inhibitör treatment in 3 months 30 (29.41)	P2Y12 receptor inhibitör treatment in	3 months	30 (29.41)
patients with high risk of bleeding 6 months 53 (51.96)	patients with high risk of bleeding	6 months	53 (51.96)
undergoing stent implantation after No idea 2 (1.96)	undergoing stent implantation after	No idea	2 (1.96)
NSTEMI?	NSTEMI?		
Do you perform complete Yes 26 (25.49)	Do you perform complete	Yes	26 (25.49)
revascularization in the same session in No $/0$ (68.63)	revascularization in the same session in	No Not sure	/0 (68.63)
$\begin{array}{c} \text{Not sure} \\ \text{CAD without cardiogenic shock} \\ \end{array}$	CAD without cardiogenic shock?	No idea	4 (3.92)
If the expected contrast volume in Yes 94 (92.16)	If the expected contrast volume in	Ves	94 (92.16)
$\frac{1}{100} \text{ mvocardial revascularization is } 100 \text{ mL} \text{ No} \qquad 6 (5.88)$	myocardial revascularization is $> 100 \text{ mL}$	No	6 (5.88)
in patients with chronic kidney failure, do you hydrate before and after the procedure with isotonic saline?	in patients with chronic kidney failure, do you hydrate before and after the procedure with isotonic saline?	No idea	2 (1.96)
What is the lowest LDL range value you > 100 2 (1.96)	What is the lowest LDL range value you	> 100	2 (1.96)
have reached with treatment in practice? 70-100 12 (11.76)	have reached with treatment in practice?	70-100	12 (11.76)
40-70 56 (54 90)		40-70	56 (54 90)
< 40 32 (31.37)		< 40	32 (31.37)

Table 2. Chronic coronary syndrome, ACS without persistent ST segment elevation and dyslipidemia

Question	Answers	n (%)
Do you also consider Lp(a) values in the	Yes	7 (6.86)
treatment plan of your patients with	No	35 (34.31)
dyslipidemia?	Sometimes	7 (6.86)
	There is no possibility to measure Lp(a) level in my center	53 (51.96)
Would you consider statin + fenofibrate	Very rare	28 (27.45)
treatment for primary prevention or high-	Rare	47 (46.08)
risk patients if the LDL-C target is	Sometimes	22 (21.57)
achieved and TG levels are > 200 mg/dL?	Often	2 (1.96)
	Ever	3 (2.94)
How often do you prescribe the Ezetimib	Very rare	43 (42.16)
+ Statine combination?	Rare	37 (36.27)
	Sometimes	16 (15.69)
	Often	4 (3.92)
	Ever	2 (1.96)

Table 2 contunied. Chronic coronary syndrome, ACS without persistent ST segment elevation and dyslipidemia

The questions in this table were prepared based on 2020 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes, 2019 ESC/EAS Guidelines for the management of dyslipidaemias, 2019 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of chronic coronary syndromes [3, 6, 10]. ACS = acute coronary syndrome, AF = atrial fibrillation, CCS = chronic coronary syndrome, CT = computed tomography, DAPT = dual antiplatelet treatment, EF = ejection fraction, GP Iib/IIIa = glycoprotein Iib/IIIa, HT = hypertension, LDL = low density lipoprotein, Lp(a) = lipoprotein a, NSTEMI = non-ST-elevation myocardial infarction, PCI = percutaneous coronary intervention, STEMI = ST-elevation myocardial infarction

was the answer given to the question whether Lp(a) levels were taken into account in order to guide the treatment in patients with dyslipidemia. Fifty-three (51.96%) participants stated that they did not have the capability to measure the Lp(a) level at their center, and 34.31% said they did not consider it. Fenofibrate + statin combination (very rare: 27.45%, rare 46.06%) and ezetimibe + statin combination (very rare: 42.16%, rarely 36.27%) were rarely considered in the treatment of dyslipidemia (see Table 2).

Arrhythmia

One of the important points is that the majority of the participants (77.45%) said they would not recommend an oral anticoagulant to a 60-year-old male patient with AF and a CHA2DS2-VASc score < 1. Forty-five (44.12%) participants said they frequently used the HAS-BLED score in clinical practice to evaluate the bleeding risk of patients with AF, whereas 35 (34.31%) said they used it sometimes and 5 (4.9%) said they never used it. 48 (47.06%) cardiologists said they frequently used amiodarone or propafenone before elective electrical cardioversion in atrial fibrillation, 24 (23.53%) said they used it sometimes and 10 (9.80%) said they never used it.

Ninety-one (%89.22) of cardiologists said they considered closure of the appendix in patients with AF who are at higher risk of stroke and in whom long-term oral anticoagulants are contraindicated. The proportion of considering catheter ablation treatment to asymptomatic Wolff-Parkinson-White (WPW) patients was 58.82%, whereas the proportion of those who had no idea was 5.88%. In stable acute wide QRS tachycardia, 67.65% of the participants considered amiodarone. 83 participants (82.18%) considered catheter ablation in athletes with paroxysmal supraventricular tachycardia (PSVT) without pre-excitation (Table-3).

Valvular Heart Disease and Adult Congenital Heart Disease

In the treatment planning of patients with asymptomatic severe aortic stenosis, 36.27% of the participants recommended exercise test, and 36.27% of the participants did not. One of the striking results of the questionnaire was that 84 (83.17%) cardiologists said

Question		n(0/.)
	Answers	
would you consider the use of oral	Yes	18 (17.65)
anticoagulation in a 60-year-old male patient	No	/9 (//.45)
with AF and a CHA2DS2-VASC score <1?	Not sure	5 (4.90)
	No idea	0 (0)
Do you use the HAS-BLED risk score to	Very rare	8 (7.84)
evaluate the bleeding risk of patients with	Rare	9 (8.82)
atrial fibrillation in your clinical practice?	Sometimes	35 (34.31)
	Often	45 (44.12)
	Ever	5 (4.90)
Do you use amiodarone or propafenone	Very rare	7 (6.86)
beforehand to facilitate the success of elective	Rare	13 (12.75)
electrical cardioversion in your patients with	Sometimes	24 (23.53)
AF?	Often	48 (47.06)
	Ever	10 (9.80)
Appendix closure in patients with AF who	Recommend	91 (89.22)
have a high risk of stroke and in whom long-	Do not recommend	7 (6.86)
term oral anticoagulants are contraindicated	No idea	4 (3.92)
In patients with suspected paradoxical	I definitely think	46 (45.10)
embolism (after excluding other causes). ASD	I think	44 (43 14)
should be closed regardless of size in the	I don't think	10 (9.80)
absence of PAH and left ventricular disease	I definitely don't think	0(0)
	No idea	2 (1.96)
Would you consider ontheter oblation therapy	Vac	60 (58 52)
to your asymptomatic WPW patient?	I CS	36(35.32)
to your asymptomatic wit w patient:	No idea	50(55.29)
In Amin damage aroun fingt all size in stable south	No idea	0(3.00)
vide OPS techycardia?	I CS	09(07.03)
wide QKS tachycardia?	NO	32(31.37)
	No idea	1 (0.98)
Would you consider catheter ablation in	Yes	83 (82.18)
competitive athletes who have paroxysmal	No	18 (17.82)
pre-excitation?	No idea	0 (0)
Would you consider an exercise treadmil test	Yes	37 (36.27)
to plan treatment for your patient with	No	37 (36 27)
asymptomatic severe aortic stenosis?	Sometimes	28 (27 45)
5 1	No idea	0(0)
Would you consider that additional aortic	Ves	84 (83 17%)
valve replacement to the patients with	No	Q (8 Q1%)
moderate aortic stenosis who are scheduled for	L leave the decision to the heart surgeon	8(7.02%)
CABG?	I have the decision to the heart surgeon	0 (7.9270)
Bromocriptine treatment in peripartum	Use in all cases	14 (13.73)
cardiomyopathy	Use if there is no cardiogenic shock	14 (13.73)
	Use in cases with high prolactin levels	31 (30.39)
	Use if there is RV failure and / or cardiogenic	× /
	shock	23 (22.55)
	Never use	20 (19.61)

Table 3. Adult congenital heart disease, atrial fibrillation and sports cardiology

The questions in this table were prepared based on 2020 ESC Guidelines for the management of Adult Congenital Heart Disease, 2020 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of atrial fibrillation, 2020 ESC Guidelines on sports cardiology and exercise in patients with cardiovascular disease, 2019 ESC Guidelines for the management of patients with supraventricular tachycardia [5, 7-9]. AF = atrial fibrillation, ASD = atrial septal defect, CABG = coronary artery bypass graft, RV = right ventricul, PAH = pulmonary arterial hypertension, PSVT = paroxysmal supraventricular tachycardia, WPW = Wolff-Parkinson-White

that aortic valve replacement should be performed during the procedure in patients with moderate aortic stenosis who were scheduled for coronary artery bypass graft (CABG), and 9 (8.91%) said it should not be performed. The number of cardiologists who said he or she would leave the decision to the heart surgeon was 8 (7.92%) (see Table-3).

The proportion of those who definitely recommend atrial septal defect (ASD) closure regardless of its size in patients with suspected paradoxical embolism (who do not have pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) and left ventricular disease) was 45.10%.

Heart Failure

We asked the participants about the conditions in which they would prefer bromocriptine treatment in peripartum cardiomyopathy, a recent topic of discussion, 13.37% of the participants stated that they would use it in all cases and 19.61% said they did not use it at all. Fourteen (13.37%) participants said they would use it if there was no cardiogenic shock, 30.39% said they would use it in cases with high prolactin level, and 22.55% said they would use it in the absence of right ventricular failure and cardiogenic shock (Table3).

DISCUSSION

In this survey study, we aimed to assess the perspective of cardiologists on ESC class-II recommendations and to raise awareness.

In the assessment of cardiovascular risk in asymptomatic patients with diabetes mellitus, 33 (32.35%) cardiologists stated that they did not prefer either carotid USG, coronary calcium scoring with CT, or ABI, a finding suggesting that there is a difference of opinion regarding the class II recommendations. We think that cost, difficulties in accessing diagnostic tests, and patient-related reasons may be effective in this situation.

In addition, the fact that the participants stated they mostly preferred coronary artery calcium scoring by CT (50.0%), and to a large extent (60.78%), recommended CT coronary angiography or functional imaging for CAD screening shows that a significant number of participants favor selective or nonselective coronary artery imaging. We estimate that the availability of coronary angiography units in many centers was effective in forming such a consensus.

Although beta blockers were classified in class IIB recommendation in patients with DM and CAD in the ESC 2020 diabetes guidelines, 55 (53.92%) cardiologists did not agree with this recommendation. We think that the reason for the high rate of disagreement with this recommendation is that beta blockers may cause glucose irregularity and do not have a sufficient effect on survival in symptomatic patients.

The predominance of those who did not recommend the addition of a second long-term antithrombotic drug to aspirin for secondary protection (79.41%) in patients with DM and CAD without high risk of bleeding suggests that the concerns over the risk of bleeding still outweigh administration of DAPT. However, according to EUROASPIRE IV Turkey data, antiplatelet drugs, beta blockers, ACEI/ARB and statins were used more frequently than EUROASPIRE III Turkey data. This may suggest that patients' awareness has increased and they have started to use their medications more regularly. EU-ROASPIRE-IV Turkey data revealed that second-ary prevention was unsatisfactory and had progressed unfavorably compared with last EUROASPIRE study, some risk factors were more uncontrolled than overall European average, and coronary artery events at young age remain an important problem [11]. In this respect, it may be necessary to apply additional diagnostic tests to patients with risk factors.

In patients with CCS, angina and accompanying comorbid diseases, with ischemia findings on treadmill exercise testing and echocardiography, 71.57% of the cardiologists said they could consider revascularization with coronary angiography for anti-anginal treatment. We think that the reason behind this opinion is the relative ease of access to coronary angiography units, low complication rates, the perceived difficulty in the application and follow-up of maximal medical treatment. The TURKMI registry demonstrated that PCI was performed in Turkey with a low risk of complication in acute MI. This study also showed that the risk of in-hospital mortality decreased by 50% during 20 years probably due to an increased number of PCI and high level of guideline implementation [12].

A significant percentage of the participants stated that they could not measure Lp(a) levels in terms of guiding the treatment in dyslipidemia patients, and some of them stated that they did not take it into account. Most likely, the fact that parameters such as LDL, HDL and triglycerides are more easily accessible in many health centers contributed to this result. In addition, more frequent studies have been reported on parameters such as LDL, HDL and triglycerides rather than Lp(a) level in the planning of hyperlipidemia treatment and follow-up.

The fact that the majority of the participants (77.45%) would not give oral anticoagulants to patients AF and a CHA2DS2-VASc score < 1 indicates that the worries about bleeding prevail. According to GARFIELD-AF TURKEY data; AF patients in Turkey were mostly seen in young women. However, despite being younger, patients had a significant burden of comorbidity. Stroke risk by CHADS2 score and CHA2DS2-VASc score compared with world data. The average of the risk score values, including the HAS-BLED score, was lower in Turkey than in the world data. FXa inhibitors alone or in combination with antiplatelets have been prescribed more frequently in low- and high-risk patients in Turkey. New oral anticoagulant (NOAC) therapy was replaced with antiplatelets when the bleeding risk was higher. Allcause mortality was higher in Turkey [13]. In addition RAMSES study showed that the awareness of stroke preventions strategies for NVAF has increased in Turkey and that more than two-thirds of NVAF patients were on OAC therapy. However, the proportion of antiplatelet use was still high among NVAF patients. The findings also showed that NOACs are preferred over VKAs for anticoagulation in a representative clinical population of NVAF patients [14]. The recommendation of catheter ablation in athletes with paroxysmal supraventricular tachycardia without pre-excitation by 83 (82.18%) participants may be associated with the belief that chances of success are high in interventional procedures.

There was consensus among the participants given that 83.17% of the participants said aortic valve replacement should be performed during the procedure in patients who were scheduled for CABG and who had moderate aortic stenosis.

We concluded that there was no clear consensus

among participants on the conditions in which they would prefer bromocriptine treatment in peripartum cardiomyopathy, a recent topic of discussion. We think that meta-analyses and larger studies are needed on this subject.

Limitations

In this survey study, class-II recommendations were not evaluated separately as IIa and IIb. Equal distribution was not made from the seven geographical regions of Turkey. Also, the sample size was relatively small. It is inevitable that the cardiologists participating in the survey affected the answers given due to the different service quality of the study centers.

CONCLUSION

Health services in Turkey can contribute to the implementation of some ESC class-II recommendations by increasing access to services in diagnosis and treatment. In online or live training meetings; awareness can be created by literature studies, experience sharing and national multicenter studies on ESC class-II recommendations. At the same time, Turkey's data on this subject can be obtained and contributed to real-life results.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: MK, BE; Study Design: MZ, MK; Supervision: BE, TG; Funding: MK, TG; Materials: MK, TG; Data Collection and/or Processing: MK, TG; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: TG, MK; Literature Review: MK, BE, TG; Manuscript Preparation: KÇ and Critical Review: MZ, TG.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

Acknowledgement

We would like to thank the Cardiovascular Academy Society for their support.

Table Appendix: Supplementary data

Questions	Options
What is your age range?	< 30
	30-45
	40-03 >65
Your Gender?	Female
	Male
How long have you been working as a cardiologist?	< 5 year 5, 10 year
	11-15 year
	> 15 year
What is your practice setting?	University Public Hospital
	Private Hospital
	Private Practice
Number of patients you care for per day in the outpatient clinics?	< 20
	41-60
	> 60
Which of the following methods would you consider for cardiovascular risk assessment in asymptomatic DM	Carotid USG
patients? (you can choose more than one option)	calcium score by
	CT
	ABI (ankle
	I have no idea.
	None.
Would you consider CT coronary angiography or functional imaging (radionuclide myocardial perfusion imaging stress cardiac MRL or everyise / nharmacological stress echocardiography) for asymptomatic DM	Yes
patients?	I am indecisive.
	I have no idea.
Do you think we have enough evidence to recommend a Mediterranean diet rich in polyunsaturated and monounsaturated fats for pre-diabetic patients to reduce cardiovascular events?	Yes
	I am indecisive.
De sees thigh an initian and an ideas and an fifth instances have been the LHAAC <70/ together another	I have no idea.
macrovascular complications in diabetic patients?	r es No
r in r	I am indecisive.
For which of the following dispetie notions groups would you target SDD <120 mmHz?	I have no idea.
For which of the following diabetic patient groups would you target SBF <150 mining?	Very high risk
	group
	None.
Would you prescribe low dose aspirin (75 - 100 mg / day) for primary prevention in diabetic patients with	Yes
very high CV risk (in cases where there are no obvious contraindications)?	No
	I am indecisive.
The ESC 2019 diabetes guideline recommends beta-blockers class IIb for DM and CAD patients.	I agree.
	I do not agree.
If you detect a three-vessel disease with a SVNTAX score of 15 in your diabetic chronic coronary artery	I have no idea.
patient, would you recommend PCI despite the low surgical risk?	No
- · · · · ·	I am indecisive.
	I have no idea.

Table Appendix Continued: Supplementary data

Questions	Options
Which of the following tests do you usually prefer for the detection of coronary artery disease in patients over 50 with asymptomatic, HT and Hyperlipidemia?	Myocardial perfusion scintigraphy Treadmill Effort Test
	CT angiography Treadmill Effort Test in men, myocardial perfusion scintigraphy in women None
Would you consider the addition of a second long-term antithrombotic medication in addition to aspirin for secondary prevention in DM and CAD patients who are not at high risk of bleeding?	Yes No I am indecisive. I have no idea.
Would you consider dual antiplatelet therapy for longer than 1 year in diabetic patients who do not have major bleeding complications after acute coronary syndrome and who tolerate DAPT?	Yes No I am indecisive. I have no idea.
Would you consider the use of oral anticoagulation in a patient with AF, Male, 60 years old, with CHA2DS2-VASc score < 1?	Yes No I am indecisive. I have no idea.
What is the lowest LDL range value you have achieved with treatment in your practice?	> 100 mg/dL 70-100 mg/dL 40-70 mg/dL
For how long would you consider triple antiplatelet therapy after PCI in your patients with AF for whom you think the risk of stent thrombosis is high?	1-2 weeks 4 weeks 3 months 3 to 6 months Never
Do you also consider the lipoprotein (Lp(a)) values in the treatment plan of your dyslipidemia patients?	Yes No Sometimes It is not possible to measure Lp(a) level in the center where I carry out my practices.
How often do you prescribe the Fenofibrate + Statin combination?	Very rarely Rarely Sometimes Often Never

Table Appendix Continued: Supplementary data

Questions	Options
What would be your primary anti-anginal treatment preference in your chronic coronary syndrome patient, who is 58 years old, male, suffering from angina, with HT, Hyperlipidemia, 1.5 mm ST depression in DII, DIII and aVF derivations in exercise treadmill test and with an EF of 55% in echo?	Medical treatment Revascularization following coronary angiography
How often do you prescribe the Ezetimibe + Statin combination?	Very rarely Rarely Sometimes Often Never
Should routine loading with high-dose statin be performed before the procedure in patients undergoing PCI with ACS or elective PCI plan?	Yes No I am indecisive. I have no idea.
Would you consider catheter ablation therapy to your asymptomatic WPW patient?	Yes No I have no idea.
Is Amiodarone your first choice in stable acute wide QRS tachycardia?	Yes No I have no idea.
Would you consider Appendix Closure in AF patients with high risk of stroke and contraindicated use of long-term oral anticoagulants?	I would recommend. I would not recommend. I have no idea.
Would you use short-term mechanical assist devices or inotropic agents if possible in cardiogenic shock after STEMI?	I would use. I would not use. I have no idea.
Do you use Bromocriptine treatment in peripartum cardiomyopathy?	I use it in all cases. I use it if there is no cardiogenic shock. I use it in cases with high prolactin levels. I use it if there is RV failure and/or cardiogenic shock. I never use it.
Do you use the HAS-BLED risk score to evaluate the bleeding risk of atrial fibrillation patients in your clinical practice?	Very rarely Rarely Sometimes Never Often
Do you use amiodarone or propafenone in advance to facilitate the success of elective electrical cardioversion in your AF patients?	Very rarely Rarely Sometimes Never Often

Table Appendix Continued: Supplementary data

Questions	Options
Do you consider using GP IIb/IIIa antagonists in case of no-reflow during percutaneous coronary intervention in NSTEMI patients?	Yes
	INO L ann in de aisirte
	I am indecisive.
Here have descent and DOV10 accepter in hill it and encode and in a stight with with a filler diverse here.	1 nave no idea.
How long do you continue P2 Y12 receptor innibitor therapy in patients with high risk of bleeding who underwent stept implantation after NSTEMI2	1 month
	6 months
	I have no idea.
Do you consider full revascularization in the same session in NSTEMI-ACS patients with multivessel CAD	Yes
without cardiogenic shock?	No
	I am indecisive.
	I have no idea.
Do you hydrate with isotonic saline before and after treatment if the expected contrast volume in invasive $\frac{1}{2}$	Yes
strategies in patients with chronic renal failure is> 100 mL?	NO I have no idea
Would you consider catheter ablation for athletes with paroxysmal suprayentricular tachycardia (PSVT)	Yes
without pre-excision?	No
	I have no idea.
Would you consider ASD closure regardless of size in patients with suspected paradoxical embolism (after excluding other causes) unless they have PAH and left ventricular disease?	
	I would not
	I would definitely
	not consider
	I have no idea.
Would you consider an exercise test to plan the treatment of your patient with asymptomatic severe aortic	Yes
stenosis?	No
	Sometimes
	I have no idea.
Do you think aortic valve replacement should be performed in patients with moderate aortic stenosis in addition to the planned CABG?	Y es No
addition to the planned CADO?	I leave the
	decision to the
	heart surgeon.
Do you consent to the use of the answers you provided within the scope of the current survey in scientific	I consent.
processes (provided that your information remains anonymous)?	I do not consent.

REFERENCES

1. Balbay Y, Gagnon-Arpin I, Malhan S, Öksüz ME, Sutherland G, Dobrescu A, et al. Modeling the burden of cardiovascular disease in Turkey. Anatol J Cardiol 2018;20:235-40.

2. Stewart J, Manmathan G, Wilkinson P. Primary prevention of cardiovascular disease: A review of contemporary guidance and literature. JRSM Cardiovasc Dis 2017;6:2048004016687211.

3. Mach F, Baigent C, Catapano AL, Koskinas KC, Casula M, Badimon L, et al. 2019 ESC/EAS Guidelines for the management of dyslipidaemias: lipid modification to reduce cardiovascular risk. Eur Heart J 2020;41:111-88.

4. Cosentino F, Grant PJ, Aboyans V, Bailey CJ, Ceriello A, Delgado V, et al. 2019 ESC Guidelines on diabetes, pre-diabetes, and cardiovascular diseases developed in collaboration with the EASD. Eur Heart J 2020;41:255-323.

5. Brugada J, Katritsis DG, Arbelo E, Arribas F, Bax JJ, Blom

ström-Lundqvist C, et al. 2019 ESC Guidelines for the management of patients with supraventricular tachycardiaThe Task Force for the management of patients with supraventricular tachycardia of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J 2020;41:655-720.

6. Knuuti J, Wijns W, Saraste A, Capodanno D, Barbato E, Funck-Brentano C, et al. 2019 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of chronic coronary syndromes. Eur Heart J 2020;41:407-77.

7. Pelliccia A, Sharma S, Gati S, Bäck M, Börjesson M, Caselli S, et al. 2020 ESC Guidelines on sports cardiology and exercise in patients with cardiovascular disease. Eur Heart J 2021;42:17-96.

8. Hindricks G, Potpara T, Dagres N, Arbelo E, Bax JJ, Blomström-Lundqvist C, et al. 2020 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with the European Association of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS). Eur Heart J 2021;42:373-498.

9. Baumgartner H, De Backer J, Babu-Narayan SV, Budts W, Chessa M, Diller GP, et al. 2020 ESC Guidelines for the management of adult congenital heart disease. Eur Heart J 2021;42:563-645.

10. Collet JP, Thiele H, Barbato E, Barthélémy O, Bauersachs J, Bhatt DL, et al. 2020 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation. Eur Heart J 2020;42:1289-1367.

11. Tokgözoğlu L, Kayıkçıoğlu M, Altay S, Aydoğdu S, Barçın C, Bostan C, et al. EUROASPIRE-IV: European Society of Cardiology study of lifestyle, risk factors, and treatment approaches in patients with coronary artery disease: Data from Turkey. Turk Kardiyol Dern Ars 2017;45:134-44.

12. Kilickap M, Erol MK, Kayikcioglu M, Kocayigit I, Gitmez M, Can V, et al. Short and midterm outcomes in patients with acute myocardial infarction: results of the Nationwide TURKMI Registry. Angiology 2021;72:339-47.

13. Sayın B, Okutucu S, Yılmaz MB, Özdemir K, Aydınlar A, Şahin DY, et al. Antithrombotic treatment patterns and stroke prevention in patients with atrial fibrillation in TURKEY: inferences from GARFIELD-AF registry. Anatol J Cardiol 2019;21:272-80. 14. Başaran Ö, Beton O, Doğan V, Tekinalp M, Aykan AÇ, Kalaycıoğlu E, et al. RAMSES Study. ReAl-life Multicenter Survey Evaluating Stroke prevention strategies in non-valvular atrial fibrillation (RAMSES study). Anatol J Cardiol 2016;16:734-41.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.1027423

Biophysics

Quipazine treatment exacerbates oxidative stress in glutamate-induced HT-22 neuronal cells

Kenan Yıldızhan¹^o, Ayşegül Öztürk²^o

¹Department of Biophysics, Van Yuzuncu Yil University School of Medicine, Van, Turkey; ²Department of Medical Services and Techniques, Sivas Cumhuriyet University, Vocational School of Health Services, Sivas, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Quipazine is a serotonin agonist. It is known that serotonin, an important neurotransmitter, contributes to the etiology of psychiatric and many neurodegenerative diseases. However, the effect of the serotonin agonist quipazine on HT-22 cells in glutamate-induced cytotoxicity is unknown. This study aims to investigate the effect of quipazine on increased oxidative stress (OS) as a result of glutamate-induced cytotoxicity in HT-22 cells.

Methods: The cells were divided into 4 groups, Control group: no treatment was applied, Glutamate group: glutamate was incubated at 10 mM for 24 h, Quipazine group: incubated with different doses of quipazine for 24 h, Quipazine+Glutamate group were pre-treated with various concentrations (25, 50, 100 and 200 μ M) of quipazine for 1 h and then exposed to 10 mM glutamate for 24 h. Cell viability rate between groups was measured by the XTT assay. OS and antioxidant levels were measured with the Total Oxidant Status (TOS) and Total Antioxidant Status (TAS) Elisa kits, and Caspase-3 levels were also examined in caspase activity.

Results: Quipazine at different concentrations showed significant differences in cell viability in HT-22 cells. An appropriate dose of 25 μ M was accepted for quipazine in the study. Quipazine treatment with glutamate-toxicity in the cells further reduced TAS levels and significantly increased TOS levels. It was also observed that the Caspase-3 level increased more in the Quipazine + Glutamate group according to the Glutamate group. **Conclusions:** The results determined that the use of quipazine is an agent that will further increase the neurodegeneration caused by glutamate toxicity.

Keywords: Quipazine, glutamate-toxicity, oxidative stress, HT-22 cell, cell viability

It is now accepted that excitotoxicity has an important role in the etiology of neurodegenerative diseases. However, the mechanisms of excitotoxicity in the neurodegeneration process are still not fully understood and need further research [1]. Excitotoxicity was first introduced in the 1960s and describes neurodegeneration that occurs as a result of excessive or prolonged activation of amino acid receptors responsible for stimulation [2]. From this overstimulation; more than normal neurotransmitters release into the synaptic gap, failure of the pumps that take neurotransmitters back from the synapse, or overexpression of the receptors in the post-synaptic neuron may be responsible [3]. Oxidative stress (OS) has been reported as the most important damage mechanism in glutamate excitotoxicity [4]. Especially in neuronal cells, receptor activation due to glutamate density causes calcium ion entry into the cell, causing mitochondrial dysfunction and excessive reactive oxygen species (ROS) formation. An excessive increase in intracellu-

Received: November 23, 2021; Accepted: April 12, 2022; Published Online: May 18, 2022



How to cite this article: Yıldızhan K, Öztürk A. Quipazine treatment exacerbates oxidative stress in glutamate-induced HT-22 neuronal cells. Eur Res J 2022;8(4):521-528. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.1027423

Address for correspondence: : Kenan Yıldızhan, PhD., Assistant Professor, Van Yuzuncu Yil University School of Medicine, Department of Biophysics, 65090, Van, Turkey. E-mail: kenanyldzhan@gmail.com, Phone: +90 432 215 04 71, Fax: +90 432 216 85 19

[©]Copyright [©] 2022 by Prusa Medical Publishing Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj lar ROS also results in neurodegeneration [5, 6].

Glutamate is a neurotransmitter that is important for maintaining the balance of excitatory and inhibitory neurons in the central nervous system [7]. In general, it is responsible for cognitive, motor, sensory, and autonomic activity with its stimulating function. Many physiological cases as diversification, cell migration, synapse induction, and death also play an essential role. Because of these important tasks, it is very important to keep the glutamate level at a certain level. Studies have shown that abnormalities in glutamate levels have been associated with many neurodegenerative diseases [8, 9]. However, there is no established mechanism for toxicity from glutamate overdose, and some believe this process may be mediated through differential activation and inhibition of certain receptors in the cell [10].

Serotonin plays an important role in the initiation and modulation of locomotor behaviour in mammals [11]. In some studies, it has been stated that serotonin activates some cell signaling pathways and decreases intracellular OS damage [12-14]. Quipazine is a serotonin (5-HT) agonist [15]. It has been reported that it has a potential agonist activity for 5-HTR1b [16]. However, quipazine also acts as a potent antagonist on peripheral 5-HT3 receptors [17].

It is known that glutamate-induced cytotoxicity causes neuronal damage in brain cells. Therefore, important to develop a protective therapeutic approach against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity of cells, as well as to investigate the events that will trigger this damage. In our study, we examined the effect of quipazine-mediated serotonin activation on intracellular oxidative stress and caspase activation in a glutamate toxicity model in the HT-22 neuronal cell line.

METHODS

Cell Culture

The HT-22 cell line (SCC129) was selected in this investigation [18]. The Merck provided HT-22 mouse



Fig. 1. Images of cells in groups under the microscope. A) Control, B) Quipazine (25 µM), C) Glutamate (10 mM), and D) Quipazine + Glutamate.

hippocampal neuronal cell lines. The cells were cultured in DMEM (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Altrincham, UK) containing 10% Fetal Bovine Serum and 1% L-glutamine and 1% penicillin-streptomycin (Sigma-Aldrich Co., USA). The HT-22 cells were incubated at 37° C and 5% CO₂.

Study Groups

The cells were divided into 4 groups and were prepared to evaluate the effect of quipazine on glutamateinduced cytotoxicity: 1)-Control group: no application has been made. 2)- Glutamate group: glutamate was incubated at 10 mM for 24 h [19]. 3)-Quipazine group: incubated with different doses of quipazine for 24 h. 4)-Quipazine+Glutamate group were pre-treated with different concentrations (25, 50, 100 and 200 μ M) of quipazine for 1 h and then exposed to 10 mM glutamate for 24 h (Fig. 1).

Drug Administration

Quipazine dimaleate (Cat no:0629, Tocris) and glutamate (Sigma-Aldrich Co., USA) were dissolved in the cell medium.

Cell Viability Assay

After the doses and duration that we specified for the study are completed, XTT (Abcam, UK) analysis was performed to determine cell viability in the cells. HT-22 mouse hippocampal (SCC129) cells were seeded in 96 wells at 1 x 10⁴ cell density in 0.1 mL of DMEM. Different dose ranges (25, 50, 100 and 200 μ M) for Quipazine were added to the plate wells. After 1 hour, when the incubation period expired, 10 mM glutamate was added to each well and incubated for a total of 24 h. At the end of the total time (24 h), the XTT (50 μ L) reagent mixture was added to the HT-22 cells in the plate wells. In the XTT incubation, the cells were incubated for 4 h in the incubator (37°C and 5% CO2). The absorbance value for XTT analysis was gauged at 450 nm using a microplate reader (Multiskan PLUS, Thermo Scientific For all tests, three replicate readings were made. XTT analysis results are shown as the percentage of viable cells in comparison with the Control group, which did not receive any chemicals.

Preparation of Cells Homogenates

When the indicated incubation times expired, the cells in the plate were transferred to sterile Eppendorf tubes. Cells in the eppendorf tubes were centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 10 min. Supernatants were carefully removed from Eppendorf tubes in laminar flow. Cell pellets under Eppendorf were diluted through phosphate buffered saline (pH: 7.4) to a concentration of 1 million/ml. The cell structure was lysed by repeated freeze-thaw and the intracellular components were permitted to recede. The resulting mixture was centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant remaining in the upper part of the tubes was taken with the help of sterile pipettes and transferred to different sterile tubes for biochemical analysis. Total protein levels for each group were measured with the Bradford assay kit. (Merck, Germany).



Fig. 2. Effect of Quipazine on glutamate-induced HT-22 cells. (Data are expressed as mean \pm mean standard error). (*** p < 0.001, ** p < 0.01, *p < 0.05 compared to the control group; +++ p < 0.001 and +p < 0.01 compared with glutamate group).

Measurement of Total Antioxidant Status (TAS), Total Oxidant Status (TOS) and Caspase-3 Levels in the HT-22 Cells

TAS, TOS, and Caspase-3 levels in the resulting supernatant of glutamate toxicity induced by HT-22 cells were determined using ELISA commercial kits (BT Lab, China). For the analysis, the protocols determined by the company for commercial kits were performed. Read at 450 nm in an microplate reader (Thermo-Fisher Scientifc, UK).

Statistical Analysis

The results were expressed as mean \pm standard error (SEM). SPSS Version 23.0 for Windows was used to analyze the data. ANOVA was used to analyze the data, and the post-hoc Tukey test was used to determine the differences between the groups. A statistically significant result of p < 0.05 was accepted.

RESULTS

Effect of Quipazine on Cell Survival in Glutamate-Induced HT-22 Cells

The cell viability was investigated in groups by incubating HT-22 cells with significant doses. XTT assay kit was used to determine cell viability. Cell viability for quipazine was determined in HT-22 cells treated with both control and glutamate at various doses (25, 50, 100, and 200 M). The cells were pretreated with increasing doses of Quipazine (25-200 μ M) for 1 hour

at first, and then they were incubated with or without glutamate (10 mM) for the next 24 h. As shown in Fig. 2, the 25 μ M dose for quipazine did not appear to affect cell viability compared to the control group, and this dose was determined as the appropriate dose for the study. It was observed that the administration of a 25 μ M Quipazine dose in the glutamate toxicity groups significantly decreased the cell viability rate (p < 0.01). In the Quipazine+Glutamate groups, it was observed that the cell viability rate decreased as the dose of Quipazine increased (p < 0.001) (Fig. 2).

Effect of Quipazine on TAS Level in Glutamate-Induced HT-22 Cells

In the groups formed, the effect of quipazine was measured against glutamate cytotoxicity with the TAS Elisa kit in the cells. Compared to the control group, the TAS level of the Glutamate group was significantly lower (p < 0.01). Compared to the control group, the TAS level of the Quipazine group was considerably lower (p < 0.05). In the Quipazine+Glutamate group, the TAS level was determined that it is dramatically lower than both the Control group and the Glutamate group (p < 0.01, p < 0.001) (Fig. 3).

Effect of Quipazine on TOS Level in Glutamate-Induced HT-22 Cells

In the groups formed, the effect of quipazine was measured against glutamate cytotoxicity with the TOS Elisa kit in the cells It was observed that the TOS level of the Glutamate group increased considerably com-



Fig. 3. Effect of Quipazine on TAS level in HT-22 cells. (Data are expressed as mean \pm mean standard error). (*** p < 0.001, ** p < 0.01, *p < 0.05 compared to the control group; +p < 0.01 compared with glutamate group). TAS = Total Antioxidant Status

pared to the control group (p < 0.01). In the Quipazine+Glutamate group, the TOS level was found to be significantly higher than in both the Control group and the Glutamate group (p < 0.001, p < 0.01) (Fig. 4).

Effect of Quipazine on Caspase-3 Level in Glutamate-Induced HT-22 Cells

ELISA commercial kits were used to investigate the effect of quipazine on Caspase-3 levels in glutamate-induced HT-22 cells. The Caspase-3 level was significantly increased between the groups when the Quipazine+Glutamate group was compared to the control and Quipazine groups (p < 0.001). There was no statistically significant difference between the control group and the Quipazine group (p > 0.05). When the Quipazine+Glutamate group was compared to the Quipazine group between the groups, it was observed that the Caspase-3 level increased significantly in the Quipazine+Glutamate group (p < 0.001) (Fig. 5).

DISCUSSION

In this study, the effect of pretreatment of different doses of quipazine against glutamate-induced toxicity was investigated. It was observed that pretreatment with quipazine further increased oxidative stress and reduced antioxidant level against glutamate-induced cytotoxicity in HT-22 cells. We also determined that it increased the activation of Caspase-3, which is an important marker in the apoptotic pathway. Studies have shown that administration of the nighttime serotonin agonist quipazine to rats delays the rhythms of melatonin metabolite excretion and activity similar to light [20, 21]. Serotonin has a crucial effect on the initiation and modulation of locomotor behaviour in mammals [11]. In a study, it was stated that serotonin does not protect C6 cells from glutathione depletion by glutamate. Incubation of serotonin and glutamate together depletes the cellular glutathione level. Serotonin caused a significant inhibition of lipid peroxide accumulation in C6 glioma cells against glutamate exposure and controlled a low lipid peroxide accumulation rate [22]. A study using a serotonergic derivative of quipazine found promising results against skin cancer. It has been shown that the quipazine derivative can inhibit cellular growth by inducing S-phase cell cycle delay, ROS generation and apoptosis in cells [23]. In a study investigating the suppressive effect of N-palmitoyl serotonin on glutamateinduced apoptosis in HT-22 cells. It has been stated that N-palmitoyl serotonin promotes BDNF formation and secretion and then protects neuronal cells against oxidative stress-induced apoptosis through activation of the TrkB/CREB pathway [24]. In a previous study, we observed that TAS levels decreased and TOS, NO, and TNF-a levels increased in C6 cells after glutamate treatment in the cytotoxicity model we studied in Glutamate-induced C6 glia cells [25]. We hoped that the quipazine we used would reduce glutamate-induced cytotoxicity. However, in our study, after choosing the appropriate dose (25 µM) for quipazine, it was observed how it would affect glutamate toxicity. The re-



Fig. 4. Effect of Quipazine on TOS level in HT-22 cells. (Data are expressed as mean \pm mean standard error). (*** p < 0.001 and ** p < 0.01 compared to the control group; +p < 0.01 compared with glutamate group). TOS = Total Oxidant Status



Fig. 5. Effect of Quipazine on Caspase-3 level in HT-22 cells after glutamate-induced cytotoxicity. (Data are expressed as mean \pm mean standard error). (*** *p* < 0.001, ** *p* < 0.01 compared to the control group; ++ *p* < 0.001 and +*p* < 0.01 compared with glutamate group).

sults showed that even the use of an appropriate dose of quipazine decreases intracellular antioxidant capacity in HT-22 cells and increases intracellular oxidative stress and Caspase-3 activation (Figs. 3-5).

Glutamate is the most abundant excitatory neurotransmitter in the mammalian CNS. In the CNS, glutamate is found in many cell types and intracellular organelles [26]. Considering the etiology of neurodegenerative diseases, it is seen that neuronal damage follows a progressive process and first results in loss of function and finally death of the neuron [27]. At present, the damage mechanism of many neurodegenerative diseases is still elucidated, but there is increasing evidence that the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases is associated with excitotoxin and oxidative stress [28, 29]. Glutamate is a substantial cause of nerve cell damage and is known to mediate oxidative and excitatory toxicity [30, 31]. For these reasons, it is important to find sources of oxidative stress and stimulant toxicity from glutamate toxicity. A recent study showed that "Kaempferia parviflora" extract, as a pharmacological agent against glutamate-induced cytotoxicity of HT-22 neuronal cells, regulates the increased level of oxidative stress in cells and therefore reduces apoptotic cell death [32]. In our study, we investigated the effects of glutamate toxicity and serotonin activation on HT-22 cells. Glutamate-induced excitotoxicity has an important role in the etiology of neurodegenerative diseases. Currently, there is no safe and effective drug to prevent glutamate-induced excitotoxicity [26]. OS have the most

important role in the biochemical processes that lead to cell death in glutamate-induced excitotoxicity. In fact, cells can prevent OS damage thanks to the presence of various molecules that work as antioxidants. However, sometimes oxidative stress is observed in cells that do not have enough antioxidant capacity [7]. It has been emphasised that OS, which occurs with glutamate increase, is an important trigger for neurodegeneration [19, 33]. In addition, it is an important damage factor not only in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease, but also in neurodegenerative diseases that occur in living things. Studies have shown that the damage mechanisms of neuronal cells are associated with an increase in OS [19, 33, 34]. In a study, it was reported that melatonin and serotonin have effective DMPD radical scavenging activity and the ability to reduce copper ions. Serotonin has a phenolic hydroxyl group, so it has been emphasized that serotonin has higher radical scavenging and reducing activity than melatonin [35]. Unfortunately, with the results of this study (Figs. 3-5), we observed that serotonin activation, via the quipazine agonist, increased oxidative stress caused by glutamate toxicity.

CONCLUSION

The findings of this research showed that the use of an appropriate dose of quipazine increased cellular damage resistance to glutamate-induced cytotoxicity in HT-22 cells. We think that this damaging impact of quipazine occurs with the activation of oxidative stress pathways, but more studies should be done to make this determination. Therefore, we determined that the use of appropriate doses of quipazine exacerbates glutamate toxicity that may occur in CNS disorders and causes more damage in neurodegeneration due to neuronal damage. However, further in vitro and in vivo studies are needed to answer questions about the possible mechanisms of action of quipazine in glutamate toxicity.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: KY; Study Design: KY, AO; Supervision: KY; Funding: KY, AO; Materials: N/A; Data Collection and/or Processing: AO; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: KY, AO; Literature Review: KY, AO; Manuscript Preparation: KY and Critical Review: KY.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during the conduction or writing of this study.

Acknowledgement

The authors would like to thank the CUTFAM Research Center, Sivas Cumhuriyet University, School of Medicine, Sivas, Turkey, for providing the necessary facilities to conduct this study.

REFERENCES

1. Dong XX, Wang Y, Qin ZH. Molecular mechanisms of excitotoxicity and their relevance to pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases. Acta Pharmacol Sin 2009;30:379-87.

2. Olney J W. Brain lesions, obesity, and other disturbances in mice treated with monosodium glutamate. Science 1969;164:719-21.

3. Barnes GN, Slevin JT. Ionotropic glutamate receptor biology: effect on synaptic connectivity and function in neurological disease. Curr Med Chem 2003;10:2059-72.

4. Danbolt NC. Glutamate uptake. Prog Neurobiol 2001;65:1-105.

5. Pereira CF, de Oliveira CR. Oxidative glutamate toxicity involves mitochondrial dysfunction and perturbation of intracellular Ca2+ homeostasis. Neurosci Res 2000;37:227-36. 6. Wang W, Zhang F, Li L, Tang F, Siedlak SL, Fujioka H, et al. MFN2 couples glutamate excitotoxicity and mitochondrial dys-function in motor neurons. J Biol Chem 2015;290:168-82.

7. Atlante A, Calissano P, Bobba A, Giannattasio S, Marra E, Passarella S. Glutamate neurotoxicity, oxidative stress and mitochondria. FEBS Lett 2001;497:1-5.

8. Lewerenz J, Maher P. Chronic glutamate toxicity in neurodegenerative diseases – what is the evidence? Front Neurosci 2015;9:469.

9. Lancelot E, Beal MF. Glutamate toxicity in chronic neurodegenerative disease. Prog Brain Res 1998;116:331-47.

10. Kritis AA, Stamoula EG, Paniskaki KA, Vavilis TD. Researching glutamate-induced cytotoxicity in different cell lines: a comparative/collective analysis/study. Front Cell Neurosci 2015;9:91.

11. Swann-Thomsen HE, Viall DD, Brumley MR. Acute intrathecal administration of quipazine elicits air-stepping behavior. Behav Pharmacol 2021;32:259-64.

12. Liang H, Liu N, Wang R, Zhang Y, Chen J, Dai Z, et al. Nacetyl serotonin alleviates oxidative damage by activating nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 signaling in porcine enterocytes. Antioxidants (Basel) 2020;9:303.

13. Nocito A, Dahm F, Jochum W, Jang JH, Georgiev P, Bader M, et al. Serotonin mediates oxidative stress and mitochondrial toxicity in a murine model of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Gastroenterology 2007;133:608-18.

14. Vasicek O, Lojek A, Ciz M. Serotonin and its metabolites reduce oxidative stress in murine RAW264.7 macrophages and prevent inflammation. J Physiol Biochem 2020;76:49-60.

15. Banerjee E, Nandagopal K. Does serotonin deficit mediate susceptibility to ADHD? Neurochem Int 2015;82:52-68.

16. Goodwin GM, Green AR. A behavioural and biochemical study in mice and rats of putative selective agonists and antagonists for 5-HT1 and 5-HT2 receptors. Br J Pharmacol 1985;84:743-53.

17. Round A, Wallis D. Further studies on the blockade of 5-HT depolarizations of rabbit vagal afferent and sympathetic ganglion cells by MDL 72222 and other antagonists. Neuropharmacol 1987;26:39-48.

18. Davis JB, Maher P. Protein kinase C activation inhibits glutamate-induced cytotoxicity in a neuronal cell line. Brain Res 1994;652:169-73.

19. Taskiran AS, Ergul M. The effect of salmon calcitonin against glutamate-induced cytotoxicity in the C6 cell line and the roles the inflammatory and nitric oxide pathways play. Metab Brain Dis 2021;36:1985-93.

20. Kennaway DJ, Rowe S, Ferguson S. Serotonin agonists mimic the phase shifting effects of light on the melatonin rhythm in rats. Brain Res 1996;737:301-7.

21. Kohler M, Kalkowski A, Wollnik F. Serotonin agonist quipazine induces photic-like phase shifts of the circadian activity rhythm and c-Fos expression in the rat suprachiasmatic nucleus. J Biol Rhythms 1999;14:131-40.

22. Shinagawa S. Serotonin protects C6 glioma cells from glutamate toxicity. Neurosci 1994;59:1043-50.

23. Menezes AC, Carvalheiro M, Ferreira de Oliveira JMP, Ascenso A, Oliveira H. Cytotoxic effect of the serotonergic drug 1-
(1-Naphthyl)piperazine against melanoma cells. Toxicol In Vitro 2018;47:72-8.

Yoo JM, Lee BD, Lee SJ, Ma JY, Kim MR. Anti-apoptotic effect of N-palmitoyl serotonin on glutamate-mediated apoptosis through secretion of BDNF and activation of TrkB/CREB pathway in HT-22 cells. Eur J Lipid Sci Technol 2018;120:1700397.
Doğan M, Yildizhan K. Investigation of the effect of paracetamol against glutamate-induced cytotoxicity in C6 glia cells. Cumhuriyet Sci J 2021:42;789-94.

26. Wang J, Wang F, Mai D, Qu S. Molecular mechanisms of glutamate toxicity in parkinson's disease. Front Neurosci 2020;14:585584.

27. Jiang T, Cheng H, Su J, Wang X, Wang Q, Chu J, et al. Gastrodin protects against glutamate-induced ferroptosis in HT-22 cells through Nrf2/HO-1 signaling pathway. Toxicol In Vitro 2020;62:104715.

28. Sillapachaiyaporn C, Rangsinth P, Nilkhet S, Ung AT, Chuchawankul S, Tencomnao T. Neuroprotective effects against glutamate-induced HT-22 hippocampal cell damage and caenorhabditis elegans lifespan/healthspan enhancing activity of auricularia polytricha mushroom extracts. Pharmaceuticals (Basel) 2021;14:1001.

29. Sabogal-Guaqueta AM, Hobbie F, Keerthi A, Oun A, Kortholt

A, Boddeke E, et al. Linalool attenuates oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction mediated by glutamate and NMDA toxicity. Biomed Pharmacother 2019;118:109295.

30. Annunziato L, Cataldi M, Pignataro G, Secondo A, Molinaro P. Glutamate-independent calcium toxicity: introduction. Stroke 2007;38(2 Suppl):661-4.

31. Lee HJ, Spandidos DA, Tsatsakis A, Margina D, Izotov BN, Yang SH. Neuroprotective effects of Scrophularia buergeriana extract against glutamate-induced toxicity in SH-SY5Y cells. Int J Mol Med 2019;43:2144-52.

32. Tonsomboon A, Prasanth MI, Plaingam W, Tencomnao T. Kaempferia parviflora rhizome extract inhibits glutamate-induced toxicity in HT-22 mouse hippocampal neuronal cells and extends longevity in Caenorhabditis elegans. Biology (Basel) 2021;10:264.

33. Lau A, Tymianski M. Glutamate receptors, neurotoxicity and neurodegeneration. Pflugers Arch 2010;460:525-42.

34. Hynd MR, Scott HL, Dodd PR. Glutamate-mediated excitotoxicity and neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. Neurochem Int 2004;45:583-95.

35. Gulcin I. Measurement of antioxidant ability of melatonin and serotonin by the DMPD and CUPRAC methods as trolox equivalent. J Enzyme Inhib Med Chem 2008;23:871-6.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.1091049

Cardiology

Right and left coronary artery angiography with single Judkins left catheter via right radial artery

Sencer Çamcı[®], Hasan Arı[®], Selma Arı[®], Berat Uğuz[®], Gökhan Özmen[®], Mustafa Kınık[®], Ahmet Tütüncü[®], Burcu Çavlan[®], Mehmet Melek[®], Tahsin Bozat[®]

Department of Cardiology, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: The aim of this study was to assess the safety and efficacy of single Judkins left (JL) catheter to view right and left coronary artery in right transradial coronary angiography.

Methods: A total of 266 patients underwent coronary angiography from the right radial artery were studied prospectively. Patients with ad-hoc percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI), peripheral angiography, ventriculography or aortography procedures (67 patients) were excluded from the study. Coronary angiography was performed with the JL catheter as single catheter group in 171 of the remaining 199 patients, and with the Judkins right and left catheters as the control group in the other 28 patients. Complications, procedure success, procedure time and fluoroscopy time were evaluated between the two groups.

Results: Procedure success were 93% (159/171) in patients with a single catheter group and 96.4% (27/28) in patients with two catheter (Judkins right and left) group (control group) (p = 0.49). Complications (spasm) are the same between the two groups (8 of 171 [4.7%] patients in study group and 1 of 28 [3.6%] patients in control group, p = 0.79). Fluroscopy time in single JL catheter group was significantly higher (6.20 ± 4.97 min vs 3.76 ± 2.78 min, p = 0.01).

Conclusions: Single JL catheter using to view right and left coronary artery in right transradial coronary angiography was safe and effective. In our study, the success rate of getting left and right coronary artery images with a single JL catheter as high as 93%. However, insisting on imaging with a single catheter extends the duration of fluoroscopy time.

Keywords: Right radial angiography, Judkins left catheter, fluoroscopy time, complication

Cardiac catheterization via the radial artery was first applied in 1989 [1]. Later, it started to be used for coronary interventional procedures [2]. Intervention via the radial artery has started to be preferred more because it provides early movement of the patient, fewer bleeding complications, and higher patient comfort [3]. Current guidelines recommend radial angiography instead of femoral angiography for coronary angiography and percutaneous coronary

intervention [4]. However, the radial artery diameter is small and contains various congenital differences. In addition, the radial artery is very prone to spasm with manipulation. Again, repeated catheter insertion through the radial artery increases radial spasm. In addition, repeated catheter insertion due to tortuosity in the brachial, subclavian and brachiocephalic arteries may increase embolic and vascular complications. In order to prevent such problems, various catheters have

Received: March 22, 2022; Accepted: April 15, 2022; Published Online: June 12, 2022



How to cite this article: Çamcı S, Arı H, Arı S, Uğuz B, Özmen G, Kınık M, et al. Right and left coronary artery angiography with single Judkins left catheter via right radial artery. Eur Res J 2022;8(4):529-535. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.1091049

Address for correspondence: Hasan Arı, MD., Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiology, Mimar Sinan Mah., Yıldırım, 16290, Bursa, Turkey. E-mail: hasan.ari@sbu.edu.tr, Phone: +90 224 360 50 50, Fax: +90 224 360 50 55

> [©]Copyright © 2022 by Prusa Medical Publishing Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

been developed to prevent repeated catheter insertion and to visualize both coronary systems (right and left systems) with a single catheter [5]. However, these catheters increase the cost of the procedure. In addition, recent studies investigating the dual versus single catheter strategy for transradial coronary angiography have produced inconsistent results [6, 7], and the double-catheter strategy still represents the standard approach among approximately 40% of operators [8].

In this study, we evaluated the feasibility and safety of imaging the right and left coronary systems with right radial access and single Judkins left (JL) catheter.

METHODS

Study Population

The ethics committee of Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital was approved for the study. A total of 266 consecutive patients aged 18 years and older who underwent coronary angiography via the right radial artery were included in the study. Patients who continued percutaneous coronary intervention after coronary angiography, underwent peripheral angiography, or had an imaging other than coronary imaging were excluded from the study (Fig. 1). Of the remaining 199 patients, 171 were included in the single JL catheter group, while 28 were included in the standard right and JL catheter group. Basal and procedural characteristics of the patients were recorded.

Procedure

In patients with palpable right radial artery, a 7 cm, hydrophilic coated, 6F sheath was introduced with a 21G needle and a 40 cm 0.018 guidewire followed by intra-arterial application of nitroglycerine (200 mcg) and unfractioned heparin (7500 IU). In the study, JL 4 catheter was used as a single catheter for right and left coronary angiography. First, the left coronary was visualized with the JL 4 catheter, then 0.038 guide wire was advanced through the JL 4 catheter, which was



Fig. 1. Study diagram.

pulled back from the LMCA to the aorta, the tip of the JL 4 catheter was straightened, and the right coronary was seated with clockwise rotation, and the right coronary was imaged (Fig. 2). Successful imaging was defined as the JL 4 catheter seating in the right coronary ostium and obtaining clear images (Fig. 2). If the right coronary artery could not be seated with a maximum of 4 attempts, the attempt with a single catheter was considered unsuccessful and the right coronary artery was visualized with a standard JR 4 or another suitable catheter. JR 4 and JL 4 catheters were used for right and left coronary angiography with double catheters. The exchange of the two catheters was made over the 0.038 guidewire, which was sent through the JL 4 catheter to the ascending aorta. Failure to visualize the right coronary with a standard JR 4 catheter and the need for another catheter was defined as a failure for right coronary imaging with a double catheter.

After the radial sheat was entered, imaging was

performed first by entering the JL 4 catheter in both groups. The time elapsed from the radial sheath entry of the JL 4 catheter to its exit after imaging of both coronary arteries was defined as the procedure time in single catheter group and recorded. The time elapsed from the radial sheath entry of the JL 4 catheter to the JR 4 exit after imaging of both coronary arteries was defined as the procedure time in control group and recorded. The duration of fluoroscopy used during imaging of the right and left coronary arteries was recorded. The number of exposures taken to view the right and left coronaries was recorded. The amount of contrast used was recorded. The amount of radiation exposed during the procedure was recorded.

Radial spasm was demonstrated by arteriography in case of difficulty in catheter manipulation and pain in the right arm. Routine radial arteriography was not performed. After the procedure, hemostasis at the radial entry site was achieved with a compression band.



Fig. 2. A: Left system coronary angiography via JL 4 catheter, left caudal view, B: Left system coronary angiography via JL 4 catheter, right anterior oblique view. C: Right coronary angiography via JL 4 catheter, left anterior oblique view, D: Right coronary angiography via JL 4 catheter, anteroposterior cranial view.

Compression was gradually reduced 2 hours after the procedure, and the compression band was removed after bleeding control was achieved.

Coronary artery disease was defined as having stenosis of 50% or more in the coronary arteries. Coronary angiography procedures were performed by 3 different operators experienced in radial angiography.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using the SPSS computer program (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences ver. 22., SPSS Inc, Chicago, Illinois, USA). Continuous variables were reported as mean \pm standard deviation, and categorical variables as percentages. Student's t test was used to compare the normally distributed variables, and the Mann Whitney U test was used to compare the non-normally distributed variables. Categorical variables were compared with

the Chi-square test or Fisher's exact test as appropriate. A value of p < 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

After 67 of the 266 patients evaluated for the study were excluded due to exclusion criteria, 199 patients were included in the study. 171 patients were included in the single catheter group and 28 patients were included in the double catheter group. There was no difference between the groups in terms of demographic characteristics of the single catheter group and the two-catheter (control) group (Table 1). In the singlecatheter group, 36.8% of the patients and in the double catheter group, 17.9% were female (p = 0.06). The groups were similar in terms of diabetes, hypertension, peripheral arterial disease and percutaneous coronary

Variables	Study group	Study group Control group	
	(n = 171)	(n = 28)	
	(single JL 4)	(JL 4 and JR 4)	
Age (years) (mean \pm SD)	59.77 ± 11.11	57.64 ± 13.48	0.52
Sex			0.06
Male, n (%)	108 (63.2)	23 (82.1)	
Female, n (%)	63 (36.8)	5 (17.9)	
BMI (kg/m ²) (mean \pm SD)	28.73 ± 4.51	28.26 ± 4.75	0.97
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)	38 (22.2)	6 (21.4)	0.92
Hypertension, n (%)	132 (77.2)	17 (60.7)	0.06
Peripheral artery disease, n (%)	10 (5.8)	2 (7.1)	0.79
Previous PCI, n (%)	42 (24.6)	7 (25)	0.96
Medication, n (%)			
Aspirin	137 (80.1)	19 (67.9)	0.14
ACEI	121 (70.7)	17 (60.7)	0.32
Beta blocker	103 (60.2)	14 (50)	0.30
CCB	36 (21.1)	3 (10.7)	0.20
Nitrate	26 (15.2)	3 (10.7)	0.53
Statin	76 (44.4)	9 (32.1)	0.22
SBP (mmHg) (mean \pm SD)	134.77 ± 15.51	137.18 ± 22.71	0.65
$DBP (mmHg) (mean \pm SD)$	79.32 ± 11.68	79.50 ± 7.91	0.96
HR (beats per minute) (mean \pm SD)	86.82 ± 11.23	91.30 ± 12.80	0.26

JL = Judkins left, JR = Judkins right, BMI = Body mass index, PCI = Percutaneous coronary intervention, ACEI = Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor, CCB = Calcium channel blocker, SBP = Systolic blood pressure, DBP = Diastolic blood pressure, HR: Heart rate

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of the study groups

intervention (PCI) history. There was no difference between the two groups in terms of drugs used by the groups, blood pressures and heart rates (Table 1).

According to the evaluation related to the procedure, an extra catheter was needed in 12 patients in the single catheter group and 1 patient in the double catheter group (p = 0.49) (Table 2). The number of lesioned coronary arteries, the contrast volume used, the number of imaging performed on the right and left coronary arteries, and the duration of the procedure were similar in both groups (Table 2). The fluoroscopy time of the single catheter group $(6.20 \pm 4.97 \text{ min})$ was significantly longer than the double catheter group $(3.76 \pm 2.78 \text{ min}) (p = 0.01)$ (Table 2). Although the radiation dose exposed during the procedure was higher in the single catheter group (1089.18 ± 620.42) uGycm2) compared to the double catheter group $(855.83 \pm 469.46 \text{ uGycm}^2)$, it was not significant (p = 0.23) (Table 2). Right coronary artery was visualized with the first movement of JL catheter in 70 of 171 (40.9%) study group patients. Radial spasm was similar in both groups (Table 2).

i) right and left systems can be safely and successfully visualized by entering through the right radial artery with a single JL catheter, ii) fluoroscopy time during imaging with a single catheter is longer than in the double catheter group, iii) radial artery spasm is similar in the single and double catheter groups.

In recent years, the radial artery has been used with increasing frequency compared to the femoral artery for coronary angiography and PCI, and it has started to replace as a standard approach in the guidelines [4]. In daily practice, the right radial artery is used more frequently because of easy access. With the standard catheters generally used for femoral angiography, intervention is made from the radial artery, which has a much lower profile. As the number of manipulations increases, the risk of complications such as spasm, bleeding and thrombosis increases [9]. For this reason, researches are continuing intensively to terminate the procedure as soon as possible and with the least number of catheter manipulations.

Numerous studies have been conducted to investigate the dual versus single catheter strategy in transradial coronary angiography [10]. The common goal of these studies was to show that a single catheter is at least as effective as a double catheter and less complications occur. Achieving the intended outcomes in a single catheter strategy will provide significant clin-

	~		
Variables	Study group (n = 171) (single .II, 4)	Control group (n = 28) (.II. 4 and .IR 4)	<i>p</i> value
Need for additional atheter $r(0/)$	12 (7)	1 (2 6)	0.40
Need for additional catheter, fr (%)	12(7)	1 (3.0)	0.49
Coronary disease, n (%)			0.067
1 vessel disease	39 (22.8)	3 (10.3)	
2 vessel disease	27 (15.8)	1 (3.6)	
3 vessel disease	33 (19.3)	10 (35.7)	
Contrast volume (ml) (mean \pm SD)	77.84 ± 15.76	72.42 ± 13.35	0.23
Number of right coronary image (mean \pm SD)	2.15 ± 0.80	2.22 ± 0.84	0.68
Number of left coronary image (mean \pm SD)	4.33 ± 1.17	4.77 ± 0.94	0.07
Procedure time (min) (mean±SD)	9.83 ± 6.25	9.57 ± 6.26	0.87
Fluoroscopy time (min) (mean \pm SD)	6.20 ± 4.97	3.76 ± 2.78	0.01
DAP (uGycm ²) (mean \pm SD)	1089.18 ± 620.42	855.83 ± 469.46	0.23
Radial spasm, n (%)	8 (4.7)	1 (3.6)	0.79

DAP = Dose area product

The European Research Journal • Volume 8 • Issue 4 • July 2022

DISCUSSION

The main results of our study can be listed as follows;

Tioccuur	e time (i	minj	(II	ican	_5D)	

Table 2. Pro	ocedural dat	a of the	study	groups

ical and cost benefits.

Catheters with a variety of specific curves, such as Kimny (Boston Scientific, Natick, MA), Barbeau (Cordis Bridgewater, NJ), Jacky (Terumo, Sommerset, NJ), and Tiger (Terumo, Somerset, NJ) were developed for performing single catheter coronary angiography through the radial artery. In addition, many catheters have been tried as multipurpose catheters in transradial interventions [5, 6, 11, 12]. The Tiger catheter is the most well-known of these. In the study performed by Kim et al. [5] in 2006, a single Tiger II (Terumo Corporation, Tokyo, Japan) catheter specific for the radial artery and a standard dual Judkins (5F R4, L4; Cordis Corporation, Miami, FL) catheter were compared. The procedure time and fluoroscopy time were shorter in the Tiger II catheter group. While it had the same success in left coronary angiograms, Tiger II catheter was found to be more successful in right coronary angiogram. No angiographic or clinical complications were detected in either group. In 2016, Chen et al. [13] compared the radial artery-specific Tiger catheter (5F, Terumo Interventional Systems, Somerset, NJ) with standard JL and JR (5F R4, L4; Cordis Corporation, Miami, FL) catheters. Fluoroscopy time was significantly lower in a single catheter. However, the success of the procedure was found to be higher with dual catheters. In the study of Xanthopoluo et al. [7], Tiger II (Tiger II (Terumo Corporation, Tokyo, Japan) catheter and standard dual Judkins (R4, L3.5; Medtronic, Minneapolis, MN) catheter) catheters were compared. The amount of contrast material used, fluoroscopy time, procedure time and spasm rate were found to be less in the Tiger II group. While it was better in RCA imaging, Judkins group was better in left system imaging. In the study of Schneider et al. [6], a single catheter group using Tiger II (Terumo Interventional Systems, Somerset, NJ) and BLK (Terumo Interventional Systems, Somerset, NJ) catheters and dual catheter group using standard Judkins (Terumo Interventional Systems, Somerset, NJ) catheters were compared. Coronary angiography with a single catheter does not reduce the procedure time, but also increases the fluoroscopy time and the amount of contrast used.

It is not always possible to reach specific catheters for radial coronary imaging. For this reason, in some studies, instead of special catheters, JL catheters used in standard coronary angiography for both coronary imaging were used. In the study of Turan et al. [14], JL 3.5 catheter was used as multipurpose catheter, and JL 3.5 and Judkins right (JR) 4 catheters were used in the dual catheter group. Success was achieved with a single catheter in 66% of cases, and additional catheter use was more necessary than in the dual catheter group. Although the procedure time was shortened in the single catheter group, there was an increase in fluoroscopy time. More spasm occurred in the dual catheter group. In the study of Erden et al. [15], JL 3.5 catheter shaped like a Jacky catheter was used in the single catheter group, and standard JL 3.5 and JR 4 catheters were used in the dual catheter group. The need for additional catheters was higher in the single catheter group. Fluoroscopy time was less in the single catheter group. The procedure time was also significantly less when the time used to shape the single catheter was not included. Radial artery spasm was also detected more frequently in the dual catheter group. In a meta-analysis investigating the performance of standard shaped-JL or custom catheters for transradial coronary angiography, less spasm was detected in the single catheter group [10]. However, more crossovers were made compared to the dual catheter strategy.

In our study, we compared a single JL 4 catheter and a standard dual catheter for right and left coronary angiography by entering through the right radial artery. Procedural success, complication rate and procedure time were similar between the two groups. However, the duration of fluoroscopy was found to be longer in the single catheter group. The reason for this is that the operator had the right to make 4 attempts to complete the procedure with a single catheter and the operator's insistence on completing the procedure with a single catheter. Again, in the single catheter group, the amount of radiation exposed due to the length of the fluoroscopy period was higher in the single catheter group, but this value did not reach significance. However, it is obvious that the use of a single catheter is less costly than the use of two catheters.

Limitations

The limitations of our study can be listed as follows: i) the small number of patients, ii) the absence of a group consisting of a special single catheter used for the right and left systems, iii) the procedure being performed by experienced operators (this may increase the possibility of the procedure being subjective), iv) only the right radial artery use for the procedure.

CONCLUSION

In our study, in which a single JL catheter and a standard dual catheter were used for right radial coronary angiography, the duration of fluoroscopy was found to be longer in the single catheter group. Other procedural outcomes such as procedural success and complication rate were similar. Randomized, large-scale studies are needed on the use of the left JL 4 catheter in imaging the left and right systems with a single catheter.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: HA, SÇ, TB; Study Design: HA, TB, BU, MM; Supervision: TB, MM, HA; Funding: SÇ, BU, MK, GÖ; Materials: BU, BÇ, AT, MK; Data Collection and/or Processing: BU, BÇ, AT, MK, SÇ; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: HA, MM, SÇ; Literature Review: SÇ, BÇ, AT, MK, GÖ, SA; Manuscript Preparation: HA, SÇ and Critical Review: TB, MM, GÖ.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

Acknowledgments

We want to thank our cardiology service nurses.

REFERENCES

1. Campeau L. Percutaneous radial artery approach for coronary angiography. Catheter Cardiovasc Diagn 1989;16:3-7.

2. Archbold RA, Robinson NM, Schilling RJ. Radial artery access for coronary angiography and percutaneous coronary intervention. BMJ 2004;329:443-6.

3. Kolkailah AA, Alreshq RS, Muhammed AM, Zahran ME,



El-Wegoud MA, Nabhan AF. Transradial versus transfemoral approach for diagnostic coronary angiography and percutaneous coronary intervention in people with coronary artery disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2018;4:CD012318

4. Neumann F-J, Sousa-Uva M, Ahlsson A, Alfonso F, Banning AP, Benedetto U, et al. 2018 ESC/EACTS Guidelines on myocardial revascularization. Eur Heart J 2019;40:87-165.

5. Kim S-M, Kim D-K, Kim D-I, Kim D-S, Joo S-J, Lee J-W. Novel diagnostic catheter specifically designed for both coronary arteries via the right transradial approach. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging 2006;22:295-303.

6. Schneider VS, Lübking L, Stähli BE, Skurk C, Lauten A, Mochmann H-C, et al. Performance of one-compared with twocatheter concepts in transradial coronary angiography (from the randomized use of different diagnostic catheters-radial-trial). Am J Cardiol 2018;122:1647-51.

7. Xanthopoulou I, Stavrou K, Davlouros P, Tsigkas G, Koufou E, Almpanis G, et al. Randomised comparison of JUDkins vs. tiGEr catheter in coronary angiography via the right radial artery: the JUDGE study. EuroIntervention 2018;13:1950-8.

8. Higgins JP, Altman DG, Gøtzsche PC, Jüni P, Moher D, Oxman AD, et al. The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ 2011;343:d5928.

9. Shroff AR, Fernandez C, Vidovich MI, Rao SV, Cowley M, Bertrand OF, et al. Contemporary transradial access practices: results of the second international survey. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2019;93:1276-87.

10. Alushi B, Lauten A, Ndrepepa G, Leistner DM, Kufner S, Xhepa E, et al. Procedural and clinical performance of dual-versus single-catheter strategy for transradial coronary angiography: a meta-analysis of randomized trials. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2020;96:276-82.

11. Chow J, Tan CH, Tin AS, Ong SH, Tan VH, Goh YS, et al. Feasibility of transradial coronary angiography and intervention using a single Ikari left guiding catheter for ST elevation myocardial infarction. J Interv Cardiol 2012;25:235-44.

12. Roberts EB, Wood A. Use of a single Q guide catheter for complete assessment and treatment of both coronary arteries via radial access during acute ST elevation myocardial infarction: a review of 40 consecutive cases. J Interv Cardiol 2011;24:389-96. 13. Chen O, Goel S, Acholonu M, Kulbak G, Verma S, Travlos E, et al. Comparison of standard catheters versus radial artery-specific catheter in patients who underwent coronary angiography through transradial access. Am J Cardiol 2016;118:357-61.

14. Turan B, Erkol A, Mutlu A, Daşli T, Erden İ. Effectiveness of left Judkins catheter as a single multipurpose catheter in transradial coronary angiography from right radial artery: a randomized comparison with conventional two-catheter strategy. J Interv Cardiol 2016;29:257-64.

15. Erden I, Golcuk E, Bozyel S, Erden EC, Balaban Y, Yalın K, et al. Effectiveness of handmade "Jacky–like catheter" as a single multipurpose catheter in transradial coronary angiography: a randomized comparison with conventional two–catheter strategy. J Interv Cardiol 2017;30:24-32. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.945752

Physiology

Effect of metaclopramide on urinary bladder smooth muscle contraction-relaxation mechanism

Zubeyde Ercan¹^o, Gokhan Zorlu²^o, Ozgur Bulmus³^o, Ihsan Serhatlioglu²^o, Abdullah Yasar⁴^o, Emine Kacar⁵^o

¹Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Firat University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Elazig, Turkey; ²Department of Biopysics, Firat University, Faculty of Medicine, Elazig, Turkey; ³Department of Physiology, Balikesir University, Faculty of Medicine, Balikesir, Turkey; ⁴Vocational School of Health Services, Firat University, Elazig, Turkey; ⁵Department of Physiology, Firat University, Faculty of Medicine, Elazig, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Metoclopramide, a dopamine receptor antagonist, a benzamide, is a commonly used antiemetic drug in many diseases with nausea and vomiting. The aim of this study is to examine the effects of metoclopramide, which is also used in urinary system infections, on the urinary bladder contraction-relaxation mechanism.

Methods: In the study, bladder tissue strips obtained from adult female Wistar rats in diestrus were placed in an isolated organ bath containing Krebs solution. The effect of metoclopramide at concentrations of 10 μ M and 20 μ M on sections where spontaneous contractions were observed under 1.5 g of tension was investigated. **Results:** Metaclopramide caused a statistically significant increase in the area under the contraction curve (AUC) and peak to peak (p-p) parameters of spontaneous bladder contractions at concentrations of 10 and 20 μ M (p < 0.01).

Conclusions: Metaclopramide has an activator effect on spontaneous bladder contractions. This effect should be taken into consideration in clinical use, especially when used in urinary system infections.

Keywords: Metoclopramide, urinary bladder, isometric contraction, rat

Provide (MCP) is an antiemetic with central and peripheral effects that increases the motility of the gastrointestinal system and accelerates gastric emptying [1, 2]. It is an antiemetic agent used in the prevention and treatment of nausea and vomiting due to acute migraine or urinary tract infections and after chemotherapy and radiotherapy. It may also cause side effects such as movement disorders of the extrapyramidal system [2]. MCP has a peripheral effect in accelerating gastric emptying and a central effect in reducing nausea and vomiting. MCP acts as a dopamine 2 and serotonin (5HT-3) receptor antagonist. It acts by blocking the dopamine receptor and stimulating the acetylcholine receptors in the stomach muscles [3]. MCP is widely used as a motility agent due to its contractile effects on gastrointestinal (GI) smooth muscle. MCP is widely used as an antiemetic agent, especially in patients receiving chemotherapy. Cholinergic reactions on smooth muscles are dominant in the periphery [4]. Its main antiemetic effect is through central dopaminergic antagonism [4].

This agent also has important effects on the urinary system. The effects of MCP on detrusor smooth muscle were studied using a canine model. Data from this animal model have been demonstrated by metoclopramide, a decrease in bladder capacity, an increase in

Received: May 31, 2021; Accepted: February 6, 2022; Published Online: April 1, 2022



How to cite this article: Ercan Z, Zorlu G, Bulmus O, Serhatlioglu I, Yasar A, Kacar E. Effect of metaclopramide on urinary bladder smooth muscle contraction-relaxation mechanism. Eur Res J 2022;8(4):536-540. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.945752

Address for correspondence: Zubeyde Ercan, MD., Assistant Professor, Firat University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Elazig, Turkey. E-mail: zubeydeercan@firat.edu.tr, Phone: +90 424 237 00 00 ext.8295, Fax: +90 424 237 91 38

[©]Copyright [©] 2022 by Prusa Medical Publishing Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj detrusor micturition pressure, and a decrease in postvoid residual volume [5]. Since urethral relaxation is an important factor in vesical micturition, the effect of metoclopramide on urethral pressure has also been studied and it has been shown to reduce urethral closing pressure [6]. One of the most common cases of emesis is urinary tract infections. In this case, the most preferred anti-emetic drug is MCP. Although it is frequently used in urinary system infections, its effectiveness on bladder activation is unknown. Therefore, in this study, it was aimed to investigate the effects of MCP on the contraction-relaxation of the bladder smooth muscle.

METHODS

Animals

In the study, 8 intact female Wistar rats, weighing 180-200 g, obtained from F1rat University Experimental Research Center were used. Rats were kept in plastic cages at 21°C room temperature, 12 hours light and 12 hours dark period. They were fed with tap water in glass bottles and special rat food in the form of pellets.

In Vitro Bladder Contraction Test

The rats decapitated on the day of the experiment and pelvic cavities were opened by cutting from the midline. The bladder tissues were rapidly excised and carefully separated from the surrounding tissues. The sections obtained from the bladder were opened by cutting vertically. Strips of 1.5×5 mm were obtained from the bladder tissue and placed in an organ bath pre-filled with crebs solution given the electrolyte composition: (118 mM NaCl, 4.7 mM KCl, 1.2 mM MgSO4, 15.8 mM NaHCO3, 1.18 mM KH2PO4, 11.5 mM glucose and 2.4 mM CaCl2, 0.016 mM EDTA). The temperature of the organ bath was kept at 37 °C. 95% O2 and 5% CO2 were continuously supplied to the bath solution. Each bladder strip was placed in the organ bath under the optimum resting force of 1.5 g and allowed to equilibrate for 90 minutes prior to drug administration.

Spontaneous contractions were obtained depending on the tension. The strain level in the suspended sections below 1.5 g remained constant throughout the experimental period. During this time, the bladder strips were washed every 15 minutes with fresh physiological solution. Each experiment was repeated using fresh bladder strips from different rats. The contractile forces were recorded isometrically using a force transducer connected to an amplifier and then to the data acquisition system. After the regulation period, 2 separate doses of MCP at concentrations of 10 μ M and 20 μ M were administered non-cumulatively. The effects of MCP on spontaneous bladder contractions were measured by changes in mean peak to peak (p-p) and area under the contraction curve (AUC). During the control period, contraction activity (mean p-p and AUC) was taken as 100%. AUC and p-p values of contractions before and after the application were normalized as % change.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis of the data were evaluated using the Paired T test in the SPSS 22.0 program. All values were determined as mean \pm standard deviation (mean \pm SD). For all analysis, p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

MCP caused a statistically significant increase in p-p and AUC values of spontaneous bladder contractions at 10 and 20 μ M doses (Figs.1 and 2). After the 10 μ M dose was applied, the p-p values of contractions were calculated as 288 ± 134 and AUC values as 248 ± 94. The p-p values of contractions after MCP applied at 20 μ M concentrations were calculated as 236 ± 90 and AUC values as 243 ± 126. It was observed that the pp (p = 0.005 and p = 0.004) and AUC values significantly increased (p = 0.003 and p = 0.01) compared to the pre-administration values of MCP applied at concentrations of 10 and 20 μ M. The original traces obtained at 10 and 20 μ M doses in isolated organ bath are shown in Figs. 3 and 4, respectively.

DISCUSSION

MCP has an activator effect on spontaneous bladder contractions. In the study, it was shown that after MCP was applied to the bladder sections showing spontaneous contraction, there was a significant increase in the p-p and AUC values of contractions. MCP has



Fig. 1. Effects of metoclopramide on AUC measurements in bladder contractions. * p < 0.001.



Fig. 2. Effects of metoclopramide on peak-to-peak (p-p) measurements in bladder contractions. * p < 0.001.







Fig. 4. Original trace obtained when 20 µM dose of metoclopramide was administered in isolated organ bath.

proven useful as a motility agent due to its ability to induce smooth muscle contraction in the gastrointestinal tract. Previous research had characterized the contractile effects on various parts of the urinary tract. In a study, the effect of MCP on detrusor smooth muscle was investigated using an in-vitro guinea pig bladder strip model. In the study, the effects of MCP were compared with those obtained in combination with atropine and acetylcholine.

MCP has been shown to exhibit inhibitory activity on guinea pig detrusor strips at low doses and stimulatory activity at higher doses. Acetylcholine has been observed to attenuate the contraction effect at low doses, but increase this effect at higher doses. Atropine reduces the contraction effect of MCP but increases the relaxation effect. Analysis of these interactions shows that MCP exerts a direct effect on bladder smooth muscle [7]. Nestler *et al.* [8] published a case report showing improvement in bladder function with spontaneous micturition after treatment with MCP in a diabetic man who needed intermittent catheterization with diabetic gastroparesis.

Reports on the possible effects of MCP treatment on the urinary tract are limited. In a clinical study conducted in ten patients with chronic neurological disorders, Vaidyanathan *et al.* [9] noted that administration of MCP in one third of these patients showed a return of detrusor reflex activity within minutes. However, the effects of MCP, a commonly used agent in lower urinary tract infections, on the bladder contraction relaxation mechanism are unknown. Therefore, in our study, we examined the possible effects of MCP on bladder contractions and found that MCP has an activator effect on bladder contractions. It can be said that this effect may be effective in reversing bladder smooth muscle reflex activity in patients with various chronic nervous system disorders characterized by a clinically seen neurogenic bladder.

CONCLUSION

It is clear that an effective and safe agent in the medical treatment of neurogenic bladder will have significant benefits in treatment. In this study, it is thought that MCP is effective in inducing bladder contractions and may have beneficial effects in such patients. This effect should be taken into account in clinical use.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: ZE, GZ, OB, IS, AY, EK; Study Design: ZE, GZ, OB, IS, AY, EK; Supervision: ZE, GZ, OB, IS, AY, EK; Funding: N/A; Materials: GZ, OB, IS, AY; Data Collection and/or Processing: ZE, EK, GZ, IS; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: ZE, IS, OB, EK; Literature Review: ZE, EK; Manuscript Preparation: ZE, EK and Critical Review: ZE, IS, OB, AY, GZ, EK.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

 Ponte CD, Nappi JM. Review of a new gastrointestinal drugmetoclopramide. Am J Hosp Pharm 1981;38:829-33.
DiPalma J. Metoclopramide: a dopamine receptor antagonist. Am Fam Physician 1990;41:919-24.

3. van der Padt A, van Schaik RH, Sonneveld P. Acute dystonic reaction to metoclopramide in patients carrying homozygous cy-tochrome P450 2D6 genetic polymorphisms. Neth J Med 2006;64:160-2.

4. Kohli-Kumar M, Pearson ADJ, Sharkey I, Craft AW. Urinary retention-an unusual dystonic reaction to continuous metoclopramide infusion. DICP 1991;25:469-70.

5. Mitchell WC, Venable DD. Effects of metoclopramide on detrusor function. J Urol 1985;134:791-4.

6. Robain G, Combrisson H, Perrigot M. Effects of metoclo-

pramide on urethral pressure profile of healthy dogs. J Urol 1995;154:1545-7.

7. Little W, Bissada N, Fredericks C, Finkbeiner A. In vitro action of metoclopramide on guinea pig bladder. Afr J Urol 1998;4:12-9.

8. Nestler JE, Stratton MA, Hakim CA. Effect of metoclopramide on diabetic neurogenic bladder. Clin Pharm 1983;2:83-5.

9. Vaidyanathan S, Rao M, Bapna B, Chary K, Swamy R. Role of dopamine receptors in vesicourethral function. A urodynamic study with dopamine receptor antagonist metoclopramide. Ann Clin Res 1980;12:1-4.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.1091928

Cardiovascular Surgery

Cardiovascular diseases and diabetes mellitus

Şenol Yavuz¹⁽⁶⁾, Ahmet Kağan As²⁽⁶⁾, Mesut Engin²⁽⁶⁾, Nizameddin Koca³⁽⁶⁾, Soner Cander⁴⁽⁶⁾

¹Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Faculty of Medicine, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey; ²Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey; ³Department of Internal Medicine, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Faculty of Medicine, Bursa City Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey; ⁴Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Bursa Uludağ University School of Medicine, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Cardiovascular diseases are among the leading causes of death worldwide. Atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases consist of a broad spectrum of diseases such as coronary artery disease, carotid artery disease, peripheral artery diseases, cerebral vascular diseases and visceral artery diseases. Although atherosclerosis occurs over time due to age; hypertension, hyperlipidemia, smoking, and diabetes mellitus are important factors that play a role in the emergence of atherosclerosis. Diabetes mellitus has an active role in the development of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. It is expected that there will be a significant increase in the incidence of diabetes-related cardiovascular diseases in the future. In this review, it is aimed to review the coexistence of diabetes with different cardiovascular diseases and its menanisms.

Keywords: Diabetes mellitus, hyperglisemia, heart, vascular disease

Cardiovascular diseases are among the leading causes of death worldwide. More than 30% of deaths worldwide are of cardiovascular origin. The main factor in these deaths is atherosclerosis. Atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases consist of a broad spectrum of diseases such as coronary artery disease, carotid artery disease, peripheral artery diseases, cerebral vascular diseases and visceral artery diseases [1, 2]. Since atherosclerosis is a systemic disease, it usually affects more than one system. Although atherosclerosis occurs over time due to age, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, smoking, and diabetes mellitus (DM) are important factors that play a role in the emergence of atherosclerosis.

DM has an active role in the development of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. It is reported that by 2025, approximately 380 million people worldwide will have type 2 DM [3]. Thus, there will be a significant increase in the incidence of diabetes-related cardiovascular diseases.

In this review, it is aimed to review the coexistence of diabetes with different cardiovascular diseases and its mechanisms.

The Relationship Between Diabetes Mellitus and Vascular Diseases

The relationship between hyperglycemia and vascular diseases has a complex structure. Hyperglycemia causes Nuclear Factor-Kappa B (NF-KB) activation. NF-KB is a key mediator that regulates proinflammatory and proatherosclerotic target genes in endothelium, vascular smooth muscle cells and macrophages. This activation is known to increase oxidative stress. Hyperglycemia also causes a decrease in nitric oxide synthesis in platelets and an increase in free radical formation. In addition, it has been shown in experi-

Received: March 22, 2022; Accepted: June 23, 2022; Published Online: July 4, 2022



How to cite this article: Yavuz S, As AK, Engin M, Koca N, Cander S. Cardiovascular diseases and diabetes mellitus. Eur Res J 2022;8(4):541-549. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.1091928

Address for correspondence: Şenol Yavuz, MD., Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Faculty of Medicine, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training
and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Mimar Sinan Mah., Emniyet Cad., Polis Okulu Karşısı, 16310, Yıldırım, Bursa, Turkey.
E-mail: dr.syavuz@hotmail.com

[©]Copyright © 2022 by Prusa Medical Publishing Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj mental studies that with an increase in plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 level, it causes a decrease in fibrinolysis, plaque instability and dysfunctional arterial remodeling [2].

Effect of Diabetes Mellitus on Cardiovascular Risk Factors

Dyslipidemia plays an important role in the pathogenesis and progression of cardiovascular diseases. The essential feature of the lipid disorder in patients with DM is the presence of high plasma triglyceride levels, decreased high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) concentration, and increased concentration of small-density low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) particles in patients. This occurs due to increased plasma free fatty acid ratios due to increased insulin resistance [4].

In the presence of adequate glycogen stores in the liver, high free fatty acid values stimulate triglyceride production. Failure to provide "up" regulation of Apolipoprotein A-I (ApoA-I) production due to insulin resistance contributes to the formation of decreased HDL-C levels. Tumor Necrosis Factor- α (TNF- α) plays a role in insulin resistance in obese patients and leads to a decrease in HDL-C. Apart from these, many key enzymes that affect HDL-C metabolism undergo changes in patients with insulin resistance results in decreased conversion of lipoprotein lipase to hepatic lipase, which contributes to HDL-C reduction. While



Fig. 1. Pathophysiological mechanisms leading to atherosclerotic vascular disease in Type 2 diabetes mellitus. AP-1 = Activator protein 1, AT II = Angiotensin II, ET-1 =: Endothelin-1, ICAM = Intercellular adhesion molecule, MCP = Monocyte chemoattractant protein, NF- $\kappa\beta$ = Nuclear factor- $\kappa\beta$, NO = Nitric oxide, PAI-1 = Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1, TF = Tissue factor.

insulin resistance does not cause an increase or no change in cholesterol esterification provided by cholesterol acyltransferase, it causes an increase in Cholesteryl Ester Transfer Protein (CETP) activity. CETP activity causes a decrease in HDL-C esters [5].

Hypertension is an important risk factor that can develop in patients with DM. The most well-known feature of DM is the deterioration of the autonomic balance in the form of a significant decrease in parasympathetic tone and a relative increase in sympathetic tone. In particular, an increase in sympathetic tone occurs in cerebral centers that provide autonomic control due to high blood sugar [6]. This increase in tone in diabetic patients affects cardiac and vascular functions and leads to hypertension [7]. The mechanism of atherogenesis due to DM is shown in Fig. 1 [8, 9].

Diabetes Mellitus and Coronary Artery Disease

Atherosclerosis, which develops due to diabetes, affects the coronary arteries and leads to the formation of coronary artery disease (CAD). In diabetic patients, atheroscleroticprocess progresses, nitric oxide release decreases, inflammation and platelet activation increase, leading to coronary events [10]. In a study in which data were collected from 52 countries, it was revealed that the presence of DM increased the risk of CAD by 10% [11]. In addition, the prevalence of hypertension and hyperlipidemia, which are known as risk factors for CAD, has been reported up to 70% in patients with DM [12]. In the WHO study on Prevention of REcurrences of Myocardial Infarction and StrokE (WHO-PREMISE), patients from 10 countries were examined and the prevalence of DM was found to be 31.5% [13].

In addition to causing CAD, diabetes also affects mortality and long-term prognosis after myocardial infarction [14]. In fact, the presence of DM in patients with CAD also affects treatment strategies. Although percutaneous coronary interventions (PCIs) have come to the forefront today, the presence of DM highlights coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) surgery as a treatment option, especially in multi-vessel patients. In a study conducted in this direction, the results of PCI (n =1.556) and CABG (n =1.281) in patients with DM with impaired left ventricular function were compared. At 5-year follow-up after treatment, major adverse cardiovascular and cerebral event development rates were approximately twice as high in the PCI group [15].

Apart from this, long-term patency after coronary stent procedure in CAD patients is very important in terms of both patient comfort and treatment costs. Mechanisms similar to atherosclerosis play a very important role in the obstruction here. In a study involving 18,910 patients who underwent coronary stenting, they were divided into two groups as those with DM (n =5123) and those without (n =13.787). At the end of the study, the risk of late-stage stent thrombosis was found to be significantly higher in patients with DM (odds ratio [OR]: 1.95, 95%confidence interval [CI] 1.35-2.81; p=0.0004, I2=0%) [16]. Similarly longterm graft patency rates decrease after CABG surgery in patients with DM [17].

Diabetes Mellitus and Heart Failure

Although ischemic heart diseases are an important cause of heart failure, DM is an independent risk factor for the development of heart failure. The reason here is "diabetic cardiomyopathy", which is caused by diabetes by causing damage to cardiac myocytes. The term "diabetic cardiomyopathy" was coined after histopathological examination of the heart structures of four heart failure patients who died without initial CAD [18]. In conclusion, cardiomyopathy in patients with DM was evaluated in relation to hyperinsulinemia, autonomic neuropathy, activation of the renin-angiotensin system and microvascular ischemia.

In these patients, heart failure usually develops due to diastolic dysfunction and systolic functions may be normal. Studies using tissue flow Doppler methods in diabetic patients have found 40-75% of diastolic dysfunction without CAD [19]. In a follow-up study of 150,000 diabetic patients, the study baseline heart failure rate was 22.3%. In the following years, its annual incidence was determined as 12.6%. Dyslipidemia, insulin use, microalbuminuria, and poor glycemic control, especially the age of the patient and diabetes, have been shown as risk factors for the development of heart failure [20]. It has also been found that left ventricular hypertrophy can occur without hypertension in diabetic patients [21].

Techniques such as heart transplantation, heart support devices and artificial heart can be used in the treatment of advanced heart failure. The presence of DM may also affect the results of these treatments. In a retrospective study involving 341 heart failure patients, the effect of DM on clinical outcomes after left ventricular assist device application was investigated. The patients were followed for an average of 16.1 months, and DM was found to be associated with allcause mortality (hazard ratio [HR]: 1.73; 95% CI 1.18-2.53; p=0.005). In addition, complications such as device-related thrombosis and pump infection were found to be associated with DM (HR: 2.1; 95% CI 1.35-3.18; p=0.001). At the end of their study, the authors emphasized that despite optimal post-operative blood glucose regulation, all-cause mortality increased after left ventricular assist device operation in DM patients [22].

Diabetes Mellitus and Atrial Fibrillation

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is the most common cardiac arrhythmia in the population and increases cardiovascular mortality and morbidity [23]. The Framingham Heart study demonstrated that the presence of DM and poor glycemic control are characterized by new-onset AF [24]. It is known that diabetes increases interstitial fibrosis in atrial structures. As a result of obesity-related DM, lipomatous metaplasia develops in the heart and this process ends with fibrosis [25]. Angiotensin II, transforming growth factor- β $(TGF-\beta)$ signaling and reactive-oxygen species levels increase due to hyperglycemia in diabetic patients. All these substances have cardiac fibrosis stimulating effects [26]. Another factor causing atrial fibrosis is adipokines (Leptin and adiponectin) secreted from epicardial adipose tissue. Angiotensin II increases leptin secretion from wild-type atrial fibroblasts, and leptin triggers TGF-β signaling. Thus, cardiac fibrosis occurs [27]. In addition, the relationship between AF and adiponectin, which has anti-inflammatory and insulinsensitizing effects, is not clear. Decreased adiponectin levels are associated with increased obesity [28]. However, interestingly, higher circulating adiponectin levels have been associated with increased rates of AF [29].

In addition to being an important factor that increases the incidence of AF in the normal population, DM also affects AF recurrences after treatment. The effect of DM on AF recurrence was investigated in 531 consecutive patients with AF who underwent cryoablation. At the end of the study, the authors identified the presence of DM as an independent predictor for the development of AF recurrence [30]. In addition, the incidence of newly emerging AF after surgical operations is affected by the presence of DM [31-34].

Diabetes Mellitus and Carotid Artery Disease

Carotid artery disease is the most important risk factor for stroke in diabetic patients. In patients with carotid artery stenosis (CAS), distal embolisms from plaque are the most important cause of ischemic stroke. In anatomical studies, it has been shown that diabetes leads to a more unstable and vulnerable structure in the carotid artery plaque structure [35]. The pathogenesis of CAS in diabetic patients is based on insulin resistance, obesity, hyperlipidemia and hypertension.

Carotid intima-media thickness is an important predisposing indicator for CAS and cerebrovascular events. Studies have shown that this thickness is increased in diabetic patients compared to non-diabetic patients. In addition, it has been shown that high blood sugar values in diabetic patients are an important factor for intima-media thickness [36].

In addition to affecting the development of CAS, DM also affects clinical outcomes after CAS treatment, as in other vascular diseases. The results of patients with CAS over 70% who were given the best medical treatment and who underwent carotid endarterectomy with this treatment were compared. During this period, the patients were followed up for an average of 60.7±37.5 months. In this study, the presence of DM increased the risk of stroke in both groups, but it also affected restenosis rates in patients who underwent surgery [37]. A meta-analysis including 18 studies and 17,106 patients also showed that the rates of restenosis after surgical carotid revascularization are increased in patients with DM [38]. In another study involving a large cohort of patients who underwent carotid artery stenting, post-procedure stroke and mortality were also found to be higher in patients with DM [39].

Diabetes Mellitus and Peripheral Artery Disease

The clinical condition that occurs when atherosclerosis especially affects the peripheral vessels of the lower extremities is known as Peripheral Arterial Disease (PAD). Less commonly, upper extremity arteries may also be affected. PAD is an important cause of mortality as well as creating an important morbid condition by causing extremity loss. Although PAD occurring in diabetic patients is similar to the normal population, it mostly affects the distal vascular structures [40]. In the Rochester study, the rate of PAD was found to be 15% in 10 years after the diagnosis of DM, and 45% after 20 years [41].

DM negatively affects the development of PAD as well as post-treatment outcomes. In the study in which the revascularization results of 26,799 PAD patients from the Veterans Affairs data set were investigated, 59.9% of the patients had DM. At the end of the study, it was shown that patients with DM and patients with poor blood glucose control had significantly more poor clinical outcomes [42].

Approximately 100,000 major leg amputations are performed each year in the United States, half of which are due to DM and PAD. In patients with critical leg ischemia, the DM rate is given in the range of 27-76%. The coexistence of DM and PAD can increase amputation rates up to 4 times [43, 44].

Ulcers occurring on the feet due to DM is a clinical condition characterized by motor-sensory loss and impaired wound healing, which poses a risk of amputation. PAD accompanies 50% of this patient group [45]. In addition, a 1-year mortality rate was reported as 40.4% in patients undergoing amputation due to critical limb ischemia [46]. The severity of the situation becomes evident when it is considered that the 5-year mortality is 10% in breast cancer patients, 35% in colon cancer and 50% in myeloma [47].

Diabetic Foot

About one-quarter of patients with DM develop diabetic foot once in their lifetime [48]. This condition occurs with the combination of peripheral neuropathy and arteriopathy due to uncontrolled blood sugar. Depending on the loss of sensitivity due to neuropathy, there may be uncontrolled contacts with external surfaces. As a result of peripheral arteriopathy accompanying this condition, healing is impaired and infection may be added to it [49] (Fig. 2). It also plays a role in Charcot arthropathy, which includes progressive destruction of bones, joints and soft tissues, especially the feet, in diabetic patients [50]. All these situations lead to serious socioeconomic problems.

In these patients, glycemic control should be done well in order to prevent the progression of peripheral neuropathy. Close dialogue should be established in order to achieve target hemoglobin (HbA1c) values in patients [51]. A Cochrane review analysis of 11 randomized controlled trials showed that educating patients on this issue may reduce the risk of diabetic foot [52]. Footwear is also one of the important factors that play a role in the development of diabetic foot. Tight clothing, which is uncomfortable for the feet, may cause foot wounds, as well as a predisposing factor for fungal infections [53].

Diabetes Mellitus and Aortic Aneurysm

Although DM is known to increase cardiovascular diseases, it is negatively associated with the develop-



Fig. 2. Imaging of the diabetic foot.



Fig. 3. Potential mechanisms by which diabetes mellitus protects against abdominal aortic aneurysm development and progression. DPP4 = dipeptidyl peptidase-4, ECM = extracellular matrix; ILT = intraluminal thrombus, MMP = matrix metal-loproteinase, PAI = plasminogen activator inhibitor, TZD = thiazolidinedione.

ment of abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA). Although patients with DM have increased arterial calcifications compared to patients without DM, this is not sufficient to explain the reduced aortic dilatation in patients with DM [54, 55]. The explanation of this inverse relationship is basically made in four biological ways. These basic pathways can be listed as follows (Fig. 3) [56]: (1) Extracellular matrix volume, (2) Extracellular matrix glycation and advanced glycation end-product formation, (3) Inflammation and oxidative stress, and (4) Intraluminal thrombus biology.

CONCLUSION

2019 European Society of Cardiology (ESC) Guideline Recommendations for Diabetes Mellitus and Cardiovascular Diseases [57]

(1) DM increases approximately three-fold risk of developing cardiovascular disease. This risk increases with the duration of diabetes and comorbidities (Other previous vascular disease, kidney disease, etc.).

(2) Despite all medical, interventional and surgical treatments for cardiovascular diseases, the prognosis

in patients with DM is worse than those without DM. This situation defined as residual risk.

(3) Fasting blood glucose and HbA1c values should be measured in patients presenting with signs of cardiovascular disease and the patient should be examined for DM. If results cannot be obtained with these evaluations, an oral glucose tolerance test should be used.

(4) In patients with DM, management of blood glucose, blood pressure, blood lipids and antiplatelet therapy should be done carefully. This treatment should be planned appropriately for each patient.

(5) Since cardiovascular risk management in patients with DM is complex and difficult, new algorithms should be developed for treatment decisions.

(6) Blood pressure targets should be updated in patients with DM.

(7) LDL-C target should be set below 55 mg/dL in very high risk patient groups, with the use of proproteinconvertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 inhibitors if unachievable with intensive statin therapy plus ezetimibe.

(8) Aspirin therapy should be considered in high and very high risk patient groups. In addition to aspirin

Yavuz et al

therapy, low-dose novel oral anticoagulant therapy may be considered in patients with coronary syndrome or peripheral artery disease.

(9) The new glucose lowering agents, sodium-glucose co-transporter-2 inhibitors and Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonistsare recommended as firstline therapy in type 2 DM with established cardiovascular disease or high/ very high cardiovascular risk.

(10) Ideas should be generated about DM!

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: ŞY, AKA, ME; Study Design: ŞY, AKA, ME; Supervision: ŞY, ME, NK, SC; Funding: ŞY, AKA, ME; Materials: ŞY, AKA, ME; Data Collection and/or Processing: ŞY, AKA, ME; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: ŞY, ME, NK, SC; Literature Review: ŞY, ME, NK, SC; Manuscript Preparation: ŞY, ME, NK, SC and Critical Review: ŞY, ME, NK, SC.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Lloyd-Jones D, Adams R, Carnethon M, De Simone G, Ferguson TB, Flegal K, et al. American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. Heart disease and stroke statistics-2009 update: a report from the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. Circulation 2009;119:e21-181.

2. Plutzky J. Macrovascular effects and safety issues of therapies for type 2 diabetes. Am J Cardiol 2011;108(3 Suppl):25B-32B.

3. Shah AD, Langenberg C, Rapsomaniki E, Denaxas S, Pujades-Rodriguez M, Gale CP, et al. Type 2 diabetes and incidence of cardiovascular diseases: a cohort study in 1.9 million people. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2015;3:105-13.

4. Mooradian AD, Albert SG, Haas MJ. Low serum high-density lipoprotein cholesterol in obese subjects with normal serum triglycerides: the role of insulin resistance and inflammatory cytokines. Diabetes Obes Metab 2007;9:441-3.

5. Dullaart RP, De Vries R, Scheek L, Borggreve SE, Van Gent T, Dallinga-Thie GM, et al. Type 2 diabetes mellitus is associated with differential effects on plasma cholesteryl ester transfer protein and phospholipid transfer protein activities and concentra-

tions. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 2004;64:205-15.

6. Landsberg L, Young JB. Insulin-mediated glucose metabolism in the relationship between dietary intake and sympathetic nervous system activity. Int J Obes 1985;9:63-8.

7. Young LH, Russell RR, Chyun D, Ramahi T. Heart failure in diabetic patients. In: Johnstone MT and Veves A (eds). Diabetes and Cardiovascular Disease, Humana Pres: Totowa, NJ; 2001:pp.281-97.

8. Creager M, Luscher T, Cosentino F, Beckman J. Diabetes and vascular disease: pathophysiology, clinical consequences, and medical therapy: part I. Circulation 2003;108:1527-32.

9. Henning RJ. Type-2 diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease. Future Cardiol 2018;14:491-509.

10. Hu G, Jousilahti P, Qiao Q, Katoh S, Tuomilehto J. Sex differences in cardiovascular and total mortality among diabetic and non-diabetic individuals with or without history of myocardial infarction. Diabetologia 2005;48:856-61.

11. Smyth A, O'Donnell M, Yusuf S. Response by Smyth et al. to letters regarding article, "Physical activity and anger or emotional upset as triggers of acute myocardial infarction: the IN-TERHEART study". Circulation 2017;135:e644-5.

12. Preis SR, Pencina MJ, Hwang SJ, D'Agostino Sr RB, Savage PJ, Levy D, et al. Trends in cardiovascular disease risk factors in individuals with and without diabetes mellitus in the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation 2009;120:212-20.

13. Mendis S, Abegunde D, Yusuf S, Ebrahim S, Shaper G, Ghannem H, et al. WHO study on Prevention of REcurrences of Myocardial Infarction and StrokE (WHO-PREMISE). Bull World Health Organ 2005;83:820-9.

14. Donahoe SM, Stewart GC, McCabe CH, Mohanavelu S, Murphy SA, Cannonet CP, et al. Diabetes and mortality following acute coronary syndromes. JAMA 2007;298:765-75.

15. Nagendran J, Bozso SJ, Norris CM, McAlister FA, Appoo JJ, Moon MC, et al. Coronary artery bypass surgery improves outcomes in patients with diabetes and left ventricular dysfunction. J Am Coll Cardiol 2018;71:819-27.

16. Yuan J, Xu GM. Early and late stent thrombosis in patients with versus without diabetes mellitus following percutaneous coronary intervention with drug-eluting stents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Cardiovasc Drugs 2018;18:483-92.

17. Koshizaka, M, Lopes, RD, Reyes, EM. Long-term clinical and angiographic outcomes in patients with diabetes undergoing coronary artery bypass graft surgery: results from the project of Ex-vivo Vein graft engineering via transfection IV trial. Am Heart J 2015;169:175-84.

18. Rubler S, Dlugash J, Yuceoglu YZ, Kumral T, Branwood AW, Grishman A. New type of cardiomyopathy associated with diabetic glomerulosclerosis. Am J Cardiol 1972;30:595-602.

19. Stevens MJ, Dayanikli F, Raffel DM, Allman KC, Sandford T, Feldman EL, et al. Scintigraphic assessment of regionalized defects in myocardial sympathetic innervation and blood flow regulation in diabetic patients with autonomic neuropathy. J Am Coll Cardiol 1998;31:1575-84.

20. Fonarow GC, Stough WG, Abraham WT, Albert NM, Gheorghiade M, Greenberg BH, et al. Characteristics, treatments, and outcomes of patients with preserved systolic function hospitalized for heart failure: a report from the OPTIMIZE-HF Registry. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007;50:768-77.

21. Kannel WB, McGee DL. Diabetes and cardiovascular disease: the Framingham study. JAMA 1979;241:2035-8.

22. Asleh R, Briasoulis A, Schettle SD, Tchantchaleishvili V, Pereira NL, Edwards BS, et al. Impact of diabetes mellitus on outcomes in patients supported with left ventricular assist devices: a single institutional 9-year experience. Circ Heart Fail 2017;10:e004213.

23. Tatlı BT, Pala AA, Engin M, Taner T, Ata Y. Retrospective investigation of postoperative mid-term results of cryoablation and radiofrequency ablation methods used in atrial fibrillation surgery treatment. Eur Res J 2021;7:501-8.

24. Benjamin EJ, Levy D, Vaziri SM, D'Agostino RB, Belanger AJ, Wolf PA. Independent risk factors for atrial fibrillation in a population-based cohort. The Framingham Heart Study. JAMA 1994;271:840-4.

25. Samanta R, Pouliopoulos J, Thiagalingam A, Kovoor P. Role of adipose tissue in the pathogenesis of cardiac arrhythmias. Heart Rhythm 2016;13:311-20.

26. Fiaschi T, Magherini F, Gamberi T, Lucchese G, Faggian G, Modesti A, et al. Hyperglycemia and angiotensin II cooperate to enhance collagen I deposition by cardiac fibroblasts through a ROS-STAT3-dependent mechanism. Biochim Biophys Acta 2014;1843:2603-10.

27. Fukui A, Takahashi N, Nakada C, Masaki T, Kume O, Shinohara T, et al. Role of leptin signaling in the pathogenesis of angiotensin II-mediated atrial fibrosis and fibrillation. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2013;6:402-9.

28. Karmazyn M, Purdham DM, Rajapurohitam V, Zeidan A. Signalling mechanisms underlying the metabolic and other effects of adipokines on the heart. Cardiovasc Res 2008;79:279-86.

29. Macheret F, Bartz TM, Djousse L, Ix JH, Mukamal KJ, Zieman SJ, et al. Higher circulating adiponectin levels are associated with increased risk of atrial fibrillation in older adults. Heart 2015;101:1368-74.

30. Guckel D, Isgandarova K, Bergau L, Piran M, El Hamriti M, Imnadze G, et al. The effect of diabetes mellitus on the recurrence of atrial fibrillation after ablation. J Clin Med 2021;10:4863.

31. Engin M, Aydın C. Investigation of the effect of HATCH score and coronary artery disease complexity on atrial fibrillation after on-pump coronary artery bypass graft surgery. Med Princ Pract 2021;30:45-51.

32. Yavuz S, Engin M. Preoperative predictors of postoperative atrial fibrillation in patients undergoing cardiopulmonary bypass. J Card Surg 2022;37:1651-3.

33. Weymann A, Ali-Hasan-Al-Saegh S, Popov A-F, Sabashnikov A, Mirhosseini SJ, Liu T, et al. Hematologic indices as predictors of atrial fibrillation following isolated coronary artery bypass grafting, valvular surgery or combined procedures: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Kardiol Pol 2018;76:107-18.

34. AlTurki A, Marafi M, Proietti R, Cardinale D, Blackwell R, Dorian P, et al. Major adverse cardiovascular events associated with postoperative atrial fibrillation after noncardiac surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Circ Arrhythm Electro-physiol 2020;13:e007437.

35. Rajala U, Laakso M, Painvansalo M. Blood pressure and atherosclerotic plaques in carotid, aortic and femoral arteries in elderly Finns with diabetes mellitus and impaired glucose tolerance. J Hum Hypertension 2005;19: 85-91.

36. Henefeld M, Koehler C, Henkel E, Fuecker K, Schaper F, Temelkova-Kurtschiev T. Postchallenge hyperglycemia relates more strongly than fasting hy- perglycemia with carotid intimamedia thickness: the RIAD study. Diabetic Med 2000;17:835-40. 37. Lim S, Mora-Pinzon M, Park T, Yoon W, Crisostomo PR, Cho JS. Medical therapy does not confer stroke prevention for all patients: identification of high-risk patients with asymptomatic carotid stenosis is still needed. Int Angiol 2019;38:372-80.

38. Texakalidis P, Tzoumas A, Giannopoulos S, Jonnalagadda AK, Jabbour P, Rangel-Castilla L, et al. Risk factors for restenosis after carotid revascularization: a meta-analysis of hazard ratios. World Neurosurg 2019;125:414-24.

39. Rizwan M, Faateh M, Dakour-Aridi H, Nejim B, Alshwaily W, Malas MB. Statins reduce mortality and failure to rescue after carotid artery stenting. J Vasc Surg 2019;69:112-9.

40. Haltmayer M, Mueller T, Horvath W, Luft C, Poelz W, Haidinger D. Impact of atherosclerotic risk factors on the anatomical distribution of peripheral arterial disease. Int Angiol 2001;20:200-7.

41. Melton LJ III, Macken KM, Palumbo PJ, Elveback LR. Incidence and prevalence of clinical peripheral vascular disease in a population based cohort of diabetic patients. Diabetes Care 1980;3:650-4.

42. Arya S, Binney ZO, Khakharia A, Long CA, Brewster LP, Wilson PW, et al. High hemoglobin A1c associated with increased adverse limb events in peripheral arterial disease patients undergoing revascularization. J Vasc Surg 2018;67:217-228.e1. 43. Goldberg JB, Goodney PP, Cronenwett JL, Baker F. The ef-

fect of risk and race on lower extremity amputations among Medicare diabetic patients. J Vasc Surg 2012;56:1663-8.

44. Humphries MD, Brunson A, Li CS, Melnikow J, Romano PS. Amputation trends for patients with lower extremity ulcers due to diabetes and peripheral artery disease using statewide data. J Vasc Surg 2016;64:1747-55.e3.

45. Prompers L, Huijberts M, Apelqvist J, Jude E, Piaggesi A, Bakker K, et al. High prevalence of ischaemia, infection and serious comorbidity in patients with diabetic foot disease in Europe. Baseline results from the Eurodiale study. Diabetologia 2007;50:18-25.

46. Hirsch AT, Hartman L, Town RJ, Virnig BA. National health care costs of peripheral arterial disease in the Medicare population. Vasc Med 2008;13:209-15.

47. American Cancer Society. Cancer Facts & Statistics. American Cancer Society. http://cancerstatisticscenter.cancer.org/. Accessed November 3, 2019.

48. Armstrong DG, Boulton AJ, Bus SA. Diabetic foot ulcers and theirrecurrence. N Engl J Med 2017;376:2367-75.

49. Bhat S, Mary S, Giri AP, Kulkarni MJ. Advanced glycation end products in diabetic complications. In: Mechanisms of vascular defects in diabetes mellitus. Springer International,;2017: pp.423-49.

50. Frykberg RG, Belczyk R. Epidemiology of the Charcot foot. Clin Podiatr Med Surg 2008;25:17-28.

51. Pop-Busui R, Boulton AJM, Feldman EL, Bril V, Freeman R, Malik RA, et al. Diabetic neuropathy: a position statement by the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care 2017;40:136-54.

52. Dorresteijn JAN, Valk GD. Patient education for preventing diabetic foot ulceration. Diabetes Metab Res Rev 2012;28(Suppl 1):101-6.

53. Thomas J, Jacobson GA, Narkowicz CK, Peterson GM, Burnet H, Sharpe C. Toenail onychomycosis: an important global disease burden. J Clin Pharm Ther 2010;35:497-519.

54. Takagi H, Umemoto T. A contemporary meta-analysis of the association of diabetes with abdominal aortic aneurysm. Int Angiol 2015;34:375-82.

55. Hendy K, Gunnarsson R, Cronin O, Golledge J. Infra-renal abdominal aortic calcification volume does not predict small abdominal aortic aneurysm growth. Atherosclerosis 2015;243:334-8.

56. Dattani N, Sayers RD, Bown MJ. Diabetes mellitus and abdominal aortic aneurysms: a review of the mechanisms underlying the negative relationship. Diab Vasc Dis Res 2018;15:367-74. 57. Grant PJ, Cosentino F. The 2019 ESC Guidelines on diabetes, pre-diabetes, and cardiovascular diseases developed in collaboration with the EASD: New features and the 'Ten Commandments' of the 2019 Guidelines are discussed by Professor Peter J. Grant and Professor Francesco Cosentino, the Task Force chairmen. Eur Heart J 2019;40:3215-7.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.877207

Neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast: a case report and review of the literature

Kemal Eyvaz¹^o, Arsenal Sezgin Alikanoğlu²^o, Evrim Hamamcı Özak¹^o, Murat Kazım Kazan¹^o, Tuğrul Çakır¹^o

¹Department of General Surgery, University of Health Sciences, Antalya Training and Research Hospital, Antalya, Turkey; ²Department of Medical Pathology, University of Health Sciences, Antalya Training and Research Hospital, Antalya, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Neuroendocrine carcinoma (NEC) is a very rare condition among other types of invasive cancer of breast. Whole-body screening should be performed in order to detect any metastatic or primary disease localization. A 58-year-old patient admitted to hospital with palpable mass on the right retro areolar region and with bloody nipple discharge. Due to axillary positivity with a diagnosis of neuroendocrine carcinoma neoadjuvant chemotherapy was performed. The pathological stage was reported T2N2 with a 2 cm tumor and 5 of 11 lymph node positivity after modified radical mastectomy following neoadjuvant therapy. Tumor cells were stained with positive for neuroendocrine markers. She received adjuvant hormonal treatment with aromatase inhibitors and on regular follow-up with a free of disease to date. The neuroendocrine tumor of the breast is a diagnosis of exclusion. Primary or metastasis distinction is compulsory for the planning of appropriate treatment. There is still a debate on how neuroendocrine differentiation affects the clinical outcome. **Keywords:** Neuroendocrine carcinoma, breast cancer, immunohistochemistry

The term neuroendocrine tumor was first described by Cubilla *et al.* [1] in the late 70's which reports 'neurosecretory' granules were seen under electron microscopy. Neuroendocrine tumors (NET) arise from the neuroendocrine cells. The gastrointestinal tract and the lungs are the most commonly observed locations of neuroendocrine tumors [2]. Pure neuroendocrine tumors of breast are very rare among all types of breast cancer (0.1% of all breast cancers), but neuroendocrine cells can be detected much more in other types of breast cancers [3, 4]. Here we would like to present a 58-year-old patient's management of treatment and review of the literature with a diagnosis of a neuroendocrine differentiating tumor of the breast.

CASE PRESENTATION

A 58-year-old generally in good health condition woman was admitted to policlinic with a palpable mass on her right breast. The patient has only mild hypertension. A palpable 3×2 cm mass examined on the right upper retro areolar region. Ultrasonography and bilateral mammography performed. A BIRADS category 4c was reported by both sonographic and mammographic examination. Enlarged lymph nodes were detected in the axilla. A tru-cut biopsy was performed from the palpable mass under sonographic guidance. Pathology has resulted in a suspicious neuroendocrine tumor whether primary or metastatic. Immunohisto-

Received: February 13, 2021; Accepted: March 25, 2021; Published Online: January 25, 2022



How to cite this article: Eyvaz K, Alikanoğlu AS, Hamamcı Özak E, Kazan MK, Çakır T. Neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast: a case report and review of the literature. Eur Res J 2022;8(4):550-553. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.877207

Address for correspondence: Kemal Eyvaz, MD., University of Health Sciences, Antalya Training and Research Hospital, Department of General Surgery, Kazım Karabekir Cad., Varlık Mah., 07100 Muratpaşa, Antalya, Turkey. E-mail: drkemal07@gmail.com, Tel (Mobil): +90 506 388 31 60

Copyright © 2022 by Prusa Medical Publishing Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj



Fig. 1. Tumor as solid nests, H&E X40

chemical receptor status of the pathology was as follows: Estrogen receptor: (+), progesterone receptor (-), HER2 (human epidermal growth factor receptor): (-), Ki67 proliferation index: 40%. Fig. 1 shows tumor deposits as solid nests; positive synaptophysin and neuron-specific enolase staining of tumor cells were observed in Fig. 2 and Fig. 3, estrogen receptor expressivity was shown in Figure 4. Since primary NETs of the breast are very rare, systemic studies have been conducted for suspected primary focus or metastasis.



Fig. 2. Immunohistochemical positivitiy in the tumour cells, Synaptophysin, - Immunohistochemical staining X 100

There was no additional focus observed except axillary involvement. Due to the locally advanced stage, neoadjuvant chemotherapy was planned by the oncosurgical tumor board.

After neoadjuvant therapy control positron emission tomography revealed partial response and persistent axillary status. Modified radical mastectomy performed to avoid locoregional relapse. The final pathology result was invasive carcinoma of the breast with neuroendocrine differentiation. Five positive lymph nodes out of 15 were detected. Pathologic grade was T1N2Mx. Adjuvant hormonotherapy with aromatase inhibitors and taxane based treatment was given. She is still on regular follow-up at our clinic.

DISCUSSION

Neuroendocrine carcinoma (NEC) of the breast is a rare condition that represents 0.1 % of breast cancers and less than 1% of other neuroendocrine tumors. Mainly, neuroendocrine tumors observed in the gastrointestinal system and pulmonary system [3]. It was also reported in a retrospective study reported by Wang et al. [5] a total of more than 380 thousand invasive carcinomas of the breast only 142 of them were diagnosed as neuroendocrine carcinoma which refers to 0,1 % of invasive carcinoma of the breast, and also was observed relatively older ages (mean age was 64). NEC of breast could also be observed younger ages and among men [6, 7]. Palpable mass, bloody nipple discharge can be the s first signs observed on admission to hospital [7]. Almost there were no specific or pathognomonic sign presents in breast ultrasonography and mammography but Park et al. mentioned that some radiological characteristics such as high-density round, oval, or lobular noncalcified mass with nonspiculated margins suggest neuroendocrine tumor of the breast [8, 9]. Chromogranin and synaptophysin and neuron-specific enolase are known as specific immunohistochemical markers of neuroendocrine differentiation. They could be stained with argentaffin histochemically and neurosecretory granules of the tumor could be observed under electron microscopy. NEC diagnosis could be made whether these marker occupy more than 50% of tumor cells [10-12].

Estrogen receptor (ER) and progestron receptor (PR) positivity and human epidermal growth factor re-



Fig. 3. Immunohistochemical positivitiy in the tumour cells, Neuron Spesific Enolase (NSE)- Immunohistochemical staining X 200

ceptor 2 (HER-2) negativity mostly observed in neuroendocrine tumors of breast [13-15]. Positive ER status may not contribute positive prognostic benefit as it does in other types of invasive carcinomas of breast [5].

Ki 67 protein is a proliferation antigen, which is present in the different phases of the cell cycle and accepted as a poor prognostic factor and high Ki 67 index observed in poorly differentiated tumors [15,



Fig. 4. Immunohistochemical positivitiy in the tumour cells, Estrogen receptor (ER) – Immunohistochemical staining X 100

16]. Although neuroencocrine carcinoma is a rare condition observed in the breast, routine systemic workup should be performed to rule out any other primary or metastatic focus with positron emission tomography and bone scintigraphy [17, 18].

Surgical approach to neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast is not different in any other type of invasive carcinoma of breast. The location of the tumor and the clinical stage are the main determinants of the surgical procedure [19, 20]. Neo-adjuvant chemotherapy is indicated in case of locally advanced disease or malignity which is not suitable for surgery. Adjuvant therapy regimens including anthracyclines and/or taxanes, hormonal and HER-2 status should be evaluated for endocrine and anti HER-2 treatment [19].

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the neuroendocrine tumor of the breast is a diagnosis of exclusion. A biopsy followed by appropriate immunohistochemical staining could help for diagnosis. Primary or metastasis distinction is compulsory for the planning of appropriate treatment. There is still a debate on how neuroendocrine differentiation affects the clinical outcome.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: KG; Study Design: KG; Supervision: KG; Funding: KG; Materials: KG; Data Collection and/or Processing: KG; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: KG; Literature Review: KG; Manuscript Preparation: KG and Critical Review: KG.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

Informed Consent

Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for publication of this case and any accompanying images or data.

REFERENCES

1. Cubilla AL, Woodruff JM. Primary carcinoid tumor of breast: a report of eght patients. Am J Sur Pathol 1977;1:283-92.

2. Modlin IM, Lye KD, Kidd M. A 5-decade analysis of 13,715 carcinoid tumors. Cancer 2003;97:934-59.

3. Singh S, Aggarwal G, Kataria SP, Kalra R, Duhan A, Sen R. Primary neuroendocrine carcinoma of breast. J Cytol 2011;28:91-2.

4. Sapino A, Bussolati G. Is detection of endocrine cells in breast adenocarcinoma of diagnostic and clinical significance? Histopathology 2002;40:211-4.

5. Wang J, Wei B, Albarracin CT, Hu J, Abraham SC, Wu Y. Invasive neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast: a populationbased study from the surveillance, epidemiology and end results (SEER) database. BMC Cancer 2014;14:147.

6. Sapino A, Righi L, Cassoni P, Papotti M, Gugliotta P, Bussolati G. Expression of apocrine differentiation markers in neuroendocrine breast carcinomas of aged women. Mod Pathol 2001;14:768-76.

7. Righi L, Sapino A, Marchiò C, Papotti M, Bussolati G. Neuroendocrine differentiation in breast cancer: established facts and unresolved problems. Semin Diagn Pathol 2010;27:69-76.

8. Adams RF, Parulekar V, Hughes C, Kadour MJ, Talbot D. Radiologic characteristics and management of screen-detected metastatic carcinoid tumor of the breast: a case report. Clin Breast Cancer 2009;9:189-92.

9. Park YM, Wu Y, Wei W, Yang WT. Primary neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast: clinical, imaging, and histologic features. Am J Roentgenol 2014;203:W221-30.

10. Tang F, Wei B, Tian Z, Gilcrease MZ, Huo L, Albarracin CT, et al. Invasive mammary carcinoma with neuroendocrine differentiation: histological features and diagnostic challenges: histological features of mammary NEC. Histopathology 2011;59:106-15.

11. Gould VE, Lee I, Wiedenmann B, Moll R, Chejfec G, Franke WW. Synaptophysin: a novel marker for neurons, certain neu

roendocrine cells, and their neoplasms. Human Pathol 1986;17:979-83.

12. Tapia FJ, Barbosa AJA, Marangos PJ, Polak JM, Bloom SR, Dermody C, et al. Neuron-specific enolase is produced by neuroendocrine tumors. Lancet. 1981;317:808-11.

13. Mohanty SK, Kim SA, DeLair DF, Bose S, Laury AR, Chopra S, et al. Comparison of metastatic neuroendocrine neoplasms to the breast and primary invasive mammary carcinomas with neuroendocrine differentiation. Mod Pathol 2016;29:788-98.

14. Wei B, Ding T, Xing Y, Wei W, Tian Z, Tang F, et al. Invasive neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast: a distinctive subtype of aggressive mammary carcinoma. Cancer 2010;116:4463-73.

15. Wolff AC, Hammond MEH, Schwartz JN, Hagerty KL, Allred DC, Cote RJ, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists guideline recommendations for human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 testing in breast cancer. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2007;131:18-43.

16. La Rosa S, Capella C, Sessa F, Riva C, Leone BE, Klersy C, et al. Prognostic criteria in nonfunctioning pancreatic endocrine tumours. Vichows Archiv A Pathol Anat.1996;429:323-33.

17. Squires MH, Volkan Adsay N, Schuster DM, Russell MC, Cardona K, Delman KA, et al. Octreoscan versus FDG-PET for neuroendocrine tumor staging: a biological approach. Ann Surg Oncol 2015;22:2295-301.

18. Putzer D, Gabriel M, Henninger B, Kendler D, Uprimny C, Dobrozemsky G, et al. Bone metastases in patients with neuroendocrine tumor: 68Ga-DOTA-Tyr3-octreotide PET in comparison to CT and bone scintigraphy. J Nucl Med 2009;50:1214-21.

19. Irelli A, Sirufo MM, Morelli L, D'Ugo C, Ginaldi L, De Martinis M. Neuroendocrine cancer of the breast: a rare entity. J Clin Med 2020;9:1452.

20. Adams RW, Dyson P, Barthelmes L. Neuroendocrine breast tumours: breast cancer or neuroendocrine cancer presenting in the breast? Breast 2014;23:120-7.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.